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Unit 1 
__________________________________________________________________ 

INTRODUCTION TO CONTRACT LAW 
Part One  

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Thinking like  a Transactional Lawyer  
 

 Welcome to Contracts.  While a year ago you might have thought that a òtortó 

was a kind of fruity pastry, most students enter law school with some idea of what a 

contract is. If we asked you to close your eyes and imagine a contrac t, what would you 

see? Maybe you would  imagine an old , musty document like the one the dwarves 

persuaded Bilbo Baggins to sign in the movie , The Hobbit: An Unexpected Journey . 

You might think of  a stack of òclosingó papers signed by corporate executives 

completing a multi -billion dollar merger. Or maybe you  are reminded of an apartment 

lease, your internet service provider  agreement, or t hat document the plumber had 

you sign before fixing your  sink.  

 Promises the Law Will Enforce . As you will discover in th is course, a contract 

need not be a written document at all. 1 Oral contracts are not only enforceable but 

are in fact ubiquitous.  If there is a written document, is that piece of paper the 

contract? Or is it just evidence that a contract was made? And whatõs the difference 

between those concepts? If the contract is not necessarily the piece of paper, what is 

it? On second thought, are you confident that you know what a contract is? We had 

better fix t hat.  

 One common definition of a contract  is that it is (1) a promise  (or a set of 

promises) that  (2) the law  (3) will enforce .2 To òenforceó the contract means to 

compel the person making the promise (the òpromisoró) to either perform it or to pay 

damages for failing to do so. Enforcement by òthe lawó means that it will be done by 

duly authorized agencies of the government through the court system, 3 and not by 

                                            
 1 Except when, for certain reasons in certain cases, the law requires a writing. At this point 

you should start getting used to the idea that there are very few flat statements about contract law 

that do not have exceptions. And, sometimes, the exceptions h ave exceptions. 

 2 See, e.g., RESTATEMENT (SECOND ) OF CONTRACTS  § 1 (1981). 

 3 Actually, enforcement can be a little more complicated in that it isnõt only through the court 

system. Sometimes parties contractually agree to have a private arbitrator decide their dispute. 

Parties also sometimes have òself-helpó means of enforcement. We will frequently refer to what 

òcourtsó and òthe court systemó do with regard to contracts, but we donõt mean to exclude other players 

in a complex legal system. Weõve just read so many judicial opinions over the years that we sometimes 

canõt stop ourselves from talking about courts. (Note: We are only the first unit, and you already should 

be figuring out that almost every general statement about contract law requires qualificat ion. That, 
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hired Corleone family thugs 4 or angry mobs  with torches .5 The really complex part of 

this defini tion is what kind of promises  will the law enforce?  It is fair to say that 

perhaps half of the first -year Contracts course involve s aspects of this single 

questionñand professors will routinely complain that they do not have enough time 

to teach it as thor oughly as they like.  

 Contracts in Transactional Foresight . An old joke about the traditional law 

school Contracts course is that students could get through an entire casebook õs worth 

of material without seeing an actual contract. We donõt want that to happen to you. 

While the bulk of the course is necessarily made up of legal materials ñtypically 

statutes and cases from appellate courts ñthe contract is always central to the 

questions involved.  

 While much of the contract law you will learn in this course will come from 

cases, most parties donõt anticipate a lawsuit at the time they enter into an 

agreement. Transactional lawyers have gotten a rap , often unfairly , as being the 

people who say ònoó to a deal getting done. That is because t ransactional lawyering 

is forward -thinking. It requires understanding the known situation of the parties, but 

also considering the many potential unknown futures that might lie ahead. What 

happens if the deal doesnõt work out as wonderfully as the parties expect? The 

foresight of a good transactional lawyer can sometimes prevent a future conflict or 

else put the client in a better situation if a conflict does arise.  

 Transactional lawyers must thus deal with a contract in the absence of a legal 

case. We want you to do start the course by doing the same thing. Accordingly, our 

jumping -off point will be for you to read and consider the transactional agreement in 

this unit.  Along with that document, we have added some comment boxes to provide 

additional informa tion as you read. After the agreement, youõll find a series of 

Questions for Discussion  that you should (surprise!) be thoroughly prepared to 

discuss in class. After the questions , you will find  a Problem  that your professor may 

ask you work or even to tur n in.  If the goal of law school is to teach you how to òthink 

like a lawyer,ó then one of the many goals of this Contracts course is to teach you how 

to think like a transactional lawyer ñthat is, as someone who has the foresight and 

practical wisdom  to create and draft contracts, not merely to sue over them after they 

are broken . The questions and problem at the end of this unit are the beginning of 

our  process of learning how to think transactionally.  

 Without further ado, let us begin Contracts with a very formal -looking and 

lawyer -drafted  document entitled  òSurrogate Parenting Agreement.ó Read it through  

carefully . Note that it never once uses the term òcontract.ó Is it a contract ? 

                                            
for better or for worse, is part of how lawyers earn their keep. If this stuff were simple, everyone would 

do it.).  

 4 See generally THE GODFATHER  (Paramount Pictures 1972).  

 5 See, e.g., MARY SHELLEY , FRANKENSTEIN  (1818).  
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SURROGATE PARENTING AGREEMENT  

THIS AGREEMENT is made this 6th day of February, 

1985, by and between MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, a 

married woman (herein referred to as òSurrogateó), 

RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her husband (here in referred 

to as òHusbandó), and WILLIAM STERN, (herein 

referred to as òNatural Fatheró). 

RECITALS  

THIS AGREEMENT is made with reference to the 

following facts:   

 (1) WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, is an 

individual over the age of eighteen (18) years who is 

desirous of entering into this Agreement.  

 (2) The sole purpose of this Agreement is to enable WILLIAM STERN and his 

infertile wife to have a child which is biologically related to WILLIAM STERN.  

 (3) MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her 

husband, are over the age of eighteen (18) years and desirous of entering into this 

Agreement in consideration of the following:  

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the 

mutual promises contained herein and the intentions of 

being legally bound hereby, the parties agree as follows:  

 1. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, 

represents that she is capable of conceiving children.  MARY BETH WHITEHEAD 

understands and agrees that in the best interest of the child, she will not form or 

attempt to form a parent -child relationship with any  child or children she may 

conceive, carry to term and give birth to, pursuant to the provisions of this 

Agreement, and shall freely surrender custody to 

WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, immediately upon 

birth of the child; and terminate all parental rights to 

said child pursuant to this Agreement.  

 2. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and 

RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her husband, have been 

married since 12/2/73, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD is 

in agreement with the purposes, intents and provisions 

of this Agreement and acknowl edges that his wife, MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, 

Surrogate, shall be artificially inseminated pursuant to the provisions of this 

Agreement. RICHARD WHITEHEAD agrees that in the best interest of the child, he 

will not form or attempt to form a parent -child relatio nship with any child or children 

MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, may conceive by artificial insemination as 

The first paragraph in a contract 
is its preamble. Parties to a 
contract are usually identified in 
its preamble. 

Like most contractual recitals, the 
ǘƘǊŜŜ ǊŜŎƛǘŀƭǎ ƛƴ ǘƘƛǎ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ŘƻƴΩǘ 
state any functional terms of 
agreement. Recitals generally 
provide the background factual 
context for a contract. Why are they 
ƘŜǊŜ ƛŦ ǘƘŜȅ ŘƻƴΩǘ Ŏƻƴǘŀƛƴ 
operational provisions that bind the 
parties? 

This paragraph contains the words 
of agreement όƘŜǊŜΣ άǘƘŜ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎ 
ŀƎǊŜŜ ŀǎ Ŧƻƭƭƻǿǎέύ, so we should 
expect the actual, operative terms 
to follow after this paragraph. 

Detailed written contracts often 
include the central promises of a 
deal for each party in the first few 
paragraphs after the words of 
agreement. These are sometimes 
known as subject-matter 
performance provisions. These 
άŎƻǊŜέ provisions for this agreement 
are contained in paragraphs 1-4. 
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described herein, and agrees to freely and readily surrender immediate custody of the 

child to WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father; and terminate his pare ntal rights; 

RICHARD WHITEHEAD further acknowledges he will 

do all acts necessary to rebut the presumption of 

paternity of any offspring conceived and born pursuant 

to aforementioned agreement as provided by law, 

including blood testing and/or HLA testing.  

 3. WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, does hereby enter into this written 

contractual Agreement with MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, where MARY 

BETH WHITEHEAD shall be artificially inseminated with the semen of WILLIAM 

STERN by a physician.  MARY BETH WHITEHE AD, Surrogate, upon becoming 

pregnant, acknowledges that she will carry said embryo/fetus(s) until delivery. MARY 

BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her husband, agree 

that they will cooperate with any background investigation into the Surro gateõs 

medical, family and personal history and warrants the information to be accurate to 

the best of their knowledge. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and RICHARD 

WHITEHEAD, her husband, agree to surrender custody of the child to WILLIAM 

STERN, Natural Fa ther, immediately upon birth, acknowledging that it is the intent 

of this Agreement in the best interests of the child to do so; as well as institute and 

cooperate in proceedings to terminate their respective parental rights to said child, 

and sign any and  all necessary affidavits, documents, and the like, in order to further 

the intent and purposes of this Agreement. It is understood by MARY BETH 

WHITEHEAD, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD, that the child to be conceived is being 

done so for the sole purpose of givin g said child to WILLIAM STERN, its natural and 

biological father. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD and RICHARD WHITEHEAD agree to 

sign all necessary affidavits prior to and after the birth of the child and voluntarily 

participate in any paternity proceedings necessary to have WILLIAM STERNõS name 

entered on said childõs birth certificate as the natural or biological father. 

 4. That the consideration for this Agreem ent, 

which is compensation for services and expenses, and in 

no way is to be construed as a fee for termination of 

parental rights or a payment in exchange for a consent to surrender the child for 

adoption, in addition to other provisions contained herein,  shall be as follows:  

 (A) $10,000 shall be paid to MARY BETH 

WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, upon surrender of custody to 

WILLIAM STERN, the natural and biological father of 

the child born pursuant to the provisions of this 

Agreement for surrogate services and expenses in carrying out her obligations under 

this Agreement;  

 (B) The consideration to be paid to MARY BETH WHITE HEAD, Surrogate, 

shall be deposited with the Infertility Center of New York (hereinafter ICNY), the 

representative of WILLIAM STERN, at the time of the signing of this Agreement, 

The word consideration shows up a 
great deal in contract law. It may 
not mean what you think it means. 

Adjusted for inflation using the 
Consumer Price Index, $10,000 in 
1985 is worth $22,790.30 in 2017 
dollars. 

Held in escrow means that a non-
party will keep the money until 
certain specified conditions are met. 
Why might that be a good idea? 

Held in escrow means that a non-
party will keep the money until 
certain specified conditions are met. 
Why might that be a good idea in a 
transaction? 
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and held in escrow until completion of the duties and obligations of MARY BET H 

WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, (see Exhibit òAó for a copy of the Escrow Agreement), as 

herein described.  

 (C) WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, shall pay 

the expenses incurred by MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, 

Surrogate, pursuant to her pregnancy, more specifically 

defined as follows:  

 (1) All medical, hospitalization, and pharmaceutical, laboratory and therapy 

expenses incurred as a result of MARY BETH WHITEHEADõS pregnancy, not 

covered or allowed by her present health and major medical insurance, including all 

extraordinary medical exp enses and all reasonable expenses for treatment of any 

emotional or mental conditions or problems related to said pregnancy, but in no case 

shall any such expenses be paid or reimbursed after a period of six (6) months have 

elapsed since the date of the te rmination of the pregnancy, and this Agreement 

specifically excludes any expenses for lost wages or other non -itemized incidentals 

(see Exhibit  òBó) related to said pregnancy. 

 (2) WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, shall not 

be responsible for any latent medical expenses 

occurring six (6) weeks subsequent to the birth of the 

child, unless the medical problem or abnormality 

incident thereto was known and treated by a physician 

prior to the expiration of said six (6) week period and in 

written notice of the same sent to ICNY, as 

representative of WILLIAM STERN by certified mail, return receipt requested, 

advising of this treat ment.  

 (3) WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, shall be responsible for the total costs 

of all paternity testing. Such paternity testing may, at the option of WILLIAM 

STERN, Natural Father, be required prior to release of the surrogate fee from escrow.  

In the e vent WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, is conclusively determined not to be 

the biological father of the child as a result of an HLA test, this Agreement will be 

deemed breached and MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, shall not be entitled 

to any fee. WILLIAM STE RN, Natural Father, shall be entitled to reimbursement of 

all medical and related expenses from MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and 

RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her husband.  

 (4) MARY BETH WHITEHEADõS reasonable travel expenses incurred at the 

request of WILLIAM STE RN, pursuant to this Agreement.  

 5. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her 

husband, understand and agree to assume all risks, including the risk of death, which 

are incidental to conception, pregnancy, childbirth, including but not limi ted to, 

postpartum complications.  A copy of said possible risks and/or complications is 

attached hereto and made a part hereof (see Exhibit òCó). 

Held in escrow means that a non-
party will keep the money until 
certain specified conditions are met. 
Why might that be a good idea? 

In the interest of brevity, we have 
omitted the numerous Exhibits to 
the agreement. An exhibit is 
generally a standalone document 
that the parties want treated as part 
of the agreement. 
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 6. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her 

husband, hereby agree to undergo psychiatric ev aluation by JOAN EINWOHNER, a 

psychiatrist as designated by WILLIAM STERN or an agent  thereof. WILLIAM 

STERN shall pay for the cost of said psychiatric evaluation. MARY BETH 

WHITEHEAD and RICHARD WHITEHEAD shall sign, prior to their evaluations, a 

medical release permitting dissemination of the report prepared as a result of said 

psychiatric evaluations to ICNY or WILLIAM STERN and his wife.  

 7. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her 

husband, hereby agree that it is the exclusive and sol e right of WILLIAM STERN, 

Natural Father, to name said child.  

 8. òChildó as referred to in this Agreement shall include all children born 

simultaneously pursuant to the inseminations contemplated herein.  

 9. In the event of the death of WILLIAM STERN, pri or or subsequent to the 

birth of said child, it is hereby understood and agreed by MARY BETH 

WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, and RICHARD WHITEHEAD, her husband, that the child 

will be placed in the custody of WILLIAM STERNõS wife. 

 10. In the event that the child is  miscarried prior to the fifth (5th) month of 

pregnancy, no compensation, as enumerated in paragraph 4(A), shall be paid to 

MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate.  However, the expenses enumerated in 

paragraph 4(C) shall be paid or reimbursed to MARY BETH WHITEHEA D, 

Surrogate.  In the event the child is miscarried, dies or is stillborn subsequent to the 

fourth (4th) month of pregnancy and said child does not survive, the Surrogate shall 

receive $ 1,000.00 in lieu of the compensation enumerated in paragraph 4(A).  In the 

event of a miscarriage or stillbirth as described above, this Agreement shall terminate 

and neither MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, nor WILLIAM STERN, Natural 

Father, shall be under any further obligation under this Agreement.  

 11. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD,  Surrogate, and WILLIAM STERN, Natural 

Father, shall have undergone complete physical and genetic evaluation, under the 

direction and supervision of a licensed physician, to determine whether the physical 

health and well -being of each is satisfactory. Said  physical examination shall include 

testing for venereal diseases, specifically including but not limited to, syphilis, herpes 

and gonorrhea.  Said venereal diseases testing shall be done prior to, but not limited 

to, each series of inseminations.  

 12. In t he event that pregnancy has not occurred within a reasonable time, in 

the opinion of WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, this Agreement shall  terminate by 

written notice to MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, at the residence provided 

to the ICNY by the Surrogate, from ICNY, as representative of WILLIAM STERN, 

Natural Father.  

 13. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, agrees that she will not abort the 

children conceived except, if in the professional medical opinion of the inseminating 

physician, such action is necessary  for the physical health of MARY BETH 
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WHITEHEAD or the child has been determined by said physician to be 

physiologically abnormal.  MARY BETH WHITEHEAD further agrees, upon the 

request of said physician to undergo amniocentesis (see Exhibit òDó) or similar tests 

to detect genetic and congenital defects.  In the event said test reveals that the fetus 

is genetically or congenitally abnormal, MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, 

agrees to abort the fetus upon demand of WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, in 

which event, t he fee paid to the Surrogate will be in accordance to Paragraph 10.  If 

MARY BETH WHITEHEAD refuses to abort the fetus upon demand of WILLIAM 

STERN, his obligations as stated in this Agreement shall cease forthwith, except as 

to obligation of paternity impo sed by statute.  

 14. Despite the provisions of Paragraph 13, WILLIAM STERN, Natural 

Father, recognizes that some genetic and congenital abnormalities may not be 

detected by amniocentesis or other tests, and therefore, if proven to be the biological 

father of the child, assumes the legal responsibility for any child who may possess 

genetic or congenital abnormalities. (See Exhibits òEó and òFó). 

 15. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, further agrees to adhere to all 

medical instructions given to her by the inseminating physician as well as her 

independent obstetrician.  MARY BETH WHITEHEAD also agrees not to smoke 

cigarettes, drink alcoholic beverages, use illegal drugs, or take non -prescription 

medications or prescribed medications without written consent fr om her physician. 

MARY BETH WHITEHEAD agrees to follow a prenatal medical examination 

schedule to consist of no fewer visits th an: one visit per month during the first seven 

(7) months of pregnancy, two visits (each to occur at two -week intervals) during t he 

eighth and ninth month of pregnancy.  

 16. MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, Surrogate, agrees to cause RICHARD 

WHITEHEAD, her husband, to execute a refusal of consent form as annexed hereto 

as Exhibit òGó. 

 17. Each party acknowledges that he or she fully understand s this Agreement 

and its legal effect, and that they are signing the same freely and voluntarily and 

that neither party has any reason to believe that the other(s) did not freely and 

voluntarily execute said Agreement.  

 18. In the event any of the provisions of this Agreement are deemed to be 

invalid or un enforceable, the same shall be deemed severable from the remainder of 

this Agreement and shall not cause the invalidity or unenforceability of the 

remainder of this Agreement. If such provision shall be 

deemed invalid due to its scope or breadth, then said  

provision shall be deemed valid to the extent of the scope 

or breadth permitted by law.  

 19. The original of this Agreement, upon 

execution, shall be retained by the Infertility Center of 

New York, with photocopies being distributed to MARY BETH WHITEHEAD , 

Paragraph 18 is known as a 
severability clause. It appears in 
many contracts with the intent of 
ensuring that the contract will 
remain in force even if part of it 
turns out to be legally 
unenforceable. 
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Surrogate and WILLIAM STERN, Natural Father, having the same legal effect as 

the original.  

/s William Stern  

Natural Father  

Date 2/6/85 

 
STATE OF NEW YORK     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF NEW YORK   ) 

On the 6th day of February, 1985, before me personally came WILLIAM STERN, known to me, and to 

me known, to be the individual described in the foregoing instrument and he acknowledged to me that 

he executed the same as his free and voluntary act.  

/s Jane W. Doe 
Notary Public  

 

We have read the foregoing five pages of this A greement, and it is our collective 

intention by affixing our signatures below, to enter into a binding legal obligation.  

 

/s Mary Beth Whitehead  

Surrogate  

Date:  1-30-85 

 

/s Richard Whitehead , 

Surrogateõs Husband 

Date:  1-30-85 

 
 

STATE OF NEW YORK     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF NEW YORK   ) 

On the 6th day of February, 1985, before as personally came MARY BETH WHITEHEAD, known to 

me, and to me known to be the individual described in the foregoing instrument and she acknowledged 

to me that she  executed the same as her free and voluntary act.  

/s Richard Roe 
Notary Public  

 

STATE OF NEW YORK    ) SS: 

COUNTY OF NEW YORK )  

On the 6th day of February, 1985, before as personally came RICHARD WHITEHEAD, known to me, 

and to me known to be the individual described in the forego ing instrument and he acknowledged to 

me that he  executed the same me his free and voluntary act.  

/s Joseph Bloe 
Notary Public  

 

 
____________________ 

 

  

Each of thŜ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎΩ ǎƛƎƴŀǘǳǊŜǎ ƻƴ 
this agreement is accompanied by 
what is known as an 
acknowledgement in front of a 
notary public. An acknowledgement 
ƛǎƴΩǘ ŀ ƭŜƎŀƭ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘΣ ǎƻ ǿƘȅ 
would the parties put this in the 
document? 
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Questions for Discussion  
 

 1. This Surrogate Parenting Agreement certainly looks like a contract. Is 

it? Is there any difference between an òagreementó and a òcontractó? 

 

 2. This agreement includes three specific people as parties.  Why these 

three? Why is Richard Whitehead here, but not William  Sternõs wife (who is 

referenced, but never by name) ? You mig ht want to look at paragraph  2 as you think 

about this  question.  

 

 3. Re-read the words of agreement  paragraph. What does this 

paragraph state that one or more of the parties might argue about later?  

 

 4. You may somewhere have heard t he phrase freedom of contract , an 

important concept in American law.  But s hould Mary Beth Whitehead be free to agree 

to terms  like those in paragraph 1 ? More importantly, should the law enforce what 

she agreed to here?  

 

 5. Consider paragraph 3. Does it matter that the parties specify artificial  

insemination? After all, it might be easier and cheaper to take care of this matter the 

ònaturaló way. Can you think of any reasons why this term might affect the legal 

enforceability of the agreement ? 

 

 6. Why exactly does the phrase òbest interests of the childó keep 

showing up in this document? Is someone intended to read that phrase and be affected 

by it?  

 

 7. The header to paragraph 4 states that the payment to Mary Beth 

Whitehead is not òto be construed as a fee for termination of parental rights or a 

payment in exchange for a consent to surrender the child for adoption.ó Who exactly 

isnõt supposed to be construing it that way? And what would happen if that person  

(or persons) did  construe it that way ? 

 

 8. Imagine that the price term in paragraph 4(A) was one dollar. Should 

that affect the enforceability of this agreement? How about if the term were $1 

million? Should the parties be free to bargain for any price term?  

 

 9. In the top part of  paragraph 4(C), the parties use the term, 

òexpensesépursuant to her pregnancy.ó The parties then elaborate further  on these 

expenses in the four subparagraphs that follow. Isnõt òexpensesépursuant to her 

pregnancyó specific enough? Read through the various items in this four -paragraph 

list and try to determine why those terms made it into the contract.  Who benefits or 

is protected by each term in this list?  
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 10. Consider paragraph 5. Should the Whiteheads really be able to agree to 

the òrisk of deathó for Mary Beth? Come to think of it, have you signed a document 

agreeing to the òrisk of deathó? 

 

 11. Why on earth would the psychiatric evaluations for the Whiteheads in 

paragraph 6  be part of the agreement?  

 

 12. Paragraph 9 provides that, in the event of William Ster nõs death, the 

Whiteheads agree that the child will be placed in the custody of Sternõs wife. Do the 

parties have a right to agree to this term?  Can Mrs. Stern, who is not a party to the 

contract, sue to compel performance if the Whiteheads fail to comply?   

 

 13. Notice that both paragraphs 13 and 15 involve Mary Beth Whitehead 

limiting her right to act in certain ways in the future. Should the legal system, in 

your view, enforce one, both, or neither  of these two paragraphs ? If you find one to be 

enforceable and one not, what kind of a legal rule would you craft that would support 

your conclusion? 

 

 14. Can the parties really, as paragraph 18 provides,  sever òany of the 

provisionsó from the agreement and enforce the remainder? Try omitting all of 

paragraph 4, for example. What provisions could the parties reasonably drop and still 

retain the benefit of their bargain ? 

______________________ 

 

Problem  

Problem 1.1  

 Suppose that you represent either Mary Beth Whitehead or William Stern 

(your professor may assign you to one party or the other).  Think about your clientõs 

position and interests.  Draft  a list of changes to the Surrogate Parenting 

Agreementñat least  five of them ñthat you , as the attorney  would want made on 

your clientõs behalf to improve your clientõs situation .  

 

 Beside each of your proposals, include two numbers: (1) the likely importance 

to your client of your proposed change on a one-to-ten scale (with ten being the most 

important), and (2) the percentage you would estimate your chances are of pers uading 

the other party to accept your proposal  in a negotiation of the terms . 

 

 

______________________ 
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Unit 2 
__________________________________________________________________ 

INTRODUCTION TO CONTRACT LAW 
Part Two 

__________________________________________________________________ 
 

Thinking Like a Contract Litigator  
 

 
FOCUS OF THIS UNIT  

 

 In the previous unit, we considered an agreement from the perspective of a 

forward -thinking transactional lawyer, seeking to understand what the agreement 

means and what its legal implications are. Transactional lawyers donõt work in a legal 

vacuum, however. Even the newest contract is affected by the legal environment in 

which it comes into existence. A twenty -first century practitioner of American 

contract law must, accordingly, consider that which has come before ñcases, statutes, 

and even the brooding pr esence of centuries-old English common law. The underlying 

analytical skills for both a litigator and a transactional lawyer necessarily have a 

great deal of overlap. Both are working in an environment of pre -existing law.  

 

 Looking Backwards . As our ulti mate goal is for you to be a well -rounded 

lawyer, we will now undertake the task set out in this unit ñevaluating a transaction 

after  the fact. The Surrogate Parenting Agreement from the previous unit did indeed 

end up in a lawsuit. Two opinions resulting f rom that litigation follow in this unit 

and will be instructive to us in understanding the basic issues and outline of the law 

of contracts. While transactional lawyers are generally forward -looking in their focus, 

we mustnõt lose sight of the fact that thinking about the future requires a solid 

understanding in what came before. The traditional law school case method of 

instruction, whatever its faults may be, excels in training lawyers to deconstruct the 

past.  

 

 Just Enough Procedure to Be Dangerous . We think that your Civil Procedure 

professor is a better source of information about civil procedure than we are. 

Nonetheless, weõll make some occasional brief diversions into civil procedure when 

we think it helpful to your understanding of how courts are gr appling with matters 

of contract law (which is a far more interesting subject, in our unbiased opinion). 1 

Here is one such diversion.  

                                            
 1 Donõt tell your Civil Procedure professor we said that. We donõt want to cause trouble unless 

we have a really good reason to do so. An old lawyerõs maxim is òNever offend anyone unintentionally.ó 
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 The two court opinions that follow arise from the agreement we considered in 

the previous unit. The first opinion is fro m a trial -level court that considered evidence 

presented by the parties in a bench  trial . When we imagine a trial, we usually 

envision a judge who resolves questions of law while an empaneled jury deliberates 

and decides disputed facts. In a bench trial, t he judge fills both roles and no jury is 

involved. In this trial court opinion, the judge heard  testimony from fact witnesses 

with personal knowledge of the case ñsuch as the parties to the agreement ñas well 

as from expert witnesses, like psychologists who could opine on matters calling for 

expertise outside of the law. After the parties have presented their cases in a bench 

trial, a judge will typically report findings of fact  (resolving factual issues) and 

conclusions of law  (resolving legal issues). Based  on those findings and conclusions, 

a court will render its final judgment . While the parties may file various post -trial 

motions, the final judgment is the point at which parties unhappy with the trial court 

decision are able to appeal based on alleged er ror by the lower court.  

 The second court opinion in this unit is the appeal of the trial courtõs decision 

in the first opinion. Most cases you read in law school are appellate opinions, and the 

second opinion is one of these, a decision by the New Jersey Supreme Court. As an 

appellate court, a state supreme court has no ability to engage in its own fact finding. 

In a sense, the higher court (much like the parties, for that matter) is stuck with the 

factual determinations by the lower court. An appellate co urt can, however, fully 

review the conclusions of law and the methods by which the trial court reached its 

factual conclusions.  

 As you read these two opinions arising from the same trial and same dispute 

by the parties, consider the legal bases by which the courts reach their decisions. We 

especially want you to focus on the role of contract law in the two opinions, including 

the role that contract law plays in relation to other bodies of law, such as family law 

and criminal law. Because trial court opini ons are less common in law school, we have 

taken the liberty of adding a few box annotations to help you through it. For the 

appellate opinion, however, you are on your own. Good luck!  

 

 

______________________ 
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Cases and Materials  
 

IN RE  BABY òMó 

Superior Court of New Jersey , Bergen County  

525 A.2d 1128 (1987), revõd 537 A.2d 1227 (1988) 

 

SORKOW, P.J.F.P.:  2 

 The primary issue to be determined by this litigation is what are the best 

interests of a child until now called òBaby M.ó All other concerns raised by counsel 

constitute commentary.  

 That commentary incl udes the need to determine 

if a unique arrangement between a man and woman, 

unmarried to each other, creates a contract.  If so, is the 

contract enforceable; and if so, by what criteria, means 

and manner.  If not, what are the rights and duties of the 

partie s with regard to custody, visitation and support.  

 

Jurisdiction  

 Probably the most important authority of the court 

is the exercise of its parens patriae jurisdiction.  

Jurisdiction is a word of broad and comprehensive 

impact.  It means the authority by which court s and 

judicial officers take cognizance of and decide cases.  It 

means the authority to act, to find, define and apply the 

law.  

 Parens patriae is that power of the sovereign (in 

this case the State of New Jersey by its judicial branch) to watch over the interests of 

those who are incapable of protecting themselves.   BLACKõS LAW DICTIONARY  (4th ed. 

1975). 

 Thus, it is pursuant to N.J. Ct. R. 5:2-1, which defines actions cognizable in the 

Superior Court, Chancery Division, Family Part, that this court, as t he present day 

successor to a part of that historic legacy of equity jurisdiction, applies said 

jurisdiction to the issues herein presented; to wit, the best interest of a child and 

contractual rights, if any, of the litigating parties.  

  

                                            
 2 [òP.J.F.Pó stands for Presiding Judge, Family Part, Chancery Division, New Jersey Superior 

Court. ñEds.]  

Pay close attention to the 
questions of contract law raised 
by the court in this paragraph. 
You will be grappling versions of 
these same questions 
throughout this course. 

The court is helpful here to 
define important terms like 
jurisdiction, as well its Latin legal 
terminology. Courts are not 
always so nice, so you should 
keep a law dictionary handy for 
terƳǎ ȅƻǳ ŘƻƴΩǘ ƪƴƻǿ ƻǊ ǘƘŀǘ 
are used in an unfamiliar way. 
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Venue  

 Venue is a concept of placeñin this t his context, where should a lawsuit be 

brought.  Jurisdiction defines the c ourtõs authority; venue defines in which geographic 

area the suit should be instituted.  Mr. and Mrs. William 

Stern 1 live in Bergen County, New Jersey.  Mr. and Mrs. 

Richard Whitehead live in Ocean County, New Jersey.  

The child was taken from Bergen County t o Ocean 

County and returned to Bergen County ultimately from 

the State of Florida.  At the time of the institution of this 

suit, Mr. and Mrs. Stern believed they had the right to have the child returned to 

them in Bergen County.  They believed òBaby Mó was a resident of Bergen County; 

hence, Mr. and Mrs. Stern began their action here.  R.5:2-1 provides that an action 

involving status of children should be brought in the county of domicile. There never 

was a challenge to this placement of venue. This court conc ludes that venue is 

properly in Bergen County.  

 

Procedural History  

 This litigation began on May 5, 1986, when Mr. and Mrs. William Stern filed 

an ex-parte application for an order to show cause why 

this court should not issue an order for a summary 

judgment to enforce a surrogate -parenting contract. 

The order to show cause was returnable on May 27, 

1986.  

 At the same time a verified complaint was filed 

seeking to enforce a surrogate -parenting agreement, 

compel the surrender to plaintiffs of the infant child 

born to Mrs. Mary Beth Whitehead, restrain any 

interference with plaintiffsõ custody of the infant, 

terminate Mrs. Whiteheadõs parental rights and allow adoption of the child by Mrs. 

Stern.  

 [The court describes its decision to appoint a guardian ad litem  to represent 

the interests of child independently of the parties.]  

 On September 2, 1986, Mr. and Mrs. Whitehead filed an answer to the 

complaint and a counterclaim seeking custody and damage s for fraud.  

 The trial commenced on January 5, 1987.  

  

                                            
 1 [By the court]  Both Sterns hold Ph.D. degrees.  In addition, Mrs. Stern has an M.D. 

degree. They are both properly called Doctor. However, for clarity, they will be referred to as 

Mr. Stern and Mrs. Stern.  

Venue of a case is more 
important than you might think. 
Parties sometimes get into 
major fights over the county or 
district where a lawsuit is heard. 

When a court recounts the 
procedural history leading up to 
its opinion, the context will often 
help you understand why the 
court is doing what it is doing. 
¸ƻǳ ǳǎǳŀƭƭȅ ǿƻƴΩǘ ŦƛƴŘ ǘƘŜ Ƴŀin 
point of the case here, however 
όǳƴƭŜǎǎ ȅƻǳΩǊŜ ǎǘǳŘȅƛƴƎ 
procedure), and we have edited 
this part down considerably. 
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Findings of Fact, Conclusions  of Law and Opinion.  

 This is a nonjury trial.  At law, it is the jury that makes the findings of fact.  As 

in all chancery proceedings, the court is the fact finder.  

 This court has spent six weeks in the actual trial of the issues before it.  The 

parties, with their 38 expert and lay witnesses, have 

testified.  The admissible evidence has been marked. 

The testimony and the tangible evi dence have been 

carefully listened to, noted and reviewed by this court. 

The credibility of the witnesses has been examined, 

tested and weighed.  

 This court makes the following findings of fact:  

 Mr. and Mrs. Stern met when they were both 

graduate student s at the University of Michigan and 

began dating in 1969. The couple was married in East Lansing, Michigan, on July 27, 

1974, by a minister friend of the family.  By now each had earned a Ph.D. ñMr. Stern 

in bio -chemistry and Mrs. Stern in human genetics.  

 The Sterns had discussed having children prior to and after their marriage but 

mutually concluded that until Mrs. Sternõs pediatric residency was completed, her 

time to devote to family would be inadequate and thus unfair to the child. It was also 

concluded that post -residency earnings would make the family more economically 

secure. 

 In 1972 and 1978, Mrs. Stern had experienced several episodes of numbness 

in her fingers and toes and some leg weakness.  [Mrs. Stern ultimately was diagnosed 

with multiple scler osis, which made the possibility of a pregnancy dangerous to her 

health.]   

 The Sterns explored the possibility of adoption but were discouraged in their 

inquiries. They learned that because they were of different religions and they were 

an òolder couple,ó adoption of a newborn infant would be extremely difficult.  Indeed, 

the multi -year wait would have them in their very late 30's to early 40's if a child 

were to become available.  Moreover, following the death of William Sternõs mother in 

1983, the desirabi lity of having his own biological offspring became compelling to 

William Stern, thus making adoption a less desirable alternative  

 In 1984, Mr. Stern read an ad from the Infertility Center of New York 

(hereinafter ICNY) and with the consent of Mrs. Stern, they decided to pursue 

surrogate parenting.  ICNY is an agency that provides surrogate mother candidates 

to applicants seeking a child through an alternative means of reproduction.  

 Mary Beth Whitehead is presently 29 years old . [She and Richard Whitehead 

met and were married in 1973, when she was 16 and he was 24.]  

The findings of fact recounted 
here are based on the trial 
ƧǳŘƎŜΩǎ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ 
weighing of evidence. Where 
evidence was in conflict, the 
judge decides which evidence 
was more credible. In this 
opinion, the findings of fact tell 
the story that led to the 
agreement we are considering.  
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 Their first child, Ryan, was born on July 7, 1974.  The Whiteheads had their 

second child, whom they named Tuesday, on January 27, 1976. 3  Within several 

months after their daughterõs birth, Richard and Mary Beth Whitehead decided that 

they did not want to have any more children, that they were òcontentó with the two 

children and thought they had the òperfect family.ó There was mutual agreement that 

Mr. Whitehead should have a vasectomy to preven t further impregnation of Mrs. 

Whitehead.  The Whiteheads had created their family and wanted no further children.  

 In or about August or September 1984, Mr. and Mrs. Stern made inquiries into 

several surrogate parenting programs throughout the United State s. Initially, they 

had hoped to find a woman who would function as a gestational surrogate only; that 

is, a woman who would be implanted with an egg of Mrs. Stern fertilized by the sperm 

of Mr. Stern.  At that time, however, in vitro fertilization was large ly experimental 

and not a generally available option.  

 Mr. and Mrs. Stern contacted the Infertility Center of New York and were sent 

a brochure.  The brochure explained in general terms the surrogate parenting 

procedure and the services which ICNY offered, including the screening of potential 

surrogate candidates.  On December 3, 1984, Mr. Stern 

entered into an agreement wit h ICNY.  

 Over the next several months Mr. and Mrs. Stern 

were provided with various biographical data concerning 

potential surrogate candidates.  Mr. and Mrs. Stern 

reviewed the material and attempted to set up interviews with several candidates.  

They were eventually told of a potential surrogate enrolled in the program who had 

been unsuccessful working with another couple for approximately eight months.  The 

woman was described as being very dedicated and anxious to work with another 

couple. The candidate wa s Mary Beth Whitehead.  

 Mrs. Whitehead was enrolled in the ICNY surrogate program since the spring 

1984. Mrs. Whitehead testified she was motivated to join the program in the hopes of 

ògiving the most loving gift of happiness to an unfortunate couple.ó Mr s. Whitehead 

also felt that the surrogateõs fee would assist her in providing for her childrenõs long 

range educational goals.  Her signed application also reveals these reasons.  

 Mrs. Whitehead had learned of surrogate parenting through an advertisement 

in  The Asbury Park Press. Mrs. Whitehead spoke of her interest in the surrogacy 

program to no one other than Mr. Whitehead over the next week.  Although Mr. 

Whitehead was initially opposed to Mrs. Whiteheadõs involvement in the surrogate 

program, he ultimatel y deferred to his wifeõs wishes. Mrs. Whitehead contacted ICNY 

and was provided with an application form which she filled out and submitted to the 

center.  

                                            
 3 [Which, as it happens, was a Tuesday. This is an excellent example of a fact that is 

interesting, but not legally relevant. Those sometimes happen. ð Eds.]  

The agreement referenced here 
is not the document you read in 
the previous unit. The 
agreement between Stern and 
ICNY came earlier. 
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 In or about April 1984 Mrs. Whitehead submitted to a psychological evaluation 

to determine her suit ability as a potential surrogate. She was evaluated by interview 

and testing.  The examiner reported that although Mrs. Whitehead expected to have 

strong feelings about giving up the baby at birth, she was sincere in her plan to 

become a surrogate mother an d has thought extensively about the plan.  Although the 

examiner noted that it would be important to explore with Mrs. Whitehead in more 

depth whether she would be able to relinquish the child in final analysis, Mrs. 

Whitehead was recommended as an appropri ate candidate for a surrogate volunteer.  

This report was made for ICNY prior to Mrs. Whitehead working for her first childless 

couple. It was this fact of prior evaluation that the Sterns relied on. Mrs. Whitehead 

testified to receiving two counseling sess ions at ICNY.  

 In or about May 1984 ICNY matched Mrs. Whitehead with a married couple 

(not Mr. and Mrs. Stern) who sought to engage Mrs. Whitehead as a surrogate.  The 

prospective surrogate was presented with a proposed form of surrogate parenting 

agreement.  The proposed agreement was almost identical to the agreement Mrs. 

Whitehead w ould later sign with Mr. Stern.  As required by the center, she consulted 

independent counsel on May 24, 1984, who after 

spending several hours discussing the possible legal 

ramifications of the agreement with both Mr. and Mrs. 

Whitehead, negotiated at Mrs.  Whiteheadõs request 

several minor changes in the contract.  The contract was 

signed by the Whiteheads and shortly thereafter, she 

began her efforts to conceive by artificial insemination.  

Her effort for this couple was unsuccessful.  She was then introduced  to Mr. and Mrs. 

Stern.  

 Mr. and Mrs. Stern met with Mr. and Mrs. Whitehead in January 1985 in New 

Brunswick, New Jersey.  The site was chosen because it is approximately mid -way 

between the respective residences.  The parties discussed the proposed surrogac y 

arrangement and other elements of their contemplated relationship, including Mrs. 

Whiteheadõs duty to relinquish custody of the child to Mr. and Mrs. Stern. Mrs. 

Whitehead made it clear she would not appear on the Sternsõ doorstep. All she wanted 

was an annual picture and letter report of progress.  At the conclusion of the meeting, 

it was agreed that Mrs. Whitehead would be the surrogate mother of a child to be 

born for Mr. and Mrs. Stern.  

 On February 6, 1986 Mr. Stern and Mr. and Mrs. Whitehead signed the 

surrogate parenting agreement.  It was in all material respects the same contract that 

Mrs. Whitehead signed the spring of 1984.  At that time, Mr. and Mrs. Whitehead had 

consulted with an attorney.  As already noted, he read and explained the contract to  

them.  Several minor changes were negotiated.  Mrs. Whitehead believed the second 

contract to be as the first and thus, although able to do so, chose not to seek legal 

advice prior to signing the subject agreement.  It is noted with more than passing 

importa nce that Mrs. Stern was not a s ignatory to the agreement.  

Provisions of a formally-drafted 
contract are often in forms that 
are replicated from a prior 
transaction and modified (or 
not) to fit the needs of the new 
transaction. 
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 Subsequent to entering into the surrogate parenting agreement of February 6, 

1985, Mrs. Whitehead was inseminated with the seminal fluid of Mr. Stern nine 

times.  Final ly, in July 1985 she conceived  

 [The court recounts at great length what became a tortuous story 

sensationalized in the nationõs tabloids. Baby òMó was born on March 27, 1986 . Both 

before and after the birth, Mrs. Whitehead began to regret her decision. After the 

birth, she and her hus band took the child and fled with their family to Florida, later 

defying a New Jersey court order. Baby òMó ultimately was taken into custody by 

Florida authorities on July 31, and returned to New Jersey for the litigation.]  

 A total of 38 witnesses testified at this trial, 23 fact witnesses and 15 experts.   

 [The court extensively summarizes the expert testimony, most of which went 

to the suitability of the parties as parents and the best interest of the child.]  

 This court is confronted with circumstances in 

which on February 6, 1985, the parties to this litigati on, 

with great joy and expectation, entered into a surrogate 

arrangement.  It was an arrangement where both ñthe 

prospective family and the surrogate mother ñwanted 

the child; albeit, for different purposes.  Even though the 

insemination is artificial, the par ental attitude is real.  

Roger Rosenblatt, The Baby in the Factory , TIME (February 14, 1983).  The couple 

sought to bring into existence a child by conscious pre -arrangement which, as far as 

biologically possible, would be genetically their own.  The surrogat e consciously chose 

to bear a child for another couple with the understanding that she would not contest 

but would consent to their adoption of it.  

 Concerns have been expressed about the efficacy of surrogate arrangements. 

They are: (1) that the child will not be protected; (2) the potential for exploitation of 

the surrogate mother; (3) the alleged denigration of human dignity by recognizing 

any agreement in which a child is produced for money; (4) surrogacy is invalid 

because it is contrary to adoption statutes and other child benefit laws such as 

statutes establishing standards for termination of 

parental rights; (5) it will undermine traditional not ions 

of family; and (6) surrogacy allows an elite economic 

group to use a poorer group of people to achieve their 

purposes.  

 It is argued that th e child will not be protected. 

So long as there is no legislation and some court action 

in surrogacy arrangeme nts is required, the child born of 

surrogacy will be protected in New Jersey.  If there is 

compliance with the contract terms, adoption will be 

necessary; hence, court inquiry about best interests 

must take place.  If there is non -compliance with the 

contract, as in this case, best interests is still litigated 

Expert witnesses differ from fact 
witnesses in that they do not 
necessarily have personal 
knowledge of facts. Instead, 
their testimony consists of 
opinion on technical matters to 
aid the court. 

Pay attention to the policy 
concerns articulated in this 
paragraph and set out in more 
detail in the paragraphs 
following. Although these 
concerns are specific to the case 
at hand, they are also 
representative of broader 
concerns about contract 
enforceability we will deal with 
in this course. At this point, the 
court has slipped into analysis 
leading to its legal conclusions. 
You will observe several such 
conclusions along the way. 
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with protection to the child, with its own guardian and experts retained to aid the 

court in its best interests determination.  

 The second argument against surrogacy is that the surro gate mother will b e 

exploited. To the contrary. It is the private adoption that has that great potential for, 

if not actual, exploitation of the mother. In the private adoption, the woman is already 

pregnant. The biological father may be unknown or at best uninterested in h is 

obligations. The woman may want to keep the child but cannot do so for financial 

reasons. There is the risk of illegal consideration being paid to the mother.  In 

surrogacy, none of these òdownsideó elements appear. The arrangement is made when 

the desir e and intention to have a family exist on the couple õs part. The surrogate has 

an opportunity to consult, take advice and consider her act and is not forced into the 

relationship. She is not yet pregnant.  

 The third argument is that to produce or deal with a child for money denigrates 

human  dignity.  With that premise, this court urgently agrees.  The 13th Amendment 

to the United States Constitution is still valid law.  The law of adoption in New Jersey 

does prohibit the exchange of any consideration for obtain ing a child.  The fact is, 

however, that the money to be paid to the surrogate is not being paid for the surrender 

of the child to the father. And that is just the point ñat 

birth, mother and father have equal rights to the child 

absent any other agreement. The biological father pays 

the surrogate for her willingness to be impregnated and 

carry his child to term.  At birth, the father does not 

purchase the child.  It is his own biological genetically 

related child. He cannot purchase what is already his.  

 The fourth argument against surrogacy is that it 

is a concept running contrary to the laws of adoption in New Jersey. It is in this 

courtõs view that the laws of adoption in this State do not apply to surrogacy contracts. 

Surrogacy was not a viable procreation alternative and was unknown when the laws 

of adoption were passed.  The same rationale must attach to laws dealing with 

termination of parental rights.  Indeed, it is held that the only concept of law that can 

presently attach to surrogacy arrangements are c ontract law principles and parens 

patriae concepts for the benefit of the child.  These are the only pole stars available 

for this court to chart its course on the issues of surrogacy.  

 The fifth argument against surrogacy is that it will undermine traditional 

notions of family. How can that be when the childless husband and wife so very much 

want a chil d? They seek to make a family.  They intend to have a family.  The surrogate 

mother could not make a valid contract without her  husbandõs consent to her act. This 

statement should not be construed as antifeminist. It means that if the surrogate is 

married, her husband will, in all probability, have to sign the contract to establish 

his non -paternity pursuant to the New Jersey Parentage Law. Both sides of  the 

equation must agree.  

άNeither slavery nor involuntary 
servitude, except as a 
punishment for crime whereof 
the party shall have been duly 
convicted, shall exist within the 
United States, or any place 
subject to their jurisdiction.έ U.S. 
CONST. AMEND. XIII (ratified 1865). 
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 The sixth and final argument suggests that an elite upper economic group of 

people will use the lower economic group of woman to òmake their babies.ó This 

argument is insensitive and offensive to the intense drive to procreate n aturally and 

when that is impossible, to use what lawful means are possible to gain a child. This 

intense desire to propagate the species is fundamental.  It is within the soul of all men 

and women regardless of economic status.  

 During the course of the t estimony offered by the principals to this writing, the 

court was t old on several occasions that a writing was executed by them.  Indeed, that 

writi ng was marked into evidence. The court was further told by the parties that they 

all understood their obligat ions under the contract.  Specifically, it was understood by 

all that Mr. Sternõs sperm would be used to artificially inseminate Mrs. Whitehead. 

Upon conception, Mrs. Whitehead would carry the child and when she gave birth, she 

would then surrender the infa nt to the biological father and his wife.  Mrs. Whitehead 

would also voluntarily renounce her parental rights to permit Mrs. Stern to adopt the 

infant. Mrs. Stern, it must be noted, i s not a party to the contract. This was to avoid 

any possible inference that there is a violation of N.J.  STAT . ANN . § 9:3-54 (which 

prohibits giving a consideration to obtain an adoptable child). Mr. Whitehead signed 

a certification pursuant to Id. § 9:17-44 establishing his non -patern ity. Mr. Stern 

agreed to pay Mrs. Whitehead $10,000 for conceiving and bearing his child.  

 Fundamentally, when there were no time constraints, when Mrs. Whitehead 

was not pregnant, when each party had the opportunity to obtain advice (legal, 

medical and/o r psychological), the parties expressed their respective offers and 

acceptances to each other and reduced their understanding to a writing. If the mutual 

promises were not sufficient to establish a valid consideration, then certainly there 

was consideratio n when there was conception. The male gave his sperm; the female 

gave her egg in their pre -planned effort to create a child ñthus, thus, a contract.  

 For the past year, there has been a child in being. She is alive and well. She is 

tangible proof of that wh ich the Whiteheads and Mr. Stern in concert agreed to do.  

The child was conceived with a mutual understanding by the parties of her future 

life.  Except now, Mrs. Whitehead has failed to perform one of her last promises, which 

was to surrender the child  and renounce parental rights. She has otherwise 

performed the personal service that she had undertaken ñconception and carrying 

the child to term. The terms of the contract have been executed but for the surrender.  

 A person who has promised is entitled to re ly on the concomitant promise of 

the other promisor.  This court holds therefore that in New Jersey, although the 

surrogacy contract is signed, the surrogate may nevertheless renounce and terminate 

the contract until the time of conception.  She may be subject then for such monetary 

damages as may be proven. Specific performance to compel the promised conception, 

gestation, and birth shall not be available to the male promisor.  However, once 

conception has occurred the parties õ rights are fixed, the terms of the contract are 

firm and performance will be anticipated with the joy that only a newborn can bring.  
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 It is argued that the contract in this case is one of adhesion.  It was a writing 

printed by and supplied by ICNY.  That its terms were not immutable is shown by the 

testimony of the attorney, Saul Radow, who by deposition reported neg otiating 

changes to the written c ontract; albeit, minor changes.  By definition, a contract of 

adhesion is one in which one party has no alternative but to accept or reject the other 

partyõs terms and there are no options by which the party may obtain the p roduct or 

service. Here, neither party has a superior bargaining position.   Each had what the 

other wanted.  A price for the service each was to perform was struck and a bargain 

reached. One did not force the other.  Neither had expertise that lef t the other  at a 

disadvantage. Neither had disp roportionate bargaining power. Although the contract 

was a form, there is no proof that it was absolute and 

could not be altered.  Defendant offered no proof to this 

end. Mrs. Whitehead, acknowledged that minor changes 

were bargained for.  There is no evidence of an absence 

of good faith or fair dealing.  This is not a contract of 

adhesion. Henningsen v. Bloomfield Motors, Inc ., 32 N.J. 

358 (1960).  

 Defendants argue unconscionability. They claim the terms are ma nifestly 

unfair or oppressive. These terms were known to Mrs. Whitehead from her earlier 

sur rogate contracting experience. She read the second contract, albeit briefly, prior 

to signing it. She was aware of her compensation. She had been pregnant before an d 

had to be aware of the risks of pregnancy. Her obligation included physical 

examination for her own welfare as wel l as the welfare of the fetus. Mrs. Whitehead 

says that Mr. Stern unde rtook no risks. To compare the risk of pregnancy in a woman 

to the don ation of sperm by th e man would be unconscionable. This, however, is the 

bargain Mrs. Whitehead sought and obtained. Mr. Stern did take a risk, however, 

whether the child would be normal or abnormal, whether accepted or rejected he 

would have a lifetime ob ligation and responsibility to the child as its natural and 

biological father.  

 To the issue of unconscionability, defendants fail to show proof of overreaching 

or disproportionate bargaining that  result in an unfair contract. Mrs. Whit ehead was 

anxious t o contract. At the New Brunswick meeting, she pressed for a defin itive 

statement by the Sterns. She knew just what she was bargaining for.  This court finds 

that she has changed her mind, reneged on her promise and now s eeks to avoid her 

obligations. Unconscionability claims arise, more often than not, in consumer 

contracts for products or services.  The seller is in the dominant position and the buyer 

must comply or there is no deal. Not so here ñeither party could h ave walked away 

from the other.  Either part y would then have continued on ICNYõs roster of available 

surrogates and childless families seeking a surrog ate. They chose not to do so. The 

bargain here was one for totally  personal service.  It was a very scarce service  Mrs. 

Whitehead was providing. Inde ed, it might even be said she had the do minant 

bargaining position for without her Mr. Stern had no other immediate source 

available. Each party sought each other to fulfill their needs.  

At this point, the court begins to 
consider various defenses to 
contract enforcement raised by 
the Whiteheads. We will revisit 
several of these defenses during 
the course. 
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 It is argued by amicus  that the $ 10,000 to be paid Mrs. Whitehead i s so low 

as to be unconscionable. In counterpoint, it is stated that not all servic es can be 

compensated by money. Millions of men and women work for each other in their 

marital relationship. There may even be mutual inequality in the value of the work 

performed but the benefits obtained from the relationship serve to reject the concept 

of equating societa l acts to a monetary balancing.  Perhaps the risk was great for the 

money to be paid but the risk was what Mrs. Whitehead chose to assume and at the 

agreed upon fee. And it is assumed she received other intangible benefits and 

satisfaction from doing what she did. Her original application set forth her highly 

altruistic purpose. Notwithstanding amicusõ position, all in this world cannot be 

equated to money.  

 It is defendantsõ claim of unconscionability. They must show such unfairness, 

overreaching, bargaining disparity or patent unfairness that no reasonable person 

acting without duress would accept the contract terms.  Toker v. Westerman , 113 N.J. 

Super. 452, 454 (Cty. D. Ct.1970).  This, defendants have failed to do.  

 Defendants next claim relief from the contract because the Whiteheads had no 

attorney at the time they entered the contract.  It is hornbook law that any person 

who possesses legal capacity may be bound by a contract even when it is entered 

without representation unless there is fraud, overreaching or undue influence which 

caused the party to enter the contract.  

 It was Dr. Vetter, one of defendantsõ own psychiatrists, who testified 

unequivocall y that the Whiteheads had legal capacity to contract.  Ther e were no 

mental disabilities. They un derstood what they were doing. They understood the 

contract terms. That there was capacity to contract was proven by a preponder ance 

of the credible evidence. Furthermore, Mr. Whitehead testified they signed the 

contract at their New Jersey home because they did not wish to travel to New York.  

Their prior counsel was availabl e to them. They chose not to call him.  I t is well settled 

that disparity of education or sophistication is not considered groun ds for avoidance 

of a contract.  Dundee Chemical Works v. Connor , 46 N.J. Eq. 576 (E. & A.1890).  In 

Dundee, the adversaries were a homemaker -executrix and an attorney.  The Court 

held it would not weigh the dispa rate ski lls to void a contract.  This leaves just fraud,  

undue influence or illegality.  As to the latter two factors this court says no evidence 

has been shown of illega lity or undue influence.  This court has a sense that Mrs. 

Whitehead would be a very difficult person to unduly influence once her mind is made 

up.  

 As to the claim of fraud, defendants allege they may rescind the contract 

because of the fraud perpetrated  by plaintiffs.  The court  first defines the te rms with 

which we are to treat.  Legal fraud has four elements: (1) a material misrepresentation 

of a fact; (2) known to be false; (3) upon which a party  relied; and (4) to its damage.  

Equitable fraud elimina tes the element of knowledge . Thus, even if the promisor did 

not know of the fact being false, it would be inequitable to permit contractual recovery 

and the injured party should be allowed the option to s ustain the contract or rescind.  

Jewish Center of Sussex County v. Whale , 86 N.J . 619 (1981).  
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 [The court concludes that no false statements were made.]  

 There is no fraud, legal or equitable, that would allow Mr. and Mrs. Whitehead 

to rescind their contract.  

 It is further argued that the contract is illusory; that is to say, that only one of 

the parties has an obligation, the other only benefits, that there is no mutuality of 

obligation. This does not mean equality of obligation. See Friedmann v. Tappan 

Development Corp., 22 N.J. 523 (1956); SAMUEL WILLISTON , THE LAW OF CONTRACTS , 

§ 105A at 421. Such is not the case. Mr. Stern gave his sperm ; Mrs. Whitehead gave 

her egg. Together the mirac le of a new life was obtained. Mrs. Whitehead argues Mr. 

Stern does not have to take the child under certain circumstances which have not 

happened and are not before this court. She is arguing, hypothetically, òif.ó It is 

suggested again that this court is dea ling with the facts before it. Even assuming 

arguendo , that the court were to address the issue of the illusory contract as stated 

by defendan ts, the  conclusion would be the same. The Whiteheads argue that Mr. 

Stern does not have to take the baby if it is imperfect; but the fact is the contract does 

provide that there is an obligation and responsibility, that there is a life long 

responsibility by Mr. Stern for the childõs support and welfare. The contract is not 

illusory.  

 [The court analyzes the question whether there is a right to assisted 

reproduction under the U.S. Constitution.]  

 For the foregoing reasons, this court concludes and holds that the surro gate-

parenting agreement is a valid and enforceable contract pursuant to the laws of New 

Jersey. . . . This court further finds that Mrs. Whitehead has breached her contract 

in two ways: (1) by failing to surrender to Mr. Stern the child born to her and Mr . 

Stern and (2) by failing to renounce her parental rights to that child.  

 What are the remedies available to the plaintiff?  The remedies that exist for 

breach of a contract are an award of money damages or specific enforcement of the 

terms of the contrac t. There are, of course, other remedies but they are neither  

relevant nor applicable here. Monetary damages cannot possibly compensate plaintiff 

for the loss of his bargain because of defendantõs breach. The singular subject of the 

contract further mitigat es against an award of damages.  

 Plaintiff acknowledges that before the remedy of specific performance can be 

used it must be shown that the contract was entered into with understanding and 

free will.  Dr. Vetter, the Whitehead psychiatric expert, testifie d that the Whiteheads 

were competent when the contract was signed and they understood the terms.  It must 

also be shown that the contract was entered in good faith, without fraud and is not 

unenforceable because of public policy.  By reason of the 

findings h eretofore made, to wit: there is no evidence of 

fraud and the parties voluntarily entered the agreement, 

indeed they were all very anxious to do so, such contracts 

are not contrary to public policy.  Indeed New Jersey has 

Remedies will be another 
significant issue in our study of 
contract law. Legal rights arising 
from a contract breach are not 
terribly useful unless the law 
provides a remedy for the 
breach.  
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no stated public policy on surrogac y. There is no reason 

why this court should not order specific performance.  

 Specific performance is a discretionary remedy.  It 

should only be exercised in accorda nce with principles of 

equity. In each case the evaluation of the equities must 

be left to the judgment and good conscience of the trial 

court.  Stehr v. Sawyer , 40 N.J. 352 (1963).  This means 

that the court must adjudge and weigh whether the 

partiesõ conduct was fair and reasonable. Will the relief 

afforded by the remedy be unreasonable? If specific performance is ordered, the result 

will be just what the parties bargained for  and the contract contemplated.  Mr. Stern 

wanted progeny, a child. Mrs. Whitehead wanted to give the child she would bear to 

a childless couple.  His sperm fertilized her  egg. A child was born. Until the child was 

placed in his home he never knew the stress and bliss, the responsibilities and 

rewards of a child.  The Whiteheads have two children. They did not want any more.  

Theirs was the perfect family, Mr. Whitehead testified . The Whiteheads agreed that 

Mr. Whitehead should get a vasectomy to prevent further conception. It is suggested 

that Mrs. Whitehead wanted a baby, now that she is older than when her first two 

children were born, to experience and fulfill herse lf again as  a woman.  She found the 

opportunit y in a newspaper advertisement.  She received her fulfillment. Mr. Stern 

did not.  

 At this point the court would enter its order for specific performance, but an 

additional inquiry is necessary. Since we here deal with a hu man life of only one year, 

since we treat with, as the guardian ad litem has said òthe most precious and unique 

thing on this earth, a small vulnerable and lovable child,ó inquiry must be made to 

determine if the result of such an order for specific perfor mance would be in the childõs 

best interest. This court holds that whether there will be specific performance of this 

surrogacy contract depends on whether doing so is in the childõs best interest. . . . 

 [The court extensively reviews the evidence and con cludes that the childõs best 

interest is to be with the Sterns.]  

 This court enters judgment in favor of plaintiffs as follows:  

 (1) The surrogate parenting agreement of February 6, 1985, will be specifically  

enforced.  

 (2) The prior order of the court giving temporary custody to Mr. Stern is 

herewith made permanent.  Prior orders of visitation are vacated.  

 (3) The parental rights of defendant Mary Beth Whitehead are terminated.  

 (4) Mr. Stern is formally ad judged the father of Melissa Stern.  

 (5) The New Jersey Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Statistics and its 

ancillary and/or subordinate state or county agencies are directed to amend all 

records of birth to reflect the paternity and name of the chil d to be Melissa Stern.  

The judgment, contained in the 
numbered item list at this point, 
is the substantive final result of 
ǘƘŜ ǘǊƛŀƭ ŎƻǳǊǘΩǎ ǊŜŀǎƻƴƛƴƎ ǎǘŀǘŜŘ 
up until this point. A final 
judgment is often the first point 
ŀǘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀ ǘǊƛŀƭ ŎƻǳǊǘΩǎ ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴ 
may be appealed to a higher 
court based on specific alleged 
errors. 
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 (6) Defendants, Mary Beth Whitehead, Richard Whitehead, Joseph Messer and 

Catherine Messer, their relatives, friends, agents, servants, employees or any person 

acting for and/or on their behalf are restrained from interfering with t he parental and 

custodial rights of plaintiff,  his wife or their agents, servants, employees or any other 

persons acting for and/or on their behalf.  

 (7) As heretofore ordered unpleaded claims for money damages are reserved to 

plaintiffs.  

 (8) Counsel for plaintiffs will submit a certification of services pursuant to R. 

4:42-9 in support of their application for counsel fees.  

 (9) The court will enter judgment against defendants on all prayers for relief 

in the first and second counts of their countercla im.  

 (10) The guardian ad litem shall file a certification of services pursuant to R 

4:42-9 to support her application for fees.  She shall also submit to the court the 

statements of fees from her experts for allocation by the court.  

 (11) The sum of $ 10,000, being held by the Clerk of the Superior Court, shall 

be the property of Mary Beth Whitehead.  

 (12) The guardian ad litem shall be discharged herewith except for the 

purposes of appeal.  

 

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 1. The trial court states that it  òwas further told by the 

parties that they all understood their obligations under the contract. ó Why canõt we 

just end the inquiry there? What, based on this opinion, do you now understand to be 

the elements of an enforceabl e contract?  

 Review Question 2. The court notes that òMr. and Mrs. Whitehead had 

consulted with an attorney ó when they signed the 1984 agreement with a prior 

couple. Why does that matter? Canõt parties enter into contracts without attorneys 

being involved ? What valueñif any ñcan attorneys add to the process of contracting?  

 Review Question 3. The court observes that the òremedies that exist for breach 

of a contract are an award of money damages or specific enforcement of the terms of 

the contract. ó Which type of remedy does the trial court enforce and why?  

 

______________________ 
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IN RE  BABY M  

Supreme Court of New Jersey  

537 A.2d 1227, 109 N.J. 396 (1988)  

 

WILENTZ, C.J., delivered the opinion of the Court:  

 In this matter the Court i s asked to determine the validity of a contract that 

purports to provide a new way of bringing children into a family. For a fee of $10,000, 

a woman agrees to be artificially inseminated with the semen of another woman's 

husband; she is to conceive a child , carry it to term, and after its birth surrender it to 

the natural father and his wife. The intent of the contract is that the child's natural 

mother will thereafter be forever separated from her child. The wife is to adopt the 

child, and she and the natu ral father are to be regarded as its parents for all purposes. 

The contract providing for this is called a òsurrogacy contract,ó the natural mother 

inappropriately called the òsurrogate mother.ó 

 We invalidate the surrogacy contract because it conflicts wi th the law and 

public policy of this State. While we recognize the depth of the yearning of infertile 

couples to have their own children, we find the payment of money to a òsurrogateó 

mother illegal, perhaps criminal, and potentially degrading to women. Al though in 

this case we grant custody to the natural father, the evidence having clearly proved 

such custody to be in the best interests of the infant, we void both the termination of 

the surrogate mother's parental rights and the adoption of the child by t he 

wife/stepparent. We thus restore the òsurrogateó as the mother of the child. We 

remand the issue of the natural mother's visitation rights to the trial court, since that 

issue was not reached below and the record before us is not sufficient to permit us  to 

decide it de novo.  

 We find no offense to our present laws where a woman voluntarily and without 

payment agrees to act as a òsurrogateó mother, provided that she is not subject to a 

binding agreement to surrender her child. Moreover, our holding today  does not 

preclude the Legislature from altering the current statutory scheme, within 

constitutional limits, so as to permit surrogacy contracts. Under current law, 

however, the surrogacy agreement before us is illegal and invalid.  

 [The court recites some  of the facts stated in the trial court opinion above.]  

 The Sterns claim that the surrogacy contract is valid and should be enforced, 

largely for the reasons  given by the trial court.  

 We have concluded that this surrogacy contract is invalid. Our conclus ion has 

two bases: direct conflict with existing statutes and conflict with the public policies of 

this State, as expressed in its statutory and decisional law.  

Conflict With Statutory Provisions   

 One of the surrogacy contract's basic purposes, to achieve the adoption of a 

child through private placement, though permitted in New Jersey òis very much 

disfavored.ó Sees v. Baber, 377 A.2d 628 (N.J. 1977). Its use of money for this 
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purposeñand we have n o doubt whatsoever that the money is being paid to obtain 

an adoption and not, as the Sterns argue, for the personal services of Mary Beth 

Whitehead ñis illegal and perhaps criminal. N.J. Stat. Ann. § 9:3 -54.4 In addition to 

the inducement of money, there i s the coercion of contract: the natural mother's 

irrevocable agreement, prior to birth, even prior to conception, to surrender the child 

to the adoptive couple. Such an agreement is totally unenforceable in private 

placement adoption.  

 Integral to these in valid provisions of the surrogacy contract is the related 

agreement, equally invalid, on the part of the natural mother to cooperate with, and 

not to contest, proceedings to terminate her parental rights, as well as her contractual 

concession, in aid of th e adoption, that the child's best interests would be served by 

awarding custody to the natural father and his wife ñall of this before she has even 

conceived, and, in some cases, before she has the slightest idea of what the natural 

father and adoptive moth er are like.  

 The surrogacy contract conflicts with: (1) laws prohibiting the use of money in 

connection with adoptions; (2) laws requiring proof of parental unfitness or 

abandonment before termination of parental rights is ordered or an adoption is 

grant ed; and (3) laws that make surrender of custody and consent to adoption 

revocable in private placement adoptions.  

 (1) Our law prohibits paying or accepting money in connection with any 

placement of a child for adoption. Violation is a high misdemeanor. E xcepted are fees 

of an approved agency (which must be a non -profit entity) and certain expenses in 

connection with childbirth.  

 Considerable care was taken in this case to structure the surrogacy 

arrangement so as not to violate this prohibition. The arra ngement was structured 

as follows: the adopting parent, Mrs. Stern, was not a party to the surrogacy contract; 

the money paid to Mrs. Whitehead was stated to be for her services ñnot for the 

                                            
 4 [By the court] N.J.  STAT . ANN . § 9:3-54 reads as follows:  

 a. No person, firm, partnership, corporation, association or agency shall make, 

offer to make or assist or participate in any placement for adoption and in connection 

therewith  

 (1) Pay, give or agree to give any money or any valuable consideration, 

or assume or discharge any financial o bligation; or  

 (2) Take, receive, accept or agree to accept any money or any valuable 

consideration.  

 b. The prohibition of subsection a. shall not apply to the fees or services of any 

approved agency in connection with a placement for adoption, nor shal l such 

prohibition apply to the payment or reimbursement of medical, hospital or other 

similar expenses incurred in connection with the birth or any illness of the child, or to 

the acceptance of such reimbursement by a parent of the child.  

 c. Any person,  firm, partnership, corporation, association or agency violating 

this section shall be guilty of a high misdemeanor.  
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adoption; the sole purpose of the contract was stated as being tha t òof giving a child 

to William Stern, its natural and biological fatheró; the money was purported to be 

òcompensation for services and expenses and in no way . . . a fee for termination of 

parental rights or a payment in exchange for consent to surrender a child for 

adoptionó; the fee to the Infertility Center ($7,500) was stated to be for legal 

representation, advice, administrative work, and other òservices.ó Nevertheless, it 

seems clear that the money was paid and accepted in connection with an adoption .  

 The Infertility Center's major role was first as a òfinderó of the surrogate 

mother whose child was to be adopted, and second as the arranger of all proceedings 

that led to the adoption. Its role as adoption finder is demonstrated by the provision 

requiring Mr. Stern to pay another $7,500 if he uses Mary Beth Whitehead again as 

a surrogate, and by ICNY's agreement to òcoordinate arrangements for the adoption 

of the child by the wife.ó The surrogacy agreement requires Mrs. Whitehead to 

surrender Baby M f or the purposes of adoption. The agreement notes that Mr. and 

Mrs. Stern wanted to have a child, and provides that the child be òplacedó with Mrs. 

Stern in the event Mr. Stern dies before the child is born. The payment of the $10,000 

occurs only on surrend er of custody of the child and òcompletion of the duties and 

obligationsó of Mrs. Whitehead, including termination of her parental rights to 

facilitate adoption by Mrs. Stern. As for the contention that the Sterns are paying 

only for services and not for a n adoption, we need note only that they would pay 

nothing in the event the child died before the fourth month of pregnancy, and only 

$1,000 if the child were stillborn, even though the òservicesó had been fully rendered. 

Additionally, one of Mrs. Whitehead 's estimated costs, to be assumed by Mr. Stern, 

was an òAdoption Fee,ó presumably for Mrs. Whitehead's incidental costs in 

connection with the adoption.  

 Mr. Stern knew he was paying for the adoption of a child; Mrs. Whitehead 

knew she was accepting money  so that a child might be adopted; the Infertility Center 

knew that it was being paid for assisting in the adoption of a child.  

 The prohibition of our statute is strong. Violation constitutes a high 

misdemeanor, a third -degree crime, carrying a penalty of  three to five years 

imprisonment.  

 (2) The termination of Mrs. Whitehead's parental rights, called for by the 

surrogacy contract and actually ordered by the court, fails to comply with the 

stringent requirements of New Jersey law. [The court notes that un der the law a birth 

motherõs rights can be terminated only upon surrender to a State-designated agency 

after certain procedural steps are followed, or upon a showing that the parent is 

manifestly unfit and would actually be a danger to the child. As the su rrender was 

made in a contract and not to a State -designated agency, and Mrs. Whitehead had 

not been found unfit, her parental rights had not been validly terminated despite the 

contract.]  

 Since the termination was invalid, it follows, as noted above, tha t adoption of 

Melissa by Mrs. Stern could not properly be granted.  
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 The trial court required a "best interests" showing as a condition to granting 

specific performance of the surrogacy contract. Having decided the "best interests" 

issue in favor of the St erns, that court's order included, among other things, specific 

performance of this agreement to surrender custody and terminate all parental 

rights.  

 The trial court's award of specific performance therefore reflects its view that 

the consent to surrende r the child was irrevocable. We accept the trial court's 

construction of the contract; indeed it appears quite clear that this was the parties' 

intent. Such a provision, however, making irrevocable the natural mother's consent 

to surrender custody of her c hild in a private placement adoption, clearly conflicts 

with New Jersey law.  

 Contractual surrender of parental rights is [prohibited] in our statutes as now 

written. [The court at this point describes the prohibition contained in the New Jersey 

Parentage Act in more detail.]  

Public Policy Considerations  

 The surrogacy contract's invalidity, resulting from its direct conflict with the 

above statutory provisions, is further underlined when its goals and means are 

measured against New Jersey's public policy.  The contract's basic premise, that the 

natural parents can decide in advance of birth which one is to have custody of the 

child, bears no relationship to the settled law that the child's best interests shall 

determine custody. The fact that the trial cour t remedied that aspect of the contract 

through the "best interests" phase does not make the contractual provision any less 

offensive to the public policy of this State.  

 The surrogacy contract guarantees permanent separation of the child from one 

of its n atural parents. Our policy, however, has long been that to the extent possible, 

children should remain with and be brought up by both of their natural parents. That 

was the first stated purpose of the previous adoption act: òit is necessary and 

desirable t o protect the child from unnecessary separation from his natural parents.ó 

While not so stated in the present adoption law, this purpose remains part of the 

public policy of this State. This is not simply some theoretical ideal that in practice 

has no meaning. The impact of failure to follow that policy is nowhere better shown 

than in the results of this surrogacy contract. A child, instead of starting off its life 

with as much peace and security as possible, finds itself immediately in a tug -of-war 

between contending mother and father. 5  

                                            

 5 [By the court] And the impact on the natural parents, Mr. Stern and Mrs. Whitehead, is 

severe and dramatic. The depth of their conflict  about Baby M, about custody, visitation, about the 

goodness or badness of each of them, comes through in their telephone conversations, in which each 

tried to persuade the other to give up the child. The potential adverse consequences of surrogacy are 

poignantly captured here -- Mrs. Whitehead threatening to kill herself and the baby, Mr. Stern begging 

her not to, each blaming the other. The dashed hopes of the Sterns, the agony of Mrs. Whitehead, their 

suffering, their hatred ñall were caused by the unrave ling of this arrangement.  
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 The surrogacy contract violates the policy of this State that the rights of 

natural parents are equal concerning their child, the father's right no greater than 

the mother's. ôThe parent and child relationship extends equally to every child and to 

every parent, regardless of the marital status of the parents.ó N.J.  STAT . ANN . § 9:17-

40. The whole purpose and effect of the surrogacy contract was to give the father the 

exclusive right to the child by destroying the rights of the mother.  

 The policies expressed in our comprehensive laws governing consent to the 

surrender of a child, stand in stark contrast to the surrogacy contract and what it 

implies. Here there is no counseling, independent or otherwise, of the natural mothe r, 

no evaluation, no warning.  

 The only legal advice Mary Beth Whitehead received regarding the surrogacy 

contract was provided in connection with the contract that she previously entered 

into with another couple. Mrs. Whitehead's lawyer was referred to h er by the 

Infertility Center, with which he had an agreement to act as counsel for surrogate 

candidates. His services consisted of spending one hour going through the contract 

with the Whiteheads, section by section, and answering their questions. Mrs. 

Whi tehead received no further legal advice prior to signing the contract with the 

Sterns.  

 Mrs. Whitehead was examined and psychologically evaluated, but if it was for 

her benefit, the record does not disclose that fact. The Sterns regarded the evaluation 

as important, particularly in connection with the question of whether she would 

change her mind. Yet they never asked to see it, and were content with the 

assumption that the Infertility Center had made an evaluation and had concluded 

that there was no dange r that the surrogate mother would change her mind. From 

Mrs. Whitehead's point of view, all that she learned from the evaluation was that 

òshe had passed.ó It is apparent that the profit motive got the better of the Infertility 

Center. Although the evaluat ion was made, it was not put to any use, and 

understandably so, for the psychologist warned that Mrs. Whitehead demonstrated 

certain traits that might make surrender of the child difficult and that there should 

be further inquiry into this issue in connect ion with her surrogacy. To inquire further, 

however, might have jeopardized the Infertility Center's fee. The record indicates that 

neither Mrs. Whitehead nor the Sterns were ever told of this fact, a fact that might 

have ended their surrogacy arrangement.   

 Under the contract, the natural mother is irrevocably committed before she 

knows the strength of her bond with her child. She never makes a totally voluntary, 

informed decision, for quite clearly any decision prior to the baby's birth is, in the 

most im portant sense, uninformed, and any decision after that, compelled by a pre -

existing contractual commitment, the threat of a lawsuit, and the inducement of a $ 

10,000 payment, is less than totally voluntary. Her interests are of little concern to 

those who controlled this transaction.  

 Although the interest of the natural father and adoptive mother is certainly 

the predominant interest, realistically the only interest served, even they are left 
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with less than what public policy requires. They know little ab out the natural mother, 

her genetic makeup, and her psychological and medical history. Moreover, not even 

a superficial attempt is made to determine their awareness of their responsibilities 

as parents.  

 Worst of all, however, is the contract's total disr egard of the best interests of 

the child. There is not the slightest suggestion that any inquiry will be made at any 

time to determine the fitness of the Sterns as custodial parents, of Mrs. Stern as an 

adoptive parent, their superiority to Mrs. Whitehead,  or the effect on the child of not 

living with her natural mother.  

 This is the sale of a child, or, at the very least, the sale of a mother's right to 

her child, the only mitigating factor being that one of the purchasers is the father. 

Almost every evil  that prompted the prohibition on the payment of money in 

connection with adoptions exists here.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 4. Compare the first paragraph of the supreme courtõs 

opinion with the story told in the trial courtõs findings of fact. To what extent does 

the way the story is framed impact the way you think about the case? Do judges have 

an audience for which they are wr iting, and if so, who is it?  

 Review Question 5. Under the heading òPublic Policy Considerations,ó the 

New Jersey Supreme Court articulates reasons not to enforce the partiesõ agreement. 

How do these policy concerns differ from those stated by the trial c ourt? What 

explains the fact that two trained and experienced opinion -writing judges reached 

such different results based on the exact same facts? Is òpublic policyó just another 

way of saying òin my opinionó? 

 

______________________ 
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Problem s 

 Donald Donor is a single, 29 -year-old former factory assembly -line worker with 

a high school education and no children. He has been out of work for just over a year 

since the factory where he was employed closed and moved overseas. Patricia 

Poorhealth is a 46 -year old vice president with an area technology company who has 

become a millionaire during the past decade. Patricia is, however, suffering from a 

kidney disease that, absent a transplant, is likely (roughly 80% statistical 

probability) to be fatal within th e next three years. Patricia has two children with her 

49-year old husband Harold ñdaughter Alicia, age 8, and son Barney, age 5.  

 Donald has been selling plasma at a local blood bank to make ends meet. 

During a recent visit, he agreed, in exchange for a $2 0 bonus, to be tested for organ 

donor compatibility. As it happens, Donald has two healthy kidneys and his 

physiology is compatible with Patricia for purposes of a transplant. Accordingly, 

Patricia has contacted Donald and offered to pay him $100,000 plus all medical 

expenses in exchange for donating a kidney to her. Though he has a few misgivings 

about surgery, Donald is pleased at the prospect of earning this money, more than he 

has seen in one place his entire life. For her part, Patricia canõt restrain herself from 

tears of joy at the prospect of living long enough to raise her children to adulthood.  

Problem 2 .1 

 If the opinion of the New Jersey trial court in the Baby M case represents 

controlling law in your jurisdiction, would the contract be contempl ated by Donald 

and Patricia be enforceable? Why or why not? How, if at all, would your answer 

change if the New Jersey Supreme Courtõs Baby M  opinion  is the controlling law of 

your jurisdiction?  

Problem 2 .2 

 Regardless of your answers to Problem 2.1 , assume now that Donald and 

Patriciaõs agreement is an enforceable contract. If, one month after signing the 

contract, one of the parties decides to breach, what would the remedy be for the non -

breaching party? Consider the discussion of remedies in both of the  Baby M opinions 

as you formulate your answer.  

 

______________________ 
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An Introduction  to 

CONTRACT FORMATION 
 

 Did the Parties Consent? A contract is, put simply, an agreement between two 

or more private parties creating obligations that the law will enforce . Unlike 

obligations imposed under criminal law and tort law ñwhich generally do not depend 

on whether you have agreed to be bound to the rules ñthe obligations in contract law 

are, at least in theory, voluntary. That is, you are bound to do a certain thing not 

because the law makes everyone to do it, but because you personally have promised 

another person to do it. Thus, it is usually important in analyzing contract questions 

to determine what the parties agreed to do for each other. That agreement becomes 

consent to be bound. Most of the time, this isnõt much of a problem. When you hit the 

òbuyó button on a screen or hand over money to a cashier, one could easily to assume 

that you are intending to buy some sort particular good or service, that the seller 

in tends you to have it, and that both of you expect to be bound. Generally the 

transaction goes on perfectly well. Similarly, in a real estate purchase, there are 

extensive written documents that are signed by both parties, often with legal counsel 

involved.  When two parties have signed òon the dotted lineó to the same piece of 

paper, it is not hard to find agreement.  

 Transactions are, however, sometimes not that simple or that formal. 

Sometimes the alleged contract has been formed through the exchange of 

communications, but there is no one single moment when both parties seem to be 

agreeing on exactly the same thing at exactly the same time. In the modern world, 

such situations occur with some frequency. We therefore need some way to determine 

if the communi cations exchanged by the parties demonstrate sufficient agreement 

that will (if supported by consideration) create an enforceable contract. This part of 

contract law is often called òformationó or òoffer and acceptance.ó 

 

______________________ 
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Unit 3 
__________________________________________________________________ 

CONTRACT FORMATION 
Part One  

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Mutual Assent  

 

 In a dispute alleging breach of contract, sometimes the parties do not agree 

that there was any agreement at all. Such claims can arise from the fact that 

language, while usually reliable, is not always a perfect means of communication. 

Conduct intended to  indicate one thing may be taken to indicate something very 

different. People negotiating a transaction may come from different backgrounds, 

possess different information, have different understandings, or use words in 

different ways. Anyone who has ever b een compelled in a discussion to exclaim, òBut 

thatõs not what I meant!ó can understand this problem. 

 Subjective or Objective Understanding? But the problem in using òagreeó or 

òconsentó is that human beings in general (and judges and juries in particular) are 

not good at reading minds. As in ordinary affairs, they usually try to determine what 

someone intended by looking at what they said and did. 1 The earliest American 

contract cases, for example, seemed completely uninterested in what parties 

themselves thought about the transaction. In cases like Murray v. Bethune , 1 Wend. 

191 (N.Y. 1828), courts held that a partyõs subjective understanding of the deal was 

actually irrelevant to the question whether he had reached an agreement. Indeed, a 

party  was not even permitted to testify at trial as to what he understood  a contract 

to mean. òThe mere understanding of one of the parties to the agreement,ó said the 

Murray  court, òwithout such understanding having been communicated or assented 

to by the othe r party, could not be given in evidence in order to make out the contract 

or agreement between them.ó  

 Continental European Influence. This refusal to consider what the parties 

actually thought might seem harsh. If contracts are to be voluntary obligation s, 

shouldnõt it be relevant that a party really did not understand that had agreed to a 

                                            
 1 [Consider an extreme case in a criminal law setting. I f A shoots B six times in the back with 

a revolver, yelling òGood riddance, sucker! óñand then reloads before firing six more shots at B, we 

can infer  that A intended to kill B. We would not need any extra evidence of his actual mental thoughts 

in order to reach our conclusion. ñEds.]  
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particular obligation? In Europe, influenced particularly by French jurisprudence, 

the answer began to be (at least sometimes) òyes.ó And just as French philosophy had 

influenced Americaõs founding generation, French legal thinkersñparticularly  

Robert Joseph Pothier 2ñbegan to influence American law with what came to be 

called the òwilló theory of contract. The will theory (the term itself is a later invention, 

but it is  accurate enough) held that obligations had to be knowingly and voluntarily 

assumed before they were binding. Some early signs of this appear when some 

American courts, such as the New York judges in Mactierõs Administrators v. Frith, 

6 Wend. 103 (N.Y. 1830), introduce the idea of a necessary òmeeting of the mindsó of 

the two parties.  

 The Peerless British Influence. American developments were pushed farther 

down this road by changes brewing on the other side of the Atlantic. In the 19th 

century, Great Brit ain was the worldõs greatest commercial empire, and London was 

the legal center of the commercial world. Notwithstanding the American Revolution 

and independence of the United States, British cases remained highly influential in 

American courts for well ov er a century due to the two countriesõ shared common-law 

heritage. Toward the end of the American Civil War, the British Court of Exchequer 

announced its decision in a case called Raffles v. Wichelhaus , 159 Eng. Rep. 375 

(Exch. 1864), which had enormous im pact on both sides of the Atlantic.  

 In Raffles , a cotton buyer in England contracted with a seller in India to 

purchase a load of cotton. The contract provided that the cotton would shipped òex 

Peerlessóñthat is, in the terminology of the day, aboard a sh ip called the Peerless. In 

one of the strangest coincidences in legal history ñmost likely unknown to the parties 

at a time before telegraph communication was available ñit turned out that there 

were two ships called Peerless in India, both of which were goi ng to be carrying cotton 

to England, one sailing from India in October and one sailing in December. When the 

December Peerless arrived, the seller tried to deliver the cotton it carried to the buyer, 

but the buyer refused to take it, claiming he had meant the cotton on the October 

Peerless. Since the buyer had never communicated to the seller which Peerless he 

meant, a rule like the one in Murray v. Bethune  presumably would have made the 

buyerõs testimony irrelevant. But the British court held otherwise. Where the parties 

had differing interpretations of such an important matter, decided the court, and 

neither knew of the otherõs interpretation, there was simply no contract. The buyer 

was not liable to take the goods. The Peerless case was cited with approva l by many 

treatise writers in Britain and the United States, and it began to make its way into 

American law.  

                                            
 2 [Pothier, of whom you may never have heard, is one of 23 great legal thinkers (from Moses 

and Hammurabi to Thomas Jefferson a nd George Masonñwhose marble portraits line the chamber of 

the U.S. House of Representatives. ñEds.]  
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 As you read the cases below, try to determine whether the outcome is based on 

what the parties thought ( subjective agreement), what they said and did (objective 

agreement), or both.  

 

Cases and Materials  
 

STONG v. LANE  

Supreme Court of Minnesota  

66 Minn. 94, 68 N.W. 765 (1896)  

 

MITCHELL, J.  

 While the amount in controversy is small, the principle involved is important. 

The facts are practically undisputed.  

 The plaintiff being desirous of purchasing a lot as a site for a dwelling, a 

mutual acquaintance of the parties pointed out to plaintiff a lot which he said 

defendant had for sale. The lot thus pointed out fronted east on Third Avenue south, 

being the second lot north from Franklin Avenue, in Minneapolis. The party was 

mistaken. The lot which defendant had for sale (as agent for the owner) was the one 

directly opposite on the other side of Third Avenue, being the side òJudge Jonesõ house 

is on.ó This lot fronted west. It was also the second lot north from Franklin Avenue, 

but, as already stated, on the opposite side of Third Avenue from the one pointed out 

to plaintiff. Thereupon plaintiff went to see defendant. The precise words by which 

he opened negotiations do not clearly appear, but their substance was that plaintiff 

either asked defendant if he had for sale a lot on Third Avenue south, or stated that 

a lot had been pointed out to him by this mutual acquaintance as one that defendant 

had for  sale, and inquired the price. The evidence is undisputed that defendant told 

plaintiff that he had for sale the lot on Third Avenue south, being the second lot north 

of Franklin Avenue, and òon the same side of the street that Judge Jonesõ house was 

on.ó Nothing was said as to whether the lot fronted east or west. It is undisputed that 

Judge Jonesõ house is on the east side of Third Avenue, and hence that a lot on that 

side would front west.  

 Without defendantõs giving any further or more definite description of the lot, 

and without plaintiff making any further inquiry as to its description and location, 

the plaintiff proceeded to negotiate as to price. The result was a verbal bargain of sale 

and purchase for $2,500, of which plaintiff paid down $100, the b alance to be paid 

when the title was ascertained to be satisfactory, and upon defendantõs procuring the 

proper deed. Very soon afterwards, plaintiff discovered that the lot described in it was 

not the lot which had been pointed out to him, and which he sup posed he was buying. 

He then informed the defendant of his mistake, and demanded back his $100, which 

defendant refused to pay, but tendered a deed which plaintiff refused to accept, and 

then brought this action to recover back the $100.  
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 The evidence is u ndisputed that plaintiff was laboring under an honest 

mistake, and supposed he was buying the lot which had been pointed out to him. It 

is also undisputed that defendant was equally honest in supposing he was selling the 

lot on the other side of the street , and that he had no notice of plaintiffõs mistake. It 

will be observed that the description of the two lots was the same, except the reference 

to the òside of the street that Judge Jonesõ house was on,ó which was applicable to the 

lot defendant had for sa le, but inapplicable to the one which plaintiff supposed he was 

buying. It is familiar law that an honest mistake of one of the parties may be good 

ground for refusing specific performance, and leaving the other party to his action for 

damages, while it wo uld be no ground for a rescission of the contract. But the question 

here is whether, upon the facts, plaintiff is entitled to a rescission, for that is, in effect, 

what he is asking for in seeking to recover the $ 100.  

 Undoubtedly, in order to create a co ntract, the minds of the parties must meet 

and agree upon the expressed terms of the contract. Thus, in Rupley v. Daggett , 74 

Ill. 351, one party offered to sell a horse for $165; the other party understood him to 

say $65. It was held that there was no con tract. To the same head may be referred 

cases where a person, by mistake, enters into a different kind of agreement from that 

which he intended to make or supposed he was making; as where he signed a bond 

supposing it to be a mere petition, or which he sup posed he was signing merely as a 

witness. To the same general principle may be referred those cases where, after the 

parties have apparently agreed to the terms of a contract, it is made to appear that 

there was a latent ambiguity in an essential word, by which one of the parties meant 

one thing, and the other a different thing, the essential word being applicable to both. 

See Raffles v. Wichelhaus, 159 Eng. Rep. 375 (Exch. 1864);  3 Kyle v. Kavanagh , 103 

Mass. 356 (1869). 

 Had the parties, in their contract, deliberately agreed on a formal description 

of its subject -matter, the mere fact that plaintiff was mistaken as to the lot to which 

that description applied, and had in mind another lot of a different description, would 

be no ground for a rescission. But in this case, while the description given by the 

defendant was probably sufficient in law to identify the property, it was an unusual 

and exceedingly informal one, and one very liable to be misunderstood. It was in one 

sense incomplete, for on its face it did not appear on which side of the street Judge 

Jonesõ house was, which was the only thing contained in the description to distinguish 

the one lot from the other. The other elements of the description being common to 

both lots, and the plaintiff naturally assuming that the lot referred to was the one 

that had been pointed out to him, the reference to Judge Jonesõ house was not 

calculated to make any particular impression on his mind, as being a material part 

                                            
 3 [Wait a minute , isnõt Raffles v. Wichelhaus  the influential old English case that we mentioned 

in the introduction to this unit? It is! Might there be s ome coherent purpose or plan for what we want 

you to learn here? Could be! You might want to be on the lookout for logical òthreadsó like this one 

throughout this casebook. ðEds.] 
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of the descri ption. Again, the description given by the defendant was never expressly 

agreed to by the plaintiff. So far as it could be said to have been assented to at all, it 

was so only impliedly, by plaintiffõs proceeding to negotiate as to price, which he 

evidentl y did supposing that the lot to which defendant alluded was the one which 

had been pointed out to him on the ground. Therefore, under the particular facts of 

this case, it may be fairly said that the minds of the parties never really met or agreed 

on the w ords or the terms of the contract, and hence that there never was any binding 

agreement.  

 Order affirmed.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 1.  Is the decision in Stong v. Lane based on an objective lack 

of agreement, and subjective lack of agreement, or both? Are you sure that you 

understand the difference?  
 

 Review Question 2.  The court uses the phrase òlatent ambiguityó in to describe 

the situation where two parties have different understandings about a contract term. 

What exactly is the a mbiguity in this case, and why is it òlatentó? What kind of 

ambiguity is not òlatentó? 

______________________ 

 

 

OSWALD v. ALLEN  

United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit  

417 F.2d 43 (2d Cir. 1969)  

MOORE, Circuit Judge:  

 Dr. Oswald, a coin coll ector from Switzerland, was interested in Mrs. Allen's 

collection of Swiss coins. In April of 1964 Dr. Oswald was in the United States and 

arranged to see Mrs. Allen's coins. The parties drove to the Newburgh Savings Bank 

of Newburgh, New York, where two o f her collections referred to as the Swiss Coin 

Collection and the Rarity Coin Collection were located in separate vault boxes. òAfter 

examining and taking notes on the coins in the Swiss Coin Collection, Dr. Oswald 

was shown several valuable Swiss coins f rom the Rarity Coin Collection. He also took 

notes on these coins and later testified that he did not know that they were in a 

separate òcollection.ó The evidence showed that each collection had a different key 

number and was housed in labeled cigar boxes.   

 On the return to New York City, Dr. Oswald sat in the front seat of the car 

while Mrs. Allen sat in the back with Dr. Oswaldõs brother, Mr. Victor Oswald, and 

Mr. Cantarella of the Chase Manhattan Bankõs Money Museum, who had helped 

arrange the meeting and served as Dr. Oswaldõs agent. Dr. Oswald could speak 

practically no English and so depended on his brother to conduct the transaction. 
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After some negotiation a price of $50,000 was agreed upon. Apparently the parties 

never realized that the references to òSwiss coinsó and the òSwiss Coin Collectionó 

were ambiguous. The trial judge found that Dr. Oswald thought the offer he had 

authorized his brother to make was for all of the Swiss coins, while Mrs. Allen thought 

she was selling only the Swiss Coin Coll ection and not the Swiss coins in the Rarity 

Coin Collection.  

 On April 8, 1964, Dr. Oswald wrote to Mrs. Allen to òconfirm my purchase of 

all your Swiss coins (gold, silver and copper) at the price of $50,000.ó The letter 

mentioned delivery arrangements through Mr. Cantarella. In response Mrs. Allen 

wrote on April 15, 1964, that òMr. Cantarella and I have arranged to go to Newburgh 

Friday, April 24.ó This letter does not otherwise mention the alleged contract of sale 

or the quantity of coins sold. On Apri l 20, realizing that her original estimation of the 

number of coins in the Swiss Coin Collection was erroneous, Mrs. Allen offered to 

permit a reexamination and to undertake not to sell to anyone else. Dr. Oswald cabled 

from Switzerland to Mr. Alfred Barth  of the Chase Manhattan Bank, giving 

instruction to proceed with the transaction. Upon receiving the cable, Barth wrote a 

letter to Mrs. Allen stating Dr. Oswald's understanding of the agreement and 

requesting her signature on a copy of the letter as a òmere formality.ó Mrs. Allen did 

not sign and return this letter. On April 24, Mrs. Allenõs husband told Barth that his 

wife did not wish to proceed with the sale because her children did not wish her to do 

so.  

 Appellant attacks the conclusion of the Court below that a contract did not 

exist since the minds of the parties had not met. The opinion below states:  

 Plaintiff believed that he had offered to buy all Swiss coins owned 

by the defendant while defendant reasonably understood the offer which 

she accepted to relate to those of her Swiss coins as had been segregated 

in the particular collection denominated by her as the òSwiss Coin 

Collection.ó 

285 F. Supp. 488, 492 (S.D.N.Y. 1968). The trial judge based his decision upon his 

evaluation of the credibilit y of the witnesses, the records of the defendant, the values 

of the coins involved, the circumstances of the transaction and the reasonable 

probabilities. Such findings of fact are not to be set aside unless òclearly erroneous.ó 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 52(a). Ther e was ample evidence upon which the trial judge could rely 

in reaching this decision.  

 In such a factual situation the law is settled that no contract exists. The 

Restatement of Contracts in section 71(a) adopts the rule of Raffles v. Wichelhaus ,4 

159 Eng. Rep. 375 (Ex. 1864). Professor Young states that rule as follows:  

                                            
 4 [Look, itõs that case about the two ships named Peerless, again. We were not lying when we 

called it influential. This unit really does have a pattern to it that you can figure out you if you pay 

attention. By the way, donõt think weõre always going to be this helpful in pointing out this sort of stuff 
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When any of the terms used to express an agreement is ambivalent, and 

the parties understand it in different ways, there cannot be a contract 

unless one of them should have been aware of t he other's understanding.  

William Young, Equivocation in Agreements , 64 COLUM . L.  REV . 619, 621 (1964). Even 

though the mental assent of the parties is not requisite for the formation of a contract 

(see Comment to Restatement of Contracts § 71 (1932)), the facts found by the trial 

judge clearly place this case within the small group of exceptional cases in which 

there is òno sensible basis for choosing between conflicting understandings.ó Young, 

supra , 64 COLUM . L.  REV . at 647. The rule of Raffles v. Wichelhaus  is applicable here.  

 Affirmed.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 3.  Oswald refers to section 71 of the original (sometimes 

later called òFirstó) Restatement of Contracts. The Restatement (Second) of Contracts 

phrases things a little differently in its section 20. Review that provision. Assume 

that it governs the facts in both Stong and Oswald. How would you analyze these 

cases under section 20? What results would you get from each case and w hy? You 

may also wish to consult sections 18 and 19 while considering these questions.  

______________________ 

 

 

LUCY v. ZEHMER  

Supreme Court of Virginia  

196 Va. 493; 84 S.E.2d 516 (1954) 

 

BUCHANAN, J., delivered the opinion of the court.  

 This suit was instituted by W.O. Lucy and J.C. Lucy, complainants, against 

A.H. Zehmer and Ida S. Zehmer, his wife, defendants, to have specific performance of 

a contract by which it was alleged the Zehmers had sold to W.O. Lucy a tract of land 

owned by A.H. Zehmer in D inwiddie county containing 471.6 acres, more or less, 

known as the Ferguson farm, for $50,000. J.C. Lucy, the other complainant, is a 

brother of W.O. Lucy, to whom W.O. Lucy transferred a half interest in his alleged 

purchase. 

 The instrument sought to be enforced was written by A.H. Zehmer on 

December 20, 1952, in these words: òWe hereby agree to sell to W.O. Lucy the 

Ferguson Farm complete for $50,000.00, title satisfactory to buyer,ó and signed by 

the defendants, A.H. Zehmer and Ida S. Zehmer.  

                                            
to you. Learning to figure  these things out for themselves is one of the reasons good lawyers are 

successful, so make the most of your chances to practice. ðEds.] 
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 The answer of A.H. Zehmer admitted that at the time mentioned W.O. Lucy 

offered him $50,000 cash for the farm, but that he, Zehmer, considered that the offer 

was made in jest; that so thinking, and both he and Lucy having had several drinks, 

he wrote out òthe memorandumó quoted above and induced his wife to sign it; that he 

did not deliver the memorandum to Lucy, but that Lucy picked it up, read it, put it 

in his pocket, attempted to offer Zehmer $5 to bind the bargain, which Zehmer refused 

to accept, and realizing for the first time that Lucy was serious, Zehmer assured him 

that he had no intention of selling the farm and that the whole matter was a joke. 

Lucy left the premises insisting that he had purchased the farm.  

 Depositions were taken and the decree appealed  from was entered holding that 

the complainants had failed to establish their right to specific performance, and 

dismissing their bill. The assignment of error is to this action of the court.  

 W.O. Lucy, a lumberman and farmer, thus testified in substance: He had 

known Zehmer for fifteen or twenty years and had been familiar with the Ferguson 

farm for  ten years. Seven or eight years ago he had offered Zehmer $20,000 for the 

farm which Zehmer had accepted, but the agreement was verbal and Zehmer backed 

out. On the night of December 20, 1952, around eight oõclock, he took an employee to 

McKenney, where Z ehmer lived and operated a restaurant, filling station and motor 

court. While there he decided to see Zehmer and again try to buy the Ferguson farm. 

He entered the restaurant and talked to Mrs. Zehmer until Zehmer came in. He asked 

Zehmer if he had sold th e Ferguson farm. Zehmer replied that he had not. Lucy said, 

òI bet you wouldnõt take $50,000 for that place.ó Zehmer replied, òYes, I would too; 

you wouldnõt give fifty.ó Lucy said he would and told Zehmer to write up an agreement 

to that effect. Zehmer to ok a restaurant check and wrote on the back of it, òI do hereby 

agree to sell to W.O. Lucy the Ferguson Farm for $50,000 complete.ó Lucy told him 

he had better change it to òWeó because Mrs. Zehmer would have to sign it too. 

Zehmer then tore up what he had  written, wrote the agreement quoted above and 

asked Mrs. Zehmer, who was at the other end of the counter ten or twelve feet away, 

to sign it. Mrs. Zehmer said she would for $50,000 and signed it. Zehmer brought it 

back and gave it to Lucy, who offered him  $5 which Zehmer refused, saying, òYou 

donõt need to give me any money, you got the agreement there signed by both of us.ó  

 The discussion leading to the signing of the agreement, said Lucy, lasted thirty 

or forty minutes, during which Zehmer seemed to do ubt that Lucy could raise 

$50,000. Lucy suggested the provision for having the title examined and Zehmer 

made the suggestion that he would sell it òcomplete, everything there,ó and stated 

that all he had on the farm was three heifers.  

 Lucy took a partly filled bottle of whiskey into the restaurant with him for the 

purpose of giving Zehmer a drink if he wanted it. Zehmer did, and he and Lucy had 

one or two drinks together. Lucy said that while he felt the drinks he took he was not 

intoxicated, and from the  way Zehmer handled the transaction he did not think he 

was either.  
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 December 20 was on Saturday. Next day Lucy telephoned to J.C. Lucy and 

arranged with the latter to take a half interest in the purchase and pay half of the 

consideration. On Monday he eng aged an attorney to examine the title. The attorney 

reported favorably on December 31 and on January 2 Lucy wrote Zehmer stating that 

the title was satisfactory, that he was ready to pay the purchase price in cash and 

asking when Zehmer would be ready to c lose the deal. Zehmer replied by letter, 

mailed on January 13, asserting that he had never agreed or intended to sell.  

 Mr. and Mrs. Zehmer were called by the complainants as adverse witnesses. 

Zehmer testified in substance as follows:  

 He bought this fa rm more than ten years ago for $11,000. He had had twenty -

five offers, more or less, to buy it, including several from Lucy, who had never offered 

any specific sum of money. He had given them all the same answer, that he was not 

interested in selling it. O n this Saturday night before Christmas it looked like 

everybody and his brother came by there to have a drink. He took a good many drinks 

during the afternoon and had a pint of his own. When he entered the restaurant 

around eight -thirty Lucy was there and he could see that he was òpretty high.ó He 

said to Lucy, òBoy, you got some good liquor, drinking, ainõt you?ó Lucy then offered 

him a drink. òI was already high as a Georgia pine, and didnõt have any more better 

sense than to pour another great big slug o ut and gulp it down, and he took one too.ó  

 After they had talked a while Lucy asked whether he still had the Ferguson 

farm. He replied that he had not sold it and Lucy said, òI bet you wouldnõt take 

$50,000.00 for it.ó Zehmer asked him if he would give $50,000 and Lucy said yes. 

Zehmer replied, òYou havenõt got $50,000 in cash.ó Lucy said he did and Zehmer 

replied that he did not believe it. They argued òpro and con for a long time,ó mainly 

about òwhether he had $50,000 in cash that he could put up right then and buy that 

farm.ó Finally, said Zehmer, Lucy told him if he didnõt believe he had $50,000, òyou 

sign that piece of paper here and say you will take $50,000.00 for the farm.ó He, 

Zehmer, òjust grabbed the back off of a guest check thereó and wrote on the back of 

it. At that point in his testimony Zehmer asked to see what he had written to òsee if 

I recognize my own handwriting.ó He examined the paper and exclaimed, òGreat balls 

of fire, I got ôFirgersonõ for Ferguson. I have got satisfactory spelled wrong. I donõt 

recognize that writing if I would see it, wouldnõt know it was mine.ó 

 After Zehmer had, as he described it, òscribbled this thing off,ó Lucy said, òGet 

your wife to sign it.ó Zehmer walked over to where she was and she at first refused to 

sign but did so after he told her that he òwas just needling him [Lucy], and didnõt 

mean a thing in the world, that I was not selling the farm.ó Zehmer then òtook it back 

over there and I was still looking at the dern thing. I had the drink right there by my  

hand, and I reached over to get a drink, and he said, ôLet me see it.õ He reached and 

picked it up, and when I looked back again he had it in his pocket and he dropped a 

five dollar bill over there, and he said, ôHere is five dollars payment on it.õ I said, ôHell 
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no, that is beer and liquor talking. I am not going to sell you the farm. I have told you 

that too many times before.õó 

 Mrs. Zehmer testified that when Lucy came into the restaurant he looked as if 

he had had a drink. When Zehmer came in he took a drink out of a bottle that Lucy 

handed him. She went back to help the waitress who was getting things ready for 

next day. Lucy and Zehmer were talking but she did not pay too much attention to 

what they were saying. She heard Lucy ask Zehmer if he had so ld the Ferguson farm, 

and Zehmer replied that he had not and did not want to sell it. Lucy said, òI bet you 

wouldnõt take $50,000 cash for that farm,ó and Zehmer replied, òYou havenõt got 

$50,000 cash.ó Lucy said, òI can get it.ó Zehmer said he might form a company and 

get it, òbut you havenõt got $50,000.00 cash to pay me tonight.ó Lucy asked him if he 

would put it in writing that he would sell him this farm. Zehmer then wrote on the 

back of a pad, òI agree to sell the Ferguson Place to W.O. Lucy for $50,000.00 cash.ó 

Lucy said, òAll right, get your wife to sign it.ó Zehmer came back to where she was 

standing and said, òYou want to put your name to this?ó She said òNo,ó but he said in 

an undertone, òIt is nothing but a joke,ó and she signed it.  

 On examina tion by her own counsel she said that her husband laid this piece 

of paper down after it was signed; that Lucy said to let him see it, took it, folded it 

and put it in his wallet, then said to Zehmer, òLet me give you $5.00,ó but Zehmer 

said, òNo, this is liquor talking. I donõt want to sell the farm, I have told you that I 

want my son to have it. This is all a joke.ó Lucy then said at least twice, òZehmer, you 

have sold your farm,ó wheeled around and started for the door. He paused at the door 

and said, òI will bring you $50,000 tomorrow. * * * No, tomorrow is Sunday. I will 

bring it to you Monday.ó She said you could tell definitely that he was drinking and 

she said to her husband, òYou should have taken him home,ó but he said, òWell, I am 

just about as ba d off as he is.ó 

 The defendants insist that the evidence was ample to support their contention 

that the writing sought to be enforced was prepared as a bluff or dare to force Lucy 

to admit that he did not have $50,000; that the whole matter was a joke; th at the 

writing was not delivered to Lucy and no binding contract was ever made between 

the parties.  

 It is an unusual, if not bizarre, defense. When made to the writing admittedly 

prepared by one of the defendants and signed by both, clear evidence is required to 

sustain it.  

 In his testimony Zehmer claimed that he òwas high as a Georgia pine,ó and 

that the transaction òwas just a bunch of two doggoned drunks bluffing to see who 

could talk the biggest and say the most.ó That claim is inconsistent with his attempt 

to testify in great detail as to what was said and what was done. It is contradicted by 

other evidence as to the condition of both parties, and rendered of no weight by the 

testimony of his wife that when Lucy left the restaurant she suggested t hat Zehmer 

drive him home. The record is convincing that Zehmer was not intoxicated to the 
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extent of being unable to comprehend the nature and consequences of the instrument 

he executed, and hence that instrument is not to be invalidated on that ground. 17  

C.J.S., Contracts , § 133b at 483; Taliaferro v. Emery ,98 S.E. 627 (Va. 1919). It was in 

fact conceded by defendantsõ counsel in oral argument that under the evidence 

Zehmer was not too drunk to make a valid contract.  

 The evidence is convincing also that  Zehmer wrote two agreements, the first 

one beginning òI hereby agree to sell.ó Zehmer first said he could not remember about 

that, then that òI donõt think I wrote but one out.ó Mrs. Zehmer said that what he 

wrote was òI hereby agree,ó but that the òIó was changed to òWeó after that night. The 

agreement that was written and signed is in the record and indicates no such change. 

Neither are the mistakes in spelling that Zehmer sought to point out readily 

apparent.  

 The appearance of the contract, the fact t hat it was under discussion for forty 

minutes or more before it was signed; Lucyõs objection to the first draft because it was 

written in the singular, and he wanted Mrs. Zehmer to sign it also; the rewriting to 

meet that objection and the signing by Mrs. Zehmer; the discussion of what was to be 

included in the sale, the provision for the examination of the title, the completeness 

of the instrument that was executed, the taking possession of it by Lucy with no 

request or suggestion by either of the defendan ts that he give it back, are facts which 

furnish persuasive evidence that the execution of the contract was a serious business 

transaction rather than a casual, jesting matter as defendants now contend.  

 On Sunday, the day after the instrument was signed on Saturday night, there 

was a social gathering in a home in the town of McKenney at which there were 

general comments that the sale had been made. Mrs. Zehmer testified that on that 

occasion as she passed by a group of people, including Lucy, who were tal king about 

the transaction, $50,000 was mentioned, whereupon she stepped up and said, òWell, 

with the high -price whiskey you were drinking last night you should have paid more. 

That was cheap.ó Lucy testified that at that time Zehmer told him that he did not 

want to òstickó him or hold him to the agreement because he, Lucy, was too tight and 

didnõt know what he was doing, to which Lucy replied that he was not too tight; that 

he had been stuck before and was going through with it. Zehmerõs version was that 

he said to Lucy: òI am not trying to claim it wasnõt a deal on account of the fact the 

price was too low. If I had wanted to sell $50,000.00 would be a good price, in fact I 

think you would get stuck at $50,000.00.ó A disinterested witness testified that what 

Zehmer said to Lucy was that òhe was going to let him up off the deal, because he 

thought he was too tight, didnõt know what he was doing. Lucy said something to the 

effect that ôI have been stuck before and I will go through with it.õó  

 If it be assum ed, contrary to what we think the evidence shows, that Zehmer 

was jesting about selling his farm to Lucy and that the transaction was intended by 

him to be a joke, nevertheless the evidence shows that Lucy did not so understand it 

but considered it to be a  serious business transaction and the contract to be binding 
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on the Zehmers as well as on himself. The very next day he arranged with his brother 

to put up half the money and take a half interest in the land. The day after that he 

employed an attorney to e xamine the title. The next night, Tuesday, he was back at 

Zehmerõs place and there Zehmer told him for the first time, Lucy said, that he wasnõt 

going to sell and he told Zehmer, òYou know you sold that place fair and square.ó 

After receiving the report fr om his attorney that the title was good he wrote to Zehmer 

that he was ready to close the deal.  

 Not only did Lucy actually believe, but the evidence shows he was warranted 

in believing, that the contract represented a serious business transaction and a g ood 

faith sale and purchase of the farm.  

 In the field of contracts, as generally elsewhere, òWe must look to the outward 

expression of a person as manifesting his intention rather than to his secret and 

unexpressed intention. ôThe law imputes to a person an intention corresponding to 

the reasonable meaning of his words and acts.õó First National Exchange Bank v. 

Roanoke Oil Co ., 192 S.E. 764, 770 (Va. 1934).  

 At no time prior to the execution of the contract had Zehmer indicated to Lucy 

by word or act th at he was not in earnest about selling the farm. They had argued 

about it and discussed its terms, as Zehmer admitted, for a long time. Lucy testified 

that if there was any jesting it was about paying $50,000 that night. The contract and 

the evidence show that he was not expected to pay the money that night. Zehmer said 

that after the writing was signed he laid it down on the counter in front of Lucy. Lucy 

said Zehmer handed it to him. In any event there had been what appeared to be a 

good faith offer and a  good faith acceptance, followed by the execution and apparent 

delivery of a written contract. Both said that Lucy put the writing in his pocket and 

then offered Zehmer $5 to seal the bargain. Not until then, even under the defendantsõ 

evidence, was anythi ng said or done to indicate that the matter was a joke. Both of 

the Zehmers testified that when Zehmer asked his wife to sign he whispered that it 

was a joke so Lucy wouldnõt hear and that it was not intended that he should hear. 

 The mental assent of the parties is not requisite for the formation of a contract. 

If the words or other acts of one of the parties have but one reasonable meaning, his 

undisclosed intention is immaterial except when an unreasonable meaning which he 

attaches to his manifestations is known to the other party. Restatement of the Law 

of Contracts § 71 (1932). The law, therefore, judges of an agreement between two 

persons exclusively from those expressions of their intentions which are 

communicated between them. WILLIAM L.  CLARK , LAW OF CONTRACTS  § 3 at 4 (1931). 

 An agreement or mutual assent is of course essential to a valid contract but 

the law imputes to a person an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of 

his words and acts. If his words and acts, judged by a reasonable  standard, manifest 

an intention to agree, it is immaterial what may be the real but unexpressed state of 

his mind. 17 C.J.S., Contracts  § 32 at 361; 12 AM . JUR., Contracts  § 19 at 515. So a 
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person cannot set up that he was merely jesting when his conduct and words would 

warrant a reasonable person in believing that he intended a real agreement.  

 Whether the writing signed by the defendants and now sought to be enforced 

by the complainants was the result of a serious offer by Lucy and a serious acceptance 

by the defendants, or was a serious offer by Lucy and an acceptance in secret jest by 

the defendants, in either event it constituted a binding contract of sale between the 

parties.  

 The complainants are entitled to have specific performance of the contract s 

sued on. The decree appealed from is therefore reversed and the cause is remanded 

for the entry of a proper decree requiring the defendants to perform the contract in 

accordance with the prayer of the bill.  

 Reversed and remanded.  

______________________ 

 Review Question 4.  In both Stong and Oswald , the parties did not understand 

their respective proposed deals in the same way. What, if anything, is different about 

the situation in Lucy v. Zehmer that leads to a different result?  

______________________ 

AUGSTEIN v. LESLIE  

United States District Court for the Southern District of New York  

11 Civ. 7512 (HB), 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 149517 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 17, 2012)  

 

HAROLD BAER, JR., U.S.D.J.  

 Armin Augstein brought this action to collect a reward from Ryan Les lie upon 

the return of Leslieõs stolen laptop computer. The laptop was stolen and recovered in 

Germany and returned to Leslie in New York.  

 Leslie is a musician. While on tour in Germany, Leslieõs laptop computer, 

external hard drive, and certain other bel ongings were stolen. The laptop contained 

valuable intellectual property, including music and videos related to Leslieõs records 

and performances. In videos, news articles, and online postings, Leslie stated that he 

would pay $20,000 ñlater increased to $1 million ñto anyone who returned his 

property. After Augstein returned the laptop and hard drive, Leslie refused to pay 

the reward because, Leslie alleges, the intellectual property for which he valued the 

laptop was not present on the hard drive when it was  returned. Leslie claims that he 

and several staff members tried to access the data on the hard drive but were unable 

to do so. Leslie sent the hard drive to the manufacturer, Avastor, which ultimately 

deleted the information prior to sending Leslie a repl acement. Augstein now argues 

the Court should grant him summary judgment on the issues of the validity of the 
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offer and of the reward and its subsequent acceptance and performance by Augstein 

when he returned the laptop to the police in Germany.  

 Augstein argues that Leslie made an offer of a reward for the return of his 

property and that Augstein accepted and fully performed when he presented the 

property to the police in Germany. Leslie responds that a reasonable person would 

not have understood the menti on of the reward to be an offer of a unilateral contract, 

but instead would have understood it to be an advertisement ñin essence, an 

invitation to negotiate. And even if it was an offer, Leslie continues, Augstein did not 

perform because he did not return the intellectual property, only the physical 

property. Whether or not the external hard drive, which was subsequently destroyed 

by Avastor, contained Leslieõs intellectual property is a heavily disputed issue in this 

case. 

 A district court may not grant s ummary judgment if there exists a genuine 

issue of material fact. For summary judgment purposes, a genuine issue exists where 

the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could decide in the non -moving partyõs 

favor. òAn offer is the manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain, so made 

as to justify another person in understanding that his assent to that bargain is invited 

and will conclude it.ó Restatement (Second) of Contracts Ä 24 (1981). To evaluate the 

legitimacy of this offer, the court should  consider òwhat an objective, reasonable 

person would have understood [Leslieõs conduct] to convey.ó Leonard v. PepsiCo, Inc ., 

88 F. Supp. 2d 116, 127 (S.D.N.Y. 1999).  

Leslie mentioned the $20,000 reward for the return of his property in a YouTube 

video on October 24, 2010. In the video, Leslie says, òI am offering a reward of 

$20,000.ó See also òRyan Leslie Gets His Laptop Stolen in Germany! Offering $20,000 

Reward,ó YouTube (Oct. 26, 2010):  

 [ht tps://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YvVPjZ -wvkE ].  

 He also implied that the lost property was worth much more than $20,000. On 

November 6, 2010, a video was posted increasing the reward to $1,000,000. At the 

end of the video, a message reads, òIn the interest of retrieving the invaluable 

intellectual property contained on his laptop & hard drive, Mr. Leslie has increased 

the reward offer from $20,000 to $1,000,000 USD.ó RyanLeslieTV, òRyan Leslieñ

European Tour and Reward Announcement,ó YouTube (Nov. 6, 2010): 

  [https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F8Jf0huEyNU ].  

The increase of the reward was publicized on Leslieõs Facebook and Twitter accounts, 

including a post on Twitter which read, òIõm absolutely continuing my Euro tour + I 

raised the reward for my intellectual property to $1mm" and included a link to the 

video on YouTube. News organizations also published reports on Leslieõs reward offer, 

both in print and online. Finally, Leslie was interviewed on MTV o n November 11, 

2010, and reiterated the $1,000,000 reward, saying òI got a million dollar reward for 

anybody that can return all my intellectual property to me.ó 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YvVPjZ-wvkE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F8Jf0huEyNU
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 Leslieõs videos and other activities together are best characterized as an offer 

for a reward . Leslie òsought to induce performance, unlike an invitation to negotiate 

[often an advertisement], which seeks a reciprocal promise.ó Leonard , 88 F. Supp. 2d 

at 125 (discussing Carlill v. Carbolic Smoke Ball Co ., [1892] 1 Q.B. 256 (Eng.)). Offers 

of reward are òintended to induce a potential offeree to perform a specific action." Id . 

at 126. A reasonable person viewing the video would understand that Leslie was 

seeking the return of his property and that by returning it, the bargain would be 

concluded. The increase of the reward from $20,000 to $1,000,000, the value of the 

property lost (in particular the unreleased album) and the news reports regarding 

the reward offer would lead a reasonable person to believe that Leslie was making an 

offer. As such, the video constitutes a valid offer and summary judgment is granted 

as to that issue. ò[I]f a person chooses to make extravagant promises . . . he probably 

does so because it pays him to make them, and, if he has made them, the extravagance 

of the promises is no reason in law why he should not be bound by them.ó Id . at 125 

(quoting Carbolic Smoke Ball , 1 Q.B. at 268 (Bowen, L.J.)).  

 Leslie attempts to persuade the court that the video is not an offer but an 

advertisement. Because advertisements, Leslie argues, are not generally considered 

offers, there is no contract. He cites Leonard v. PepsiCo , where the court did find an 

advertisement rather than an offer, to support that argument. 1 However, unlike the 

television commercial in Leonard, Leslieõs conduct in this case was meant to induce 

performance. Leslie was not seeking a promise from an individual who would return 

his belongings, rather he was seeking performance ñthe actual return of his property. 

In addition, his videos and other commentary cannot be reasona bly understood as an 

invitation to negotiate because, similarly, Leslie was not soliciting help in finding his 

property, but the actual return itself. Leslie also relies on the fact that the offer was 

conveyed over YouTube (a website where many advertiseme nts and promotional 

videos are shared, along with any number of other types of video) to undermine the 

legitimacy of the offer. I do not find this reasoning persuasive. The forum for 

conveying the offer is not determinative, but rather, the question is whe ther a 

reasonable person would have understood that Leslie made an offer of a reward. I 

conclude that they would.  

 Augsteinõs motion for summary judgment is GRANTED insofar as he seeks a 

declaration that the reward was an offer.  

______________________ 

 Review Question 5.  The Augstein court uses the term òunilateral contract.ó 

What does that mean and how does it differ from a òbilateral contractó? Look up both 

terms and make sure you would be able to explain their meanings to a classmate or 

                                            
 1 [Take note of this Leonard case, as you will be reading it quite soon. ð Eds.]  
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your professor. You will come across one or both of these terms in many contracts 

cases, so you might as well know what the courts are talking about.  

 Review Question 6. The first three cases in this unit ( Stong, Oswald , and 

Lucy ) all involve situations in which the parti es seem to have reached at least some 

kind of agreement about something. Is that the issue in Augstein ? Did the parties 

argue that they were mistaken about what they agreed to, or that they never agreed 

at all?  

_____________________ 

Problems  

 
Problem 3.1 

 Tyson is a major American producer of fresh frozen chicken. Männliches Huhn 

GmbH (MHG) is a German supplier of chicken to restaurants and fast -food 

establishments in Europe. After some telephone discussions between Tysonõs offices 

in Little Rock and MHGõs offices in Frankfurt, MHG orally agrees to buy 100,000 lbs. 

of fresh frozen chicken from Tyson, to be packed in cryovac and delivered to MHG in 

Germany. Tyson sends a memorandum of the offer to MHG as an invoice describing 

the product as òUS Fresh Frozen C hicken, Grade A, Government Inspected, 

Eviscerated, each chicken individually wrapped in Cryovac, packed suitable for 

export.ó When the chicken arrived at MHG, however, the company rejected it, saying 

that the chickens delivered were cheap òstewing chickensóñthat is, chickens suitable 

only for things like soup and pot pies ñrather than more expensive òfryingó chickens 

which are suitable for cooking and barbecuing in restaurants. The chicken as 

delivered was useless to MHG. Tyson sued, claiming that it had a contract to deliver 

òchicken,ó and that the birds delivered were, in fact, òchickens.ó  

 Is there a contract between the parties? If so, is it for stewing chickens or frying 

chickens? Based on what you have learned in this unit, what would you expect the 

arguments for both sides to be?  

 

 
Problem 3.2 

 Jay the owner of an automobile body shop, has a 1962 Chevrolet Corvette 

convertible, all original and beautifully restored. His neighbor, Zeke, a very well -to-

do investment banker, has long coveted the car and  over the years has repeatedly 

asked Jay if he would sell. Jay has always refused. In early March Jay learns that 

his wife, Vera, has been having an affair with Zeke. Jay does not want a divorce, but 

he wants revenge. Jay purchases a rather beat -up 1994 Corvette for $3,500. 

Pretending that he is ignorant of the affair, Jay has a conversation with Zeke.  
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 òYou know, Zeke,ó he says, òIõm really torn about the Corvette.ó   

 òWhat about it?ó says Zeke. 

 òWell,ó says Jay, òbusiness has been off at the shop with this recession, and a 

lot of my investments are down. You know, the economy and everything.ó 

 òOf course,ó says Zeke. òThings are tough.ó 

 òThey sure are. Fact is, though, much as I donõt want to, Iõve got a Corvette I 

donõt need, and some ready cash would be very helpful.ó 

 òYou mean, you want to sell your Corvette?ó 

 òI donõt really want to. But you know how it is.ó 

 òSure,ó says Zeke, who really doesnõt, since his investment bank paid him a 

hefty bonus this year. But he says, òHow much are you asking?ó 

 Jay hesitates. òI hadnõt really decided on it.ó 

 òWell, if it will help you out Iõll give you $65,000 for it, right now,ó says Zeke. 

 Jay shakes his head. òThanks. I appreciate that. But Iõm not sure I really want 

to sell. The cash is tempting, but  . . . . ò He breaks off. 

 òBut what?ó 

 òI want to think it over. Itõs a tough decision.ó 

 òTell you what,ó says Zeke. òIõll give you $70,000 right now.ó He pulls out a 

checkbook. òRight now,ó he repeats. òThatõs a very good offer, you know.ó 

 òI know.ó Jay hesitates again. òActually, I feel like Iõm taking advantage of you 

at that price.ó 

 Zeke waves a hand. òDonõt worry about me. I can afford it. The investment 

banking business is still going strong.ó He grins and takes out a pen. òI can write the 

check right now . Itõs good. You can get the cash tomorrow morning.ó 

 Jay agrees. Zeke writes the check. Jay insists on filling out a bill of sale, 

specifying the price and a Vehicle Identification Number of 299492033218. He tells 

Zeke that the Corvette (and the title doc ument) is down at Jayõs shop, getting a new 

wax polishing, and that Zeke can pick it up tomorrow.  

 The next day Zeke goes to Jayõs shop and is handed the keys and the signed 

title to the freshly polished but still rather battered 1994 Corvette. He is furio us. He 

charges into Jayõs office, but Jay just laughs at him. Jay had cashed the check first 

thing in the morning and has already pocketed the proceeds. Zeke threatens all sorts 

of dire things.  

 òYou bought a Corvette,ó says Jay. He picks up the bill of sale. òYou got a 

Corvette. Itõs VIN 299492033218, exactly what it says on the bill of sale and on the 
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car title youõre holding there. Itõs not my problem if you donõt look at what you sign.ó 

Jay grins happily. òI think maybe you paid a little too much for it,ó he says, òBut as 

you said, you can afford it. Iõm sure Vera is worth it. Have a really nice day, Zeke.ó 

 Zeke subsequently sues Jay, demanding the 1962 Corvette or a refund of his 

money. Is there a contract between the parties? If so, is it for the 19 62 Corvette or the 

1994 Corvette? Be prepared to make arguments on behalf of both Zeke and Jay when 

considering this problem.  

 
 
Problem 3.3 

 Walker is the owner of Rose, a registered purebred polled Angus descended 

from a long line of highly regarded stock . He buys her for breeding purposes, for which 

purpose she is worth about $10,000. After a few years and various veterinary 

examinations, Walker determines that Rose is infertile. Accordingly, he sells Rose, 

whom he believes is barren, to Sherwood for $500 ñessentially her value as meat. 

They sign a contract that Walker will deliver Rose this coming Thursday. On the 

morning set for delivery, Walker discovers that Rose is, in fact, with calf. He refuses 

to deliver her, claiming that neither party intended thi s to be a transaction for a 

breeding cow. Sherwood demands Rose.  

 When Walker continues to refuse, Sherwood sues. Did the parties have a 

contract or not? What would you expect the two sides to argue regarding that issue?  

 

 

_____________________ 

  



 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
UNIT 4: OFFERS TO CONTRACT   55 

Unit 4 
__________________________________________________________________ 

CONTRACT FORMATION 
Part Two 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Offers to Contract  

 

FOCUS OF THIS UNIT  
 

 Formation in Steps or All at Once? How are contracts formed? Historically, 

most of them tended to be made in one of three ways: a face -to-face agreement 

followed by a handshake, a meeting at which a cont ract document that had been 

prepared in advance was signed by the parties, or an exchange of correspondence 

through physical mail ñòsnail mailó as many of you might know itñor (later) 

telegrams.  

 In the handshake and contemporaneous -signature situations, the questions of 

who first proposed the exchange and w ho said what during the discussion are largely 

irrelevant. The important facts are the substance of the final terms agreed to by the 

parties. Using modern terminology, we can think of these as òsynchronousó 

transactions, because the creation of the agreeme nt takes place in real time with the 

contracting parties having a largely simultaneous experience.  

 The Place of Offer and Acceptance. In the third situation, however, where 

the parties are sending communications back and forth in an òasynchronousó 

transac tion, a potential problem arises. Suppose A sent a letter proposing to sell 

Blackacre to B for $500,000, and B sent a letter in response. We have to put the two 

together and see if there is an agreement. In this case we would ask whether A made 

an offer in  his letter, and whether Bõs letter in return accepted the offer. To answer 

that question we would have to define what an òofferó and an òacceptanceó are for 

purposes of contract law. If Aõs letter is not an òofferó in the legal sense, then there is 

no contract no matter what B wrote. If Aõs letter is an offer, but Bõs response is not 

an òacceptanceó in the legal sense, there is (again) no contract. In this kind of 

asynchronous transaction we need, legally speaking, an offer and  an acceptance. In 

this analy sis, A (the person making the offer) is called the offeror , and B (the recipient 

of the offer) is the offeree.  
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In the modern world, the question of who made the offer and who made the 

acceptance is often irrelevant because the existence of mutual assent i s so clear. 

When you carry the goods to the checkout counter, or click the òbuyó button on a web 

site, or buy a burger at a fast -food window, or haggle with your friend about buying 

her car, the question of whether you are the offeror or offeree in such tr ansactions 

makes little difference. Yet while issues of offer -and-acceptance are relatively 

unimportant in some transactions, they are critical in others ñespecially in a world 

in which parties deal with each other at great distances. You need think back on ly to 

Augsberg v. Leslie, in the last unit, to recall the argument that Ryan Leslieõs internet 

pleas were not offers.  

 Asynchronous Contracts.  The issue of contracts entered into by exchanges of 

communications at a distance is a comparatively new thing in  the many centuries of 

the common law. Until there were reliable means of exchanging communications (the 

post and the telegraph) and recipients who could actually read, contracts were rarely 

formed at a distance. In the rapidly industrializing 19th century , however, such 

contracts began appearing with some frequency. One obvious question was how the 

minds of two parties can meet if they are not acting at the same time. As commerce 

in England was more advanced than that in the young United States, English co urts 

often dealt with these issues before their American counterparts, and their decisions 

had a substantial impact.  

 Another important point addressed in Augsberg v. Leslie is the idea that a 

public offer of a reward is (in the legal sense) an offer ñas Mr . Leslie discovered. This 

rule was settled in important English cases like Williams v Carwardine , 10 E.R. 590 

(K.B. 1833). That the mere fact that the reward seems extravagant does not 

necessarily let the offeror off the hook, as another English court held  in Carlill v. 

Carbolic Smoke Ball Co ., 1 Q.B. 256 (C.A. 1892), which also held that a newspaper 

advertisement could be an offer. òIf a person chooses to make extravagant promises,ó 

wrote Lord Justice Bowen, òhe probably does so because it pays him to make them, 

and, if he has made them, the extravagance of the promises is no reason in law why 

he should not be bound by them.ó You will meet Carbolic Smoke Ball  again in the 

cases below.1 

 Offer Inviting Acceptance.  We now start with the idea of the òoffer.ó What 

kinds of statements qualify as òoffersó for purposes of contract law? As you will see, 

there are no magic words ñeverything depends on wording of the communication and 

                                            
 1 [The infamous advertisement ñwhich you can easily find online ñstated that a Ã100 òreward 

will be paid by the Carbolic Smoke Ball Company to any person who contracts the increasing epidemic 

influenza, colds, or any disease caused by taking cold, after having used the ball three times daily f or 

two weeks, according to the printed directions supplied with each ball.ó 1 Q.B. at 257. Mrs. Louisa 

Elizabeth Carlill used the vapor -emitting ball in her nose three times daily for about two months before 

she contracted the flu. Upon Carlillõs demand for £100ñequivalent to about $30,000 as these materials 

are written ñCarbolic refused to pay, claiming, among other things, that the advertisement was not 

an offer. They lost. ð Eds.]  



 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
UNIT 4: OFFERS TO CONTRACT   57 

the context in which it is made. Nevertheless, there are some basic rules and 

guideli nes which the following cases are designed to help you uncover. You may want 

to review sections 22, 24, 26, and 29 of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts in 

connection with this unit.  

 If you would like to get an idea of the bigger picture for offer and  acceptance, 

note that the Restatement devotes a whopping 47 sections to specific rules regarding 

offers (§§ 24-49), and acceptances (§§ 50-70). Spending some ti me skimming over 

these sectionsñdo not bother reading them intently quite yet ñwill give you some 

context for the issues you are likely to run across in this and the remaining units on 

contract formation.  

______________________ 

 

Cases and Materials  

LEONARD v. PEPSICO, INC.  

United States District Court for the Southern District of New York  

88 F. Supp. 2d 116 (S.D.N.Y. 1999)  

 

WOOD, U.S.D.J.:  

 Plaintiff brought this action seeking, among other things, specific performance 

of an alleged offer of a Harrier Jet, featured in a television advertisement for 

defendant's òPepsi Stuffó promotion. Defendant has moved for summary judgment 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56. For the reasons stated below, 

defendant's motion is granted.  

Background  

 Because whether the television commercial constituted an offer is the central 

question in this case, the Court will describe the commercial in detail. The 

commercial opens upon an idyllic, suburban morning, where the chirping of birds in 

sun-dappled trees welcomes a paperboy on his morning route. As the newspaper hits 

the stoop of a conventional two -story hou se, the tattoo of a military drum introduces 

the subtitle, òMONDAY 7:58 AM.ó The stirring strains of a martial air mark the 

appearance of a well -coiffed teenager preparing to leave for school, dressed in a shirt 

emblazoned with the Pepsi logo, a red -white -and-blue ball. While the teenager 

confidently preens, the military drumroll again sounds as the subtitle òT-SHIRT 75 

PEPSI POINTSó scrolls across the screen. Bursting from his room, the teenager 

strides down the hallway wearing a leather jacket. The drumro ll sounds again, as the 

subtitle òLEATHER JACKET 1450 PEPSI POINTSó appears. The teenager opens the 

door of his house and, unfazed by the glare of the early morning sunshine, puts on a 
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pair of sunglasses. The drumroll then accompanies the subtitle òSHADES 175 PEPSI 

POINTS.ó A voiceover then intones, òIntroducing the new Pepsi Stuff catalog,ó as the 

camera focuses on the cover of the catalog.  

 The scene then shifts to three young boys sitting in front of a high school 

building. The boy in the middle is inten t on his Pepsi Stuff Catalog, while the boys on 

either side are each drinking Pepsi. The three boys gaze in awe at an object rushing 

overhead, as the military march builds to a crescendo. The Harrier Jet is not yet 

visible, but the observer senses the pres ence of a mighty plane as the extreme winds 

generated by its flight create a paper maelstrom in a classroom devoted to an 

otherwise dull physics lesson.  Finally, the Harrier Jet swings into view and lands by 

the side of the school building, next to a bicy cle rack. Several students run for cover, 

and the velocity of the wind strips one hapless faculty member down to his 

underwear. While the faculty member is being deprived of his dignity, the voiceover 

announces: òNow the more Pepsi you drink, the more great stuff youõre gonna get.ó 

 The teenager opens the cockpit of the fighter and can be seen, helmetless, 

holding a Pepsi. òLooking very pleased with himself,ó the teenager exclaims, òSure 

beats the bus,ó and chortles. The military drumroll sounds a final time, as the 

following words appear: òHARRIER FIGHTER 7,000,000 PEPSI POINTS.ó A few 

seconds later, the following appears in more stylized script: òDrink PepsiñGet Stuff.ó 

With that message, the music and the commercial end with a triumphant flourish.  

 Inspir ed by this commercial, plaintiff set out to obtain a Harrier Jet. Plaintiff 

explains that he is òtypical of the ôPepsi Generationõ . . . he is young, has an 

adventurous spirit, and the notion of obtaining a Harrier Jet appealed to him 

enormously.ó Plaintiff consulted the Pepsi Stuff Catalog. The Catalog features youths 

dressed in Pepsi Stuff regalia or enjoying Pepsi Stuff accessories, such as òBlue 

Shadesó (òAs if you need another reason to look forward to sunny days.ó), òPepsi Teesó 

(òLive in õem. Laugh in õem. Get in õem.ó), òBag of Ballsó (òThree balls. One bag. No 

rules.ó), and òPepsi Phone Cardó (òCall your mom!ó). The Catalog specifies the 

number of Pepsi Points required to obtain promotional merchandise. The Catalog 

includes an Order Form which lists , on one side, fifty -three items of Pepsi Stuff 

merchandise redeemable for Pepsi Points. Conspicuously absent from the Order Form 

is any entry or description of a Harrier Jet. The amount of Pepsi Points required to 

obtain the listed merchandise ranges from  15 (for a òJacket Tattooó (òSew ôem on your 

jacket, not your arm.ó)) to 3300 (for a òFila Mountain Bikeó (òRugged. All-terrain. 

Exclusively for Pepsi.ó)). It should be noted that plaintiff objects to the implication 

that because an item was not shown in t he Catalog, it was unavailable.  

 The rear foldout pages of the Catalog contain directions for redeeming Pepsi 

Points for merchandise. These directions note that merchandise may be ordered 

òonlyó with the original Order Form. The Catalog notes that in the event that a 

consumer lacks enough Pepsi Points to obtain a desired item, additional Pepsi Points 
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may be purchased for ten cents each; however, at least fifteen original Pepsi Points 

must accompany each order.  

 Although plaintiff initially set out to collec t 7,000,000 Pepsi Points by 

consuming Pepsi products, it soon became clear to him that he òwould not be able to 

buy (let alone drink) enough Pepsi to collect the necessary Pepsi Points fast enough.ó 

Reevaluating his strategy, plaintiff òfocused for the first time on the packaging 

materials in the Pepsi Stuff promotion,ó and realized that buying Pepsi Points would 

be a more promising option. Through acquaintances, plaintiff ultimately raised about 

$700,000. 

 On or about March 27, 1996, plaintiff submitted an  Order Form, fifteen 

original Pepsi Points, and a check for $700,008.50. Plaintiff appears to have been 

represented by counsel at the time he mailed his check; the check is drawn on an 

account of plaintiffõs first set of attorneys. At the bottom of the Order Form, plaintiff 

wrote in ò1 Harrier Jetó in the òItemó column and ò7,000,000ó in the òTotal Pointsó 

column. In a letter accompanying his submission, plaintiff stated that the check was 

to purchase additional Pepsi Points òexpressly for obtaining a new Harrier jet as 

advertised in your Pepsi Stuff commercial.ó 

 On or about May 7, 1996, defendantõs fulfillment house rejected plaintiffõs 

submission and returned the check, explaining that:  

 The item that you have requested is not part of the Pepsi Stuff coll ection. 

It is not included in the catalogue or on the order form, and only catalogue 

merchandise can be redeemed under this program.  

 The Harrier jet in the Pepsi commercial is fanciful and is simply 

included to create a humorous and entertaining ad. We ap ologize for any 

misunderstanding or confusion that you may have experienced and are 

enclosing some free product coupons for your use.  

 Plaintiffõs previous counsel responded on or about May 14, 1996, as follows: 

Your letter of May 7, 1996 is totally unacceptable. We have reviewed the 

video tape of the Pepsi Stuff commercial and it clearly offers the new 

Harrier jet for 7,000,000 Pepsi Points. Our client followed your rules 

explicitly.  

This is a formal demand that you honor your commitment and make 

imm ediate arrangements to transfer the new Harrier jet to our client. If 

we do not receive transfer instructions within ten (10) business days of 

the date of this letter you will leave us no choice but to file an 

appropriate action against Pepsi.  
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 This letter  was apparently sent onward to the advertising company responsible 

for the actual commercial, BBDO New York. In a letter dated May 30, 1996, BBDO 

Vice President Raymond E. McGovern, Jr., explained to plaintiff that:  

I find it hard to believe that you are o f the opinion that the Pepsi Stuff 

commercial (òCommercialó) really offers a new Harrier Jet. The use of 

the Jet was clearly a joke that was meant to make the Commercial more 

humorous and entertaining. In my opinion, no reasonable person would 

agree with y our analysis of the Commercial.  

 On or about June 17, 1996, plaintiff mailed a similar demand letter to 

defendant.  

 The question of whether or not a contract was formed is appropriate for 

resolution on summary judgment. As the Second Circuit has recently noted, 

òSummary judgment is proper when the words and actions that allegedly formed a 

contract [are] so clear themselves that reasonable people could not differ over their 

meaning.ó Krumme v. Westpoint Stevens, Inc ., 143 F.3d 71, 83 (2d Cir. 1998)  

Defendantõs Advertisement 

Was Not an Offer  

 The general rule is that an advertisement does not constitute an offer. 

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 26, comment b, explains that:  

 Advertisements of goods by display, sign, handbill, newspaper, radio or 

televisio n are not ordinarily intended or understood as offers to sell. The same 

is true of catalogues, price lists and circulars, even though the terms of 

suggested bargains may be stated in some detail. It is of course possible to 

make an offer by an advertisemen t directed to the general public (see § 29), but 

there must ordinarily be some language of commitment or some invitation to 

take action without further communication.  

 Similarly, a leading treatise notes that:  

It is quite possible to make a definite and op erative offer to buy or sell 

goods by advertisement, in a newspaper, by a handbill, a catalog or 

circular or on a placard in a store window. It is not customary to do this, 

however; and the presumption is the other way. . . . Such advertisements 

are unders tood to be mere requests to consider and examine and 

negotiate; and no one can reasonably regard them as otherwise unless 

the circumstances are exceptional and the words used are very plain and 

clear.  

1 ARTHUR L INTON CORBIN &  JOSEPH M.  PERILLO , CORBIN ON CONTRACTS  § 2.4, at 116-

17 (rev. ed. 1993). 
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 In Mesaros v. United States , 845 F.2d 1576 (Fed. Cir. 1988), the plaintiffs sued 

the United States Mint for failure to deliver a number of Statue of Liberty 

commemorative coins that they had ordered. When demand for the coins proved 

unexpectedly robust, a number of individuals who had sent in their orders in a timely 

fashion were left empty -handed. The court began by noting the òwell-establishedó rule 

that advertisements and order forms are òmere notices and solicitations for offers 

which create no power of acceptance in the recipient.ó The spurned coin collectors 

could not maintain a breach of contract action because no contract would be formed 

until the advertiser accepted the order form and processed payment. Un der these 

principles, plaintiffõs letter of March 27, 1996, with the Order Form and the 

appropriate number of Pepsi Points, constituted the offer.  

 The exception to the rule that advertisements do not create any power of 

acceptance in potential offerees is  where the advertisement is òclear, definite, and 

explicit, and leaves nothing open for negotiation,ó in that circumstance, òit constitutes 

an offer, acceptance of which will complete the contract.ó Lefkowitz v. Great 

Minneapolis Surplus Store , 86 N.W.2d 6 89, 691 (Minn. 1957). In Lefkowitz , the court 

ruled that because plaintiff had fulfilled all of the terms of the advertisement 2 and 

the advertisement was specific and left nothing open for negotiation, a contract had 

been formed. 

 The present case is disti nguishable from Lefkowitz . First, the [Pepsi] 

commercial cannot be regarded in itself as sufficiently definite, because it specifically 

reserved the details of the offer to a separate writing, the Catalog. Second, even if the 

Catalog had included a Harrier  Jet among the items that could be obtained by 

redemption of Pepsi Points, the advertisement of a Harrier Jet by both television 

commercial and catalog would still not constitute an offer. As the Mesaros court 

explained, the absence of any words of limitat ion such as òfirst come, first served,ó 

renders the alleged offer sufficiently indefinite that no contract could be formed.  

 The Court finds, in sum, that the Harrier Jet commercial was merely an 

advertisement. The Court now turns to the line of cases upon  which plaintiff rests 

much of his argument.  

 In opposing the present motion, plaintiff largely relies on a different species of 

unilateral offer, involving public offers of a reward for performance of a specified act. 

                                            
 2 [In relevant part, the  advertisement published in a Minneapolis newspape r  in Lefkowitz 

stated:  

 1 Black Lapin Stole Beautiful, worth $139.50 ... $1.00  

 First Come First Served . 

Lefkowitz , 86 N.W.2d at  690. The Great Minneapolis Surplus Store had òrefused to sell the 

merchandise to the plaintiff ó because of a òôhouse ruleó not stated in the ad that òthe offer was intended 

for women only and sales would not be made to men .ó Id.  ð Eds.]  
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Because these cases generally involve public declarations regarding the efficacy or 

trustworthiness of specific products, one court has aptly characterized these 

authorities as òprove me wrongó cases. The most venerable of these precedents is the 

case of Carlill v. Carbolic Smoke Ball Co ., 1 Q.B. 256 (Court of Appeal, 1892), a quote 

from which heads plaintiffõs memorandum of law. 

 Other òrewardó cases underscore the distinction between typical 

advertisements, in which the alleged offer is merely an invitati on to negotiate for 

purchase of commercial goods, and promises of reward, in which the alleged offer is 

intended to induce a potential offeree to perform a specific action, often for 

noncommercial reasons. James v. Turilli , 473 S.W.2d 757 (Mo. Ct. App. 197 1), arose 

from a boast by defendant that the ònotorious Missouri desperadoó Jesse James had 

not been killed in 1882, as portrayed in song and legend, but had lived under the alias 

òJ. Frank Daltonó at the òJesse James Museumó operated by none other than 

defendant. Defendant offered $10,000 òto anyone who could prove me wrong.ó The 

widow of the outlawõs son demonstrated, at trial, that the outlaw had in fact been 

killed in 1882. On appeal, the court held that defendant should be liable to pay the 

amount offe red. 

 In the present case, the Harrier Jet commercial did not direct that anyone who 

appeared at Pepsi headquarters with 7,000,000 Pepsi Points on the Fourth of July 

would receive a Harrier Jet. Instead, the commercial urged consumers to accumulate 

Pepsi Points and to refer to the Catalog to determine how they could redeem their 

Pepsi Points. Plaintiffõs understanding of the commercial as an offer must also be 

rejected because the Court finds that no objective person could reasonably have 

concluded that the  commercial actually offered consumers a Harrier Jet.  

An Objective, Reasonable Person Would Not  

 Have Considered the Commercial an Offer  

 In evaluating the commercial, the Court must not consider defendantõs 

subjective intent in making the commercial, or p laintiffõs subjective view of what the 

commercial offered, but what an objective, reasonable person would have understood 

the commercial to convey. See Kay-R Elec. Corp. v. Stone & Weber Constr. Co ., 23 F.3d 

55, 57 (2d Cir. 1994) (òWe are not concerned with what was going through the heads 

of the parties at the time [of the alleged contract]. Rather, we are talking about the 

objective principles of contract law.ó) 

 If it is clear that an offer was not serious, then no offer has been made:  

What kind of act c reates a power of acceptance and is therefore an offer? 

It must be an expression of will or intention. It must be an act that leads 

the offeree reasonably to conclude that a power to create a contract is 

conferred. This applies to the content of the power as well as to the fact 

of its existence. It is on this ground that we must exclude  invitations to 
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deal or acts of mere preliminary negotiation, and acts evidently done in 

jest or without intent to create legal relations.  

CORBIN ON CONTRACTS  § 1.11 at 30 (emphasis added). An obvious joke, of course, 

would not give rise to a contract. See, e.g., Graves v. Northern N.Y. Pub. Co ., 22 

N.Y.S.2d 537 (App. Div. 1940) (dismissing claim to offer of $ 1000, which appeared in 

the òjoke columnó of the newspaper, to any person who could provide a commonly 

available phone number). On the other hand, if there is no indication that the offer is 

òevidently in jest,ó and that an objective, reasonable person would find that the offer 

was serious, then there may be a valid offer . See Lucy v. Zehmer, 84 S.E.2d 516, 518, 

520 (Va. 1954) (ordering specific performance of a contract to purchase a farm despite 

defendant's protestation that the transaction was done in jest as òjust a bunch of two 

doggoned drunks bluffingó). 

 Plaintiffõs insistence that the commercial appears to be a serious offer requires 

the Court to explain why the commercial is funny. Explaining why a joke is funny is 

a daunting task; as the essayist E.B. White has remarked, òHumor can be dissected, 

as a frog can, but  the thing dies in the process.ó The commercial is the embodiment 

of what defendant appropriately characterizes as òzany humor.ó 

 First, the commercial suggests, as commercials often do, that use of the 

advertised product will transform what, for most yout h, can be a fairly routine and 

ordinary experience. The military tattoo and stirring martial music, as well as the 

use of subtitles in a Courier font that scroll terse messages across the screen, such as 

òMONDAY 7:58 AM,ó evoke military and espionage thrillers. The implication of the 

commercial is that Pepsi Stuff merchandise will inject drama and moment into 

hitherto unexceptional lives. The commercial in this case thus makes the exaggerated 

claims similar to those of many television advertisements: that b y consuming the 

featured clothing, car, beer, or potato chips, one will become attractive, stylish, 

desirable, and admired by all. A reasonable viewer would understand such 

advertisements as mere puffery, not as statements of fact and refrain from 

interpre ting the promises of the commercial as being literally true.  

 Second, the callow youth featured in the commercial is a highly improbable 

pilot, one who could barely be trusted with the keys to his parentsõ car, much less the 

prize aircraft of the United St ates Marine Corps. Rather than checking the fuel 

gauges on his aircraft, the teenager spends his precious preflight minutes preening. 

The youthõs concern for his coiffure appears to extend to his flying without a helmet. 

Finally, the teenagerõs comment that flying a Harrier Jet to school òsure beats the 

busó evinces an improbably insouciant attitude toward the relative difficulty and 

danger of piloting a fighter plane in a residential area, as opposed to taking public 

transportation.  

 Third, the notion of t raveling to school in a Harrier Jet is an exaggerated 

adolescent fantasy. In this commercial, the fantasy is underscored by how the 
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teenagerõs schoolmates gape in admiration, ignoring their physics lesson. The force 

of the wind generated by the Harrier Jet  blows off one teacherõs clothes, literally 

defrocking an authority figure. As if to emphasize the fantastic quality of having a 

Harrier Jet arrive at school, the Jet lands next to a plebeian bike rack. This fantasy 

is, of course, extremely unrealistic. No  school would provide landing space for a 

studentõs fighter jet, or condone the disruption the jetõs use would cause. 

 Fourth, the primary mission of a Harrier Jet, according to the United States 

Marine Corps, is to òattack and destroy surface targets under day and night visual 

conditions.ó Manufactured by McDonnell Douglas, the Harrier Jet played a 

significant role in the air offensive of Operation Desert Storm in 1991. The jet is 

designed to carry a considerable armament load, including Sidewinder and  Maverick 

missiles. As one news report has noted, òFully loaded, the Harrier can float like a 

butterfly and sting like a bee -albeit a roaring 14 -ton butterfly and a bee with 9,200 

pounds of bombs and missiles.ó In light of the Harrier Jetõs well-documented function 

in attacking and destroying surface and air targets, armed reconnaissance and air 

interdiction, and offensive and defensive anti -aircraft warfare, depiction of such a jet 

as a way to get to school in the morning is clearly not serious even if, as  plaintiff 

contends, the jet is capable of being acquired òin a form that eliminates [its] potential 

for military use.ó 

 Fifth, the number of Pepsi Points the commercial mentions as required to 

òpurchaseó the jet is 7,000,000. To amass that number of points, one would have to 

drink 7,000,000 Pepsis (or roughly 190 Pepsis a day for the next hundred years ñan 

unlikely possibility), or one would have to purchase approximately $700,000 worth of 

Pepsi Points. The cost of a Harrier Jet is roughly $23 million dolla rs, a fact of which 

plaintiff was aware when he set out to gather the amount he believed necessary to 

accept the alleged offer. Even if an objective, reasonable person were not aware of 

this fact, he would conclude that purchasing a fighter plane for $700, 000 is a deal too 

good to be true. 

 Plaintiff argues that a reasonable, objective person would have understood the 

commercial to make a serious offer of a Harrier Jet because there was òabsolutely no 

distinction in the manneró in which the items in the commercial were presented. 

Plaintiff also relies upon a press release highlighting the promotional campaign, 

issued by defendant, in which òno mention is made by [defendant] of humor, or 

anything of the sort.ó These arguments suggest merely that the humor of the 

promotional campaign was tongue in cheek. Humor is not limited to what Justice 

Cardozo called òthe rough and boisterous joke . . . [that] evokes its own guffaws.ó In 

light of the obvious absurdity of the commercial, the Court rejects plaintiffõs argument 

that the commercial was not clearly in jest.  

 Plaintiff argues that additional discovery is necessary on the issues of whether 

and how defendant reacted to plaintiffõs òacceptanceó of their òofferó; how defendant 

and its employees understood the commerc ial would be viewed, based on test -
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marketing the commercial or on their own opinions; and how other individuals 

actually responded to the commercial when it was aired.  

 Plaintiff argues that additional discovery is necessary as to how defendant 

reacted to his òacceptance,ó suggesting that it is significant that defendant twice 

changed the commercial, the first time to increase the number of Pepsi Points 

required to purchase a Harrier Jet to 700,000,000, and then again to amend the 

commercial to state the 70 0,000,000 amount and add ò(Just Kidding).ó Plaintiff 

concludes that, òObviously, if PepsiCo truly believed that no one could take seriously 

the offer contained in the original ad that I saw, this change would have been totally 

unnecessary and superfluous.ó The record does not suggest that the change in the 

amount of points is probative of the seriousness of the offer. The increase in the 

number of points needed to acquire a Harrier Jet may have been prompted less by 

the fear that reasonable people would dem and Harrier Jets and more by the concern 

that unreasonable people would  threaten frivolous litigation.  

 Finally, plaintiffõs assertion that he should be afforded an opportunity to 

determine whether other individuals also tried to accumulate enough Pepsi Po ints to 

òpurchaseó a Harrier Jet is unavailing. The possibility that there were other people 

who interpreted the commercial as an òofferó of a Harrier Jet does not render that 

belief any more or less reasonable. The alleged offer must be evaluated on its o wn 

terms. Having made the evaluation, the Court concludes that summary judgment is 

appropriate on the ground that no reasonable, objective person would have 

understood the commercial to be an offer.  

 For the reasons stated above, the Court grants defendantõs motion for 

summary judgment. The Clerk of Court is instructed to close these cases. Any 

pending motions are moot.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 1.  The Leonard  court shoots down the plaintiff on two 

distinct grounds. You should be pre pared to articulate the difference between the two.  

 Review Question 2.  The plaintiff here sought additional time from the court 

to engage in discovery on how other people ñespecially the òPepsi Generationó targets 

of the adñinterpreted it. Judge Kimba Wood  was a 55-year-old graduate of the 

London School of Economics and Harvard Law School who had been a highly regarded 

antitrust partner at a Wall Street law firm. Was she the sort of person Pepsi expected 

would collect its Points? Why didnõt she think it relevant to take evidence on how the 

actual targets of the commercial interpreted it?  
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 Review Question 3.  Note how Judge Wood distinguishes Lucy v. Zehmer  and 

Carbolic Smoke Ball . Do you find her analysis persuasive, or should the court have 

found the Pepsi c ommercial to be an offer that Leonard accepted? Why?  

______________________ 

 

FAIRMOUNT GLASS WORKS v.  

CRUNDEN -MARTIN WOODEN WARE CO.  

Court of Appeals of Kentucky  

106 Ky. 659, 51 S.W. 196 (1899)  

HOBSON, J.  

 On April 20, 1895, appellee [Crunden -Martin] wrote  appellant [Fairmount] the 

following letter:  

     St. Louis, Mo., April 20, 1895.  

Gentlemen:  

Please advise us the lowest price you can make us on our 

order for ten car loads of Mason green jars, complete, 

with caps, packed one dozen in case, either delivered 

here, or f.o.b. cars your place, as you prefer. State 

terms and cash discount.  

Very truly,  

Crunden - Martin W. W. Co.  

To this letter appellant answered as follows:  

Fairmount, Ind., April 23, 1895.  

Crunden - Martin Wooden Ware Co.,  

St. Louis, Mo.  

Gent lemen:  

Replying to your favor of April 20th, we quote you Mason 

fruit jars, complete, in one - dozen boxes, delivered in 

East St. Louis, Ill.: Pints, $4.50; quarts, $5.00; half 

gallons, $6.50 per gross, for immediate acceptance, and 

shipment not later than May 15, 1895; sixty daysô 

acceptance, or 2 off, cash in ten days.  

Yours truly,  

Fairmount Glass Works.  
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Please note that we make all quotations and contracts 

subject to the contingencies of agencies or 

transportation, delays or accidents beyond our control.  

For reply thereto, appellee sent the following telegram on April 24, 1895:  

Fairmount Glass Works, Fairmount, Ind.:  

Your letter twenty - third received. Enter order ten car 

loads as per your quotation. Specifications mailed.  

Crunden - Martin W. W. Co.  

In response to this telegram, appellant sent the following:  

Fairmount, Ind., April 24, 1895.  

Crunden - Martin W. W. Co., St. Louis, Mo.  

Impossible to book your order. Output all sold. See 

letter.  

Fairmount Glass Works.  

 Appellee insists that, by its telegram se nt in answer to the letter of April 23, 

the contract was closed for the purchase of ten car loads of Mason fruit jars. Appellant 

insists that the contract was not closed by this telegram, and that it had the right to 

decline to fill the order at the time i t sent its telegram of April 24th. This is the chief 

question in the case. The court below gave judgment in favor of appellee, and 

appellant has appealed, earnestly insisting that the judgment is erroneous.  

 We are referred to a number of authorities holdi ng that a quotation of prices is 

not an offer to sell, in the sense that a completed contract will arise out of the giving 

of an order for merchandise in accordance with the proposed terms. There are a 

number of cases holding that the transaction is not co mpleted until the order so made 

is accepted. Smith v. Gowdy , 90 Mass. 566 (1864); Beaupre v. Pacific & Atlantic 

Telegraph Co. , 21 Minn. 155 (1874).  

 But each case must turn largely upon the language there used. In this case we 

think there was more than a quotation of prices, although appellantõs letter uses the 

word òquoteó in stating the prices given. The true meaning of the correspondence 

must be determined by reading it as a whole. Appelleeõs letter of April 20th, which 

began the transaction, did not ask for a quotation of prices. It reads: òPlease advise 

us the lowest price you can make us on our order for ten car loads of Mason green 

jars. . . . St ate terms and cash discount.ó From this appellant could not fail to 

understand that appellee wanted to know at what price it would sell it ten car loads 

of these jars; so when, in answer, it wrote: òWe quote you Mason fruit jars . . . pints 

$4.50, quarts $ 5.00, half gallons $6.50 per gross, for immediate acceptance; . . . 2 off, 
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cash in ten days,ó it must be deemed as intending to give appellee the information it 

had asked for. We can hardly understand what was meant by the words òfor 

immediate acceptance,ó unless the latter was intended as a proposition to sell at these 

prices if accepted immediately. In construing every contract, the aim of the court is 

to arrive at the intention of the parties. In none of the cases to which we have been 

referred on behalf  of appellant was there on the face of the correspondence any such 

expression of intention to make an offer to sell on the terms indicated.  

 In Fitzhugh v. Jones , 20 Va. 83 (1818), the use of the expression that the buyer 

should reply as soon as possible, in case he was disposed to accede to the terms 

offered, was held sufficient to show that there was a definite proposition, which was 

closed by the buyer's acceptance. The expression in appellant [Fairmountõs] letter, 

òfor immediate acceptance,ó taken in connection with appelleeõs letter, in effect, at 

what price it would sell it the goods, is, it seems to us, much stronger evidence of a 

present offer, which, when accepted immediately closed the contract. Appelleeõs letter 

was plainly an inquiry for the pric e and terms on which appellant would sell it the 

goods, and appellant's answer to it was not a quotation of prices, but a definite offer 

to sell on the terms indicated, and could not be withdrawn after the terms had been 

accepted. 

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 4.  Do you agree with the outcome of this case? (Courts do not 

always get things right, you know.) As the court infers, a price òquoteó is often 

considered to be more like preliminary negotiation or maybe a limited -purpose 

advertisement rath er than an offer. Fairmount specifically said òwe quote youó rather 

than òwe offer youóñso wouldnõt the more predictable and merchant -friendly  result 

be to hold that Fairmountõs statement was not  an offer? 

 Review Question 5.  Older contract formation cases , like Fairmount Glass,  

come from the world of letters and telegrams. Does the pervasiveness of e -mail and 

other instantaneous electronic communications render moot the problems with 

determining whether an offer occurred? Consider whether the next case sug gests that 

the digital world may not be that different from the earlier age.  

 

______________________ 
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KLOIAN v. DOMINOõS PIZZA, L.L.C. 

Court of Appeals of Michigan  

273 Mich. App. 449, 733 N.W.2d 766 (2006)  

 

PER CURIAM  

 On August 18, 1994, plaintiff J. Edward Kloian, doing business as Arbor 

Management Company, entered into a lease agreement with defendant Dominoõs 

Pizza, L.L.C. On May 14, 2003, plaintiff, the lessor, initiated this action against 

defendant, the lessee, alleging that defendant had breache d the lease by failing to 

pay certain amounts owing for rent, holdover rent, taxes, insurance, maintenance 

and repair costs, late fees, and other damages related to the removal of equipment.  

 In March 2005, shortly before the trial date scheduled in this m atter, the 

parties engaged in settlement discussions through their attorneys. Through a series 

of e-mail messages exchanged between plaintiffõs attorney and defendantõs attorney, 

the attorneys agreed that defendant would pay plaintiff $48,000 to settle the  lawsuit 

in exchange for a release of all possible claims. On March 18, 2005, plaintiffõs attorney 

sent an e-mail to defendantõs attorney, stating: òI confirmed with Mr. Kloian that he 

will accept the payment of $48,000 in exchange for a dismissal with pre judice of all 

claims and a release of all possible claims.ó In response, also on March 18, 2005, 

defendantõs attorney wrote: òDominoõs accepts your settlement offer.ó 

 Documents reflecting the agreement were prepared by defendantõs attorney 

and sent to pla intiffõs attorney for his review. After review of these documents, on 

March 21, 2005, plaintiffõs attorney sent an e-mail to defendantõs attorney stating: òI 

reviewed your documents and find them to be in order. However, Mr. Kloian would 

like the protectio n of a mutual release.ó On March 28, 2005, defendantõs attorney sent 

a response stating: òI have the check and Dominoõs agreement to a mutual release. I 

need to revise the prior release and get it to you.ó 

 [Plaintiff Kloian subsequently refused to sign th e settlement agreement.]  

 The trial court found that the parties had entered into a binding settlement 

agreement on March 18, 2005. The trial court issued an order enforcing the 

settlement agreement and dismissing plaintiffõs claims with prejudice. 

 Plaintiff first contends on appeal that the trial court erred in enforcing the 

settlement agreement because the parties had not reached an agreement on essential 

terms. We disagree.  

 The existence and interpretation of a contract are questions of law revie wed de 

novo. òAn agreement to settle a pending lawsuit is a contract and is to be governed 

by the legal principles applicable to the construction and interpretation of contracts.ó 

Walbridge Aldinger Co. v. Walcon Corp ., 525 N.W.2d 489 (Mich. Ct. App. 1994) . 
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òBefore a contract can be completed, there must be an offer and acceptance. Unless 

an acceptance is unambiguous and in strict conformance with the offer, no contract 

is formed.ó Pakideh v. Franklin Commercial Mortgage Group, Inc .,540 N.W.2d 777 

(Mich Ct.  App. 1995). Further, a contract requires mutual assent or a meeting of the 

minds on all the essential terms. Burkhardt v. Bailey , 680 N.W.2d 453 (Mich. Ct. App. 

2004). 

 On March 18, 2005, plaintiffõs attorney sent an e-mail to defendantõs attorney 

stating  that plaintiff would òaccept the payment of $48,000 in change [sic] for a 

dismissal with prejudice of all claims and a release as [sic] all possible claims.ó An 

attorney has the apparent authority 3 to settle a lawsuit on behalf of his or her client. 

Nelson v. Consumers Power Co., 497 N.W.2d 205 (Mich. Ct. App. 1993). The e -mail 

from plaintiffõs attorney constituted a settlement offer. òAn offer is defined as ôthe 

manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain, so made as to justify another 

person in understanding that his assent to that bargain is invited and will conclude 

it.õò Eerdmans v. Maki , 573 N.W.2d 329 (Mich. Ct. App. 1997). In response, 

defendantõs attorney sent the following e-mail to plaintiffõs attorney: 

 Dominoõs accepts your settlement offer contained in the message 

below. I spoke with the court, advised it of the settlement and confirmed 

that we need not appear in court in connection with the settlement. I 

have ordered a settlement draft from Dominoõs in the amount of $48,000, 

made payable jointly to Mr. Kloian and your firm. I will forward a 

stipulation and order for dismissal with prejudice and a release for 

approval by you and Mr. Kloian respectively. You should have them in 

the next few days. Please call with any questions. Iõm pleased we were 

able to resolve this matter without trial. - Neil  

 The e-mail from defendantõs attorney constituted an acceptance of plaintiffõs 

settlement offer. There clearly was a meeting of the minds on the essential terms of 

the agreement.  

 Affirmed.  

______________________ 

 Review Question 6.   What do you think about the possibility of a legally -

binding contract arising from an e -mail exchange? Read the prefatory note and 

sections 5 and 7 of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA) to see one 

example of a statute that deals with the possibility of a legally -operative òwritingó 

                                            
 3 [òApparent authorityó is a concept you will most likely see later in a Business Associations 

course, but for now, and in this case, it means th at lawyers ñlike you ñwill ordinarily be assumed to 

have authority to bind their  clients to an agreement.  Practice tip: make very, very sure you have the 

clientõs consent before you bind the client  to any contracts, including settlement agreements .ñEds.]  
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being in electronic form. You can find UETA in many Contracts statutory 

supplements, or you can also find it online here:  

http://www.uniformlaws.org/shared/docs/electronic%20transactions/ueta_final_99.pdf. 

We will explore issues of electronic contracting at various points in the c ourse. 

______________________ 

EVER -TITE ROOFING CORP. v. GREEN  

Court of Appeal of Louisiana, Second Circuit  

83 So. 2d 449 (1955) 

 

AYRES, J.  

 Defendants executed and signed an instrument June 10, 1953, for the purpose 

of obtaining the services of plaintiff in re -roofing their residence situated in Webster 

Parish, Louisiana. The document set out in detail the work to be done and the price 

therefor to be paid in monthly installments. This instrument was likewise signed by 

plaintiffõs sale representative, who, however, was without authority to accept the 

contract for and on behalf of the plaintiff. This alleged contract contained these 

provisions:  

This agreement shall become binding only upon written 

acceptance hereof, by the principal or authorized 

officer of t he Contractor, or upon commencing 

performance of the wor k. * * * T his written agreement is 

the only and entire contract covering the subject matter 

hereof and no other representations have been made unto 

Owner except these herein contained. No guarantee on  

repair work, partial roof jobs, or paint jobs.  

 Inasmuch as this work was to be performed entirely on credit, it was necessary 

for plaintiff to obtain credit reports and approval from the lending institution which 

was to finance said contract. With this p rocedure defendants were more or less 

familiar and knew their credit rating would have to be checked and a report made. 

On receipt of the proposed contract in plaintiffõs office on the day following its 

execution, plaintiff requested a credit report, which  was made after investigation and 

which was received in due course and submitted by plaintiff to the lending agency. 

Additional information was requested by this institution, which was likewise in due 

course transmitted to the institution, which then gave its approval.  

 The day immediately following this approval, which was either June 18 or 19, 

1953, plaintiff engaged its workmen and two trucks, loaded the trucks with the 

necessary roofing materials and proceeded from Shreveport to defendantsõ residence 

http://www.uniformlaws.org/shared/docs/electronic%20transactions/ueta_final_99.pdf
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for the purpose of doing the work and performing the services allegedly contracted 

for the defendants. Upon their arrival at defendantsõ residence, the workmen found 

others in the performance of the work which plaintiff had contracted to do. 

Defendants notif ied plaintiffõs workmen that the work had been contracted to other 

parties two days before and forbade them to do the work.  

 Formal acceptance of the contract was not made under the signature and 

approval of an agent of plaintiff. It was, however, the inte ntion of plaintiff to accept 

the contract by commencing the work, which was one of the ways provided for in the 

instrument for its acceptance, as will be shown by reference to the extract from the 

contract quoted hereinabove.  

 The basis of the judgment app ealed was that defendants had timely notified 

plaintiff before òcommencing performance of work.ó The trial court held that notice 

to plaintiffõs workmen upon their arrival with the materials that defendants did not 

desire them to commence the actual work w as sufficient and timely to signify their 

intention to withdraw from the contract. With this conclusion we find ourselves 

unable to agree.  

 Defendantsõ attempt to justify their delay in thus notifying plaintiff for the 

reason they did not know where or how  to contact plaintiff is without merit. The 

contract itself, a copy of which was left with them, conspicuously displayed plaintiffõs 

name, address and telephone number. Be that as it may, defendants at no time, from 

June 10, 1953, until plaintiffõs workmen arrived for the purpose of commencing the 

work, notified or attempted to notify plaintiff of their intention to abrogate, terminate 

or cancel the contract.  

 Defendants evidently knew this work was to be processed through plaintiffõs 

Shreveport office. The  record discloses no unreasonable delay on plaintiffõs part in 

receiving, processing or accepting the contract or in commencing the work contracted 

to be done. No time limit was specified in the contract within which it was to be 

accepted or within which t he work was to be begun. It was nevertheless understood 

between the parties that some delay would ensue before the acceptance of the contract 

and the commencement of the work, due to the necessity of compliance with the 

requirements relative to financing t he job through a lending agency. The evidence as 

referred to hereinabove shows that plaintiff proceeded with due diligence.  

 The general rule of law is that an offer proposed may be withdrawn before its 

acceptance and that no obligation is incurred thereby . This is, however, not without 

exceptions. For instance, Restatement of the Law of Contracts [section 40] 4 stated:  

                                            
 4 [The court here is citing the first Restatement of Contracts.  See section 41 of the Restatement 

(Second) of Contracts for the updated version of the quoted  section. ð Eds.]  
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(1) The power to create a contract by acceptance of an offer terminates 

at the time specified in the offer, or, if no time is specified, at the end of 

a reasonable time.  

[(2)] What is a reasonable time is a question of fact depending on the 

nature of the contract proposed, the usages of business and other 

circumstances of the case which the offeree at the time of his acceptance 

either knows or  has reason to know.  

 Therefore, since the contract did not specify the time within which it was to be 

accepted or within which the work was to have been commenced, a reasonable time 

must be allowed therefor in accordance with the facts and circumstances a nd the 

evident intention of the parties. A reasonable time is contemplated where no time is 

expressed. What is a reasonable time depends more or less upon the circumstances 

surrounding each particular case. The delays to process defendantsõ application were 

not unusual. The contract was accepted by plaintiff by the commencement of the 

performance of the work contracted to be done. This commencement began with the 

loading of the trucks with the necessary materials in Shreveport and transporting 

such material s and the workmen to defendantsõ residence. Actual commencement or 

performance of the work therefore began before any notice of dissent by defendants 

was given plaintiff. The proposition and its acceptance thus became a completed 

contract.  

 By their afores aid acts defendants breached the contract. They employed 

others to do the work contracted to be done by plaintiff and forbade plaintiffõs 

workmen to engage upon that undertaking. By this breach defendants are legally 

bound to respond to plaintiff in damage s. . . . 

 For the reasons assigned, the judgment appealed is annulled, avoided, 

reversed and set aside and there is now judgment in favor of plaintiff, Ever -Tite 

Roofing Corporation, against the defendants, G. T. Green and Mrs. Jessie Fay Green, 

for the fu ll sum of $ 311.37, with 5 per cent per annum interest thereon from judicial 

demand until paid, and for all costs.  

 Reversed and rendered.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 7.  Who made the offer here? Ever -Tite wrote the contract 

and handed it to the Greens. Why isnõt Ever-Tite the offeror?  

 Review Question 8.  Assume that you are a transactional lawyer hired to 

represent Ever -Tite Roofing Corp. by revising its form contract ñpar ticularly the 

provision quoted in this case. How do you protect your client against future versions 

of the argument raised by the Greens ñbut simultaneously protect your client from 
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accidentally being bound to unwanted contracts (as that seems to have been a concern 

of the original drafter)? Try writing out a proposed revision.  

______________________ 

Problems  

Problem 4.1 

 A vending machine in the student lounge carries several types of beverages. 

Leonard wants a beverage. On the front of the machine is a lar ge button that says 

òPepsi Cola $1.00.ó Leonard inserts the dollar and presses the button. The machine 

flashes a light that says òsold outó and does not deliver the Pepsi Cola. Instead, it 

returns Leonardõs $1 bill. Whoñif anyoneñis the offeror in this tra nsaction and who 

is the offeree? Was a contract formed between the parties? If so, was the contract 

breached? 

Problem 4.2 

 Sheldon saw the same commercial that Leonard saw in Leonard v. Pepsico, Inc.  

He wanted the Pepsi leather jacket for 1,450 Pepsi point sñwhich he could earn by 

purchasing 1,450 individual Pepsi bottles or 725 six -packs of cans. He accumulated 

the points and submitted them to Pepsi. Pepsi subsequently notified him that they 

rejected his offer for the leather jacket and returned the Pepsi P oints to him. When 

he complained, Pepsi informed him that neither its television commercial nor its 

catalogue was an òofferó and therefore no contract was ever formed. Does Sheldon 

have any contractual rights against Pepsi? Why or why not?  

 

Problem 4.3 

 Kershaw, a salt dealer in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, sent an e -mail message to 

Morton, a retailer in La Crosse who sold large amounts of rock salt:  

Date: September 19, 20XX.  

In consequence of recent disruption in the salt trade, 

we are authorized to offer Michigan rock salt, in full 

car - load lots of eight to eleven tons, delivered at your 

city, at $50 per ton, to be shipped by railcar only. At 

this price it is a bargain, as the price in general 

remains unchanged. Iôd be pleased to receive your order. 

Yours truly,  

C. J. KERSHAW & SON  
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Morton replied the next day by e -mail:  

      Date: September 20, 20XX.  

Just saw your e- mail from yesterday. Please ship me two 

thousand tons Michigan rock salt, as offered in 

yesterday. Please confirm.  

J. H. MORTON  

 The next day, Kershaw refused to supply the salt. Morton sued, arguing that 

Kershawõs letter was an offer. Based on the materials you read in this unit, was it? 

Why or why not?  

 

______________________ 
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Unit 5 
__________________________________________________________________ 

CONTRACT FORMATION 
Part Three 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Problems With Offers  

 

FOCUS OF THIS UNIT  

 

 We now knowñsee Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 24ñthat an offer is a 

statement of willingness to enter into a bargain that is made in such a  way that the 

offeree reasonably understands that if she accepts the offer, a contract will be formed. 

Thus, a statement that òI hereby offer to sell you my 1988 Ford Crown Victoria for 

$2,500,ó would clearly be an offer.  

 But how long does that offer sta y open? Remember that the offer creates a 

power in the offeree to make a binding contract. Once the offer is made, the offeror is 

to some extent at the mercy of the offeree. And most of us do not want to be on the 

hook indefinitely. Most of us understand t his inherently. If someone offered to sell 

you a house in Los Angeles for $10,000 in 1957, could you wait until 2017 to accept?  

 Nothing Lasts Forever.  As we will see, offers ñlike milk ñ eventually spoil at 

some point. Offers can be terminated in several ways. A rejection of the offer 

terminates it, as does a counter -offer. Thus:  

 THELMA: Iõll sell you my 1988 Ford Crown Victoria for $2,500. 

 LOUISE: No, thanks.  

 THELMA: Okay.  

 LOUISE: No, wait. I changed my mind. Yes.  

Here, the statement òNo, thanksó is, in legal terminology, a rejection . An offer ends 

when it is rejected. At this point there is no contract. (Of course, Thelma would be 

free to treat Louis eõs last statement as a new offer that she might accept.) Similarly: 

 THELMA: Iõll sell you my 1988 Ford Crown Victoria for $2,500. 

 LOUISE: No, but Iõll give you $2,000. 
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Here, we have a counter-offer. The counter -offer also terminates the first offer. If 

Thelma doesnõt accept the $2,000, there is no contract. Of course, if Thelma says, 

òYouõve got a deal!ó there is a contract because Thelma accepted Louiseõs counter-

offer. These are simple examples; as you will see from the cases below, things can get 

more complicated.  

 òMaster of the Offer.ó Note that it is the offeror who gets to control the content 

of the offer, to specify exactly what is wanted. We thus frequently say that the offeror 

is òmaster of the offer.ó What does that mean? It means that the offeror gets to specify 

exactly when and how the offeree must go about accepting the offer. (The issue of 

what constitutes acceptance is the subject of the next unit.) Thus, if an offer specifies 

a time that it will remain open or a time it will end, it te rminates at precisely that 

timeñassuming it hasnõt terminated earlier for some reason. As you can see from the 

following, there are several other ways that an offer can be cut off.  

 In connection with this unit, you may find it helpful to read ñor at least skim 

overñsections 30, 32, 36, 38-43, and 48 of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts.  

 

______________________ 

 

Cases and Materials  

IN RE ESTATE OF SEVERTSON  

Court of Appeals of Minnesota  

1998 Minn. App. LEXIS 243 (March 3, 1998)  

 

WILLIS, J.  

 Respondents Kathy and Mark Thorson and the decedent, Helen Severtson, 

were neighbors for approximately 14 years, during which time they became good 

friends. After Severtsonõs husband died in 1993, the Thorsons spent substantial time 

with Severtson. Kathy Thorson visite d with her almost daily when she took Severtson 

her mail. Mark Thorson did odd jobs for Severtson when needed.  

 The Thorsons had told both Severtson and her husband on several occasions 

that they would be interested in purchasing the Severtsonsõ property if they ever 

wanted to sell it. On February 16, 1996, Severtson and the Thorsons signed a typed 

document that provides:  

I, Helen Severtson, give Mark and Kathy Thorson first 

option to purchase my farmsite, all buildings, including 

the quonset home, rock qua rry, including any leased 

quarry rights, and adjoining farm land. * * * *  
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Purchase price agreed upon is $100,000, to be paid to 

Helen Severtson if living or to the Estate of Helen 

Severtson if she is deceased or incapacitated to deal 

with sale of above lis ted property.  

Any persons occupying the quonset home will vacate and 

leave property in good repair before or upon closure 

date on above property.  

There is a hand -written addendum, initialed by the parties, that provides:  

In the event that Helen Severtson should die suddenly, persons in the quonset home 
will be given three months to vacate all premises and to leave them in good repair, 
otherwise under any other conditions the above will apply. 

 Myron Danielson, another of Severtsonõs neighbors, testified that he drafted 

the typewritten portion of the document but was not actually present when the 

Thorsons or Severtson signed it. Danielson also testified that he drafted the document 

for Severtson so òthat there would be some legal document that her wishes would be 

carried outó and so there would not be litigation over the matter. 

 Severtson died on August 4, 1996. The Thorsons recorded the document with 

the Dodge County Recorder in September 1996 as an option contract. On October 17, 

1996, the Thorsons notified  Inez Breiter, the personal representative of Helen 

Severtsonõs estate, of their intent to purchase Severtsonõs property. When the estateõs 

representative disallowed their claim, the Thorsons petitioned the district court for 

relief.  

 After a hearing, the district court rejected the Thorsonsõ argument that the 

document signed by Severtson and the Thorsons is an option to purchase property, 

concluding that there was no consideration separate and distinct from a promise to 

pay the purchase price. But the cour t found that a bilateral contract for the purchase 

of land was created because (1) Severtson offered to sell her property; (2) the offer to 

sell survived her death; and (3) the Thorsons accepted the offer by notifying the 

estateõs representative of their intent to purchase. The Thorsons and the estateõs 

representative both moved the court for amended findings, and the court issued its 

amended findings of fact, conclusions of law, order, and judgment on June 30, 1997. 

The court concluded that òthe Thorsons were entitled to possession [of the property] 

within 90 days of [Severtsonõs] death or their acceptance of the offer.ó Because both 

of those dates had already passed, the court ordered that Thorsons were entitled to 

possession of the property within 90 days  after the date of its order. This appeal 

followed.  

 òThe construction and effect of a contract are questions of law for the court.ó 

Turner v. Alpha Phi Sorority House , 276 N.W.2d 63, 66 (Minn. 1979). òThe courtõs 

role in interpreting a contract is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the 
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parties.ó Metropolitan Sports Facilities Commõn v. General Mills, Inc., 470 N.W.2d 

118, 122-23 (Minn. 1991). But the cour t may only give effect to the partiesõ intent if 

that can be done consistently with established legal principles. Republic Natõl Life 

Ins. Co. v. Lorraine Realty Corp ., 279 N.W.2d 349, 354 (Minn. 1979).  

 The estateõs representative argues that the district court erred in concluding 

that Severtson offered to sell her property to the Thorsons, based on the fact that the 

document they signed gives the Thorsons a òfirst option to purchaseó the Severtson 

property. An offer is conduct that empowers an offeree to  create a contract by his or 

her acceptance. League General Ins. Co. v. Tvedt , 317 N.W.2d 40, 43 (Minn. 1982). 

Where we can ascertain the partiesõ intent from the written contract, we do not 

òremake the contractó by construing it differently. Art Goebel, I nc. v. North Suburban 

Agencies, Inc., 567 N.W.2d 511, 516 (Minn. 1997). The document signed by Severtson 

and the Thorsons recites no conditions precedent to the exercise of the Thorsonsõ òfirst 

option to purchaseó; it unambiguously manifests Severtsonõs intent to sell her 

property to the Thorsons. The district court, therefore, did not err in concluding that 

Severtson offered to sell her property to the Thorsons.  

 The estateõs representative argues that if Severtson did offer to sell her 

property, the distr ict court erred in finding that the offer did not terminate on 

Severtsonõs death. The district court relied on the Restatement (Second) of Contracts 

§ 36 (1981), which provides:  

(1) An offeree's power of acceptance may be terminated by  

 [(a) rejection or c ounter -offer by the offeree, or  

 (b) lapse of time, or  

 (c) revocation by the offeror, or]  

 (d) death or incapacity of the offeror or offeree.  

[(2) In addition, an offeree's power of acceptance is terminated by the 

non-occurrence of any condition of accept ance under the terms of the 

offer.]  

See also Cooke v. Belzer, 413 N.W.2d 623, 627 (Minn. App. 1987) (citing section 36 of 

the Restatement). Noting that section 36 states that an offerorõs death may terminate 

an offereeõs power to accept, the district court concluded that an offerorõs death does 

not automatically terminate an offer. The court found that the offer did not terminate 

here because Severtson intended her offer to remain open even if she died before it 

was accepted. But section 36 of the Restateme nt simply lists alternative methods by 

which an offereeõs power to accept is terminated, while sections 36-49 discuss the 

specific circumstances under which each method applies. Rest. 2d § 36, cmt. a. Section 

48 provides that  



 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
UNIT 5: PROBLEMS WITH OFFERS   81 

an offereeõs power of acceptance is terminated when the offeree or offeror 

dies or is deprived of legal capacity to enter into the proposed contract.  

See also Heideman v. Northwestern Natõl Life Ins. Co., 546 N.W.2d 760, 764 (Minn. 

App. 1996) (adopting section 48 of the restatement).  

 The basis for the rule is described by Professor Williston in his treatise on 

contracts:  

Assuming that the formation of a contract requires mutual mental 

assent of the parties, and offer and acceptance [are] merely evidence of 

such assent, it would be obvi ously impossible that a contract should be 

formed where either party to the transaction died before this assent was 

obtained. That such assent was formerly thought necessary seems 

probable, and as to death, this theory is still maintained. Accordingly, it 

is generally held that the death of the offeror terminates the offer.  

1 SAMUEL WILLISTON , A TREATISE ON THE LAW OF CONTRACTS  § 62 (3d ed. 1957). 

Although Severtson may have intended for her offer to survive her death, we cannot 

harmonize that intent with the established legal principle that an offer terminates 

on the death of the offeror.  

 The Thorsons cite, as did the district  court, Frederick v. Peoples State Bank of 

Madison Lake , 385 N.W.2d 11 (Minn. App. 1986). The court in Frederick , in turn, 

cites the New Jersey Superior Court for the proposition that  

where the owner of real property enters into a contract of sale and then  

dies before executing a deed * * *, the other party may enforce the 

contract against the ownerõs estate, the theory being that equitable title 

to the property vests in the vendee as soon as the contract was executed, 

subject, however, to a lien in favor o f the vendor for the unpaid purchase 

price. * * * Such contracts, therefore, are enforceable, even though one 

of the parties thereto may die before performance is had.  

Id. at 15. But because the Thorsons did not accept Severtsonõs offer before she died, 

there was no contract for sale at the time of Severtsonõs death. The issue is not 

whether a contract for sale survives Severtsonõs death, but whether her offer to enter 

into a contract for sale survives her death. Because the document signed by Severtson 

and the Thorsons is properly characterized as an offer to sell, the Thorsonsõ power to 

accept the offer terminated when Severtson died.  

 The Thorsons argue that the document should be treated as an option to 

purchase. But the district court found that it is n ot an option, and because the 

Thorsons did not raise this issue in a notice of review, it is not properly before this 
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court. See Minn. R. Civ. App. P. 106 (explaining respondentõs right to obtain review).1 

Nevertheless, we note that the record supports the  district courtõs determination that 

there was no legal consideration here separate and distinct from the promise to pay 

the purchase price. And the district court correctly concluded that without such 

consideration, the document is not an option to purcha se. See Country Club Oil Co. v. 

Lee, 58 N.W.2d 247, 250 (Minn. 1953).  

 Because the document at issue was an offer to sell that terminated on 

Severtsonõs death, the district court erred in finding that a bilateral contract for the 

purchase of real estate wa s created when the Thorsons gave the personal 

representative of Severtsonõs estate notice of their intent to purchase the Severtson 

property.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 1.  The Severtson court notes that the document signed by 

Helen was not an  òoptionó to purchase the property. Why not? What would have made 

this an enforceable option contract? You should consider section 25 of the 

Restatement (Second) of Contracts ñeven though you may not find it to be as 

enlightening as you might wish.  

 

______________________ 

 

 

PETTERSON v. PATTBERG  

Court of Appeals of New York  

248 N.Y. 86, 161 N.E. 428 (1928)  

 

KELLOGG, J.  

 [Pattberg held a mortgage of $5,450 on Pettersonõs home at 5301 Sixth Ave., 

Brooklyn, N.Y., which had five years left to run. Pattber g wrote to Petterson saying 

that if òsaid mortgage [was] paidó by Petterson òon or before May 31, 1924,ó Pattberg 

would allow Petterson to pay $780 less than the amount owed.]  

 Subsequently, on a day in the latter part of May, 1924, Petterson presented 

himself at the defendantõs home, and knocked at the door. The defendant demanded 

the name of his caller. Petterson replied: òIt is Mr. Petterson. I have come to pay off 

the mortgage.ó The defendant answered that he had sold the mortgage [to someone 

else]. Petterson stated that he would like to talk with the defendant, so the defendant 

partly opened the door. Thereupon Petterson exhibited the cash and said he was 

                                            
 1 [By the court ] The Thorsons argue that Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 37 applies to 

the document. Section 37 provides that under an option contract, the right to accept òis not . . . 

terminated . . . by death . . . of the offeror, unless the requirements are met for the discharge of a 

contractual duty.ó Because the document is n ot an option contract, section 37 does not apply.  



 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
UNIT 5: PROBLEMS WITH OFFERS   83 

ready to pay off the mortgage according to the agreement. The defendant refused to 

take the money. It, therefore, became necessary for Petterson to pay to [the new 

mortgagor] the full amount of the bond and mortgage. It is claimed that he thereby 

sustained a loss of $780, the sum which the defendant agreed to allow upon the bond 

and mortgage if payment in full of principal, less that sum, was made on or before 

May 31st, 1924. The plaintiff has had a recovery for the sum thus claimed, with 

interest.  

 Clearly the defendantõs letter proposed to Petterson the making of a unilateral 

contract, the gift of a pr omise in exchange for the performance of an act. The thing 

conditionally promised by the defendant was the reduction of the mortgage debt. The 

act requested to be done, in consideration of the offered promise, was payment in full 

of the reduced principal o f the debt prior to the due date thereof. òIf an act is 

requested, that very act and no other must be given.ó SAMUEL WILLISTON , THE LAW 

OF CONTRACTS § 73 (1927). It is elementary that any offer to enter into a unilateral 

contract may be withdrawn before th e act requested to be done has been performed. 

A bidder at a sheriffõs sale may revoke his bid at any time before the property is struck 

down to him. The offer of a reward in consideration of an act to be performed is 

revocable before the very act requeste d has been done. So, also, an offer to pay a 

broker commissions, upon a sale of land for the offeror, is revocable at any time before 

the land is sold, although prior to revocation the broker performs services in an effort 

to effectuate a sale.  

 An interes ting question arises when, as here, the offeree approaches the offeror 

with the intention of proffering performance and, before actual tender is made, the 

offer is withdrawn. Of such a case Williston says: òThe offeror may see the approach 

of the offeree and know that an acceptance is contemplated. If the offeror can say ôI 

revokeõ before the offeree accepts, however brief the interval of time between the two 

acts, there is no escape from the conclusion that the offer is terminated.ó WILLISTON , 

supra , § 60-b. In this instance Petterson, standing at the door of the defendantõs 

house, stated to the defendant that he had come to pay off the mortgage. Before a 

tender of the necessary moneys had been made the defendant informed Petterson 

that he had sold the mort gage. That was a definite notice to Petterson that the 

defendant could not perform his offered promise and that a tender to the defendant, 

who was no longer the creditor, would be ineffective to satisfy the debt. òAn offer to 

sell property may be withdrawn  before acceptance without any formal notice to the 

person to whom the offer is made. It is sufficient if that person has actual knowledge 

that the person who made the offer has done some act inconsistent with the 

continuance of the offer, such as selling the property to a third person.ó Dickinson v. 

Dodds, [1876] 2 Ch. Div. 463. To the same effect is Coleman v. Applegarth , 68 Md. 21 

(1887). 
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 Thus, it clearly appears that the defendantõs offer was withdrawn before its 

acceptance had been tendered. It is unn ecessary to determine, therefore, what the 

legal situation might have been had tender been made before withdrawal. It is the 

individual view of the writer that the same result would follow. This would be so, for 

the act requested to be performed was the co mpleted act of payment, a thing 

incapable of performance unless assented to by the person to be paid. WILLISTON , 

supra , § 60-b. Clearly an offering party has the right to name the precise act 

performance of which would convert his offer into a binding prom ise. Whatever the 

act may be until it is performed the offer must be revocable. However, the supposed 

case is not before us for decision. We think that in this particular instance the offer 

of the defendant was withdrawn before it became a binding promise,  and, therefore, 

that no contract was ever made for the breach of which the plaintiff may claim 

damages. 

 The judgment of the Appellate Division and that of the Trial Term should be 

reversed and the complaint dismissed, with costs in all courts.  

LEHMAN, J . (dissenting).  

 The promise made by the defendant was not made as a gift or mere gratuity to 

the plaintiff. It was made for the purpose of obtaining from the defendant something 

which the plaintiff desired. It constituted an offer which was to become bind ing 

whenever the plaintiff should give, in return for the defendantõs promise, exactly the 

consideration which the defendant requested.  

 Here the defendant requested no counter promise from the plaintiff. The 

consideration requested by the defendant for hi s promise to accept payment was, I 

agree, some act to be performed by the plaintiff. Until the act requested was 

performed, the defendant might undoubtedly revoke his offer. Our problem is to 

determine from the words of the letter read in the light of surr ounding circumstances 

what act the defendant requested as consideration for his promise.  

 The defendant undoubtedly made his offer as an inducement to the plaintiff to 

òpayó the mortgage before it was due. Therefore, it is said, that òthe act requested to 

be performed was the completed act of payment, a thing incapable of performance 

unless assented to by the person to be paid.ó In unmistakable terms the defendant 

agreed to accept payment, yet we are told that the defendant intended, and the 

plaintiff shoul d have understood, that the act requested by the defendant, as 

consideration for his promise to accept payment, included performance by the 

defendant himself of the very promise for which the act was to be consideration. The 

defendantõs promise was to become binding only when fully performed; and part of 

the consideration to be furnished by the plaintiff for the defendantõs promise was to 

be the performance of that promise by the defendant. So construed, the defendantõs 

promise or offer, though intended to induce action by the plaintiff, is but a snare and 

delusion. The plaintiff could not reasonably suppose that the defendant was asking 
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him to procure the performance by the defendant of the very act which the defendant 

promised to do, yet we are told that e ven after the plaintiff done all else which the 

defendant requested, the defendantõs promise was still not binding because the 

defendant chose not to perform.  

 I cannot believe that a result so extraordinary could have been intended when 

the defendant wrot e the letter. òThe thought behind the phrase proclaims itself 

misread when the outcome of the reading is injustice or absurdity.ó Surace v. Danna , 

161 N.E. 315 (N.Y. 1928) (Cardozo, C.J.). If the defendant intended to induce payment 

by the plaintiff and ye t reserve the right to refuse payment when offered he should 

have used a phrase better calculated to express his meaning than the words: òI agree 

to accept.ó A promise to accept payment, by its very terms, must necessarily become 

binding, if at all, not la ter than when a present offer to pay is made.  

 Under a fair construction of the words of the letter I think the plaintiff had 

done the act which the defendant requested as consideration for his promise. The 

plaintiff offered to pay with present intention a nd ability to make that payment.  

 The judgment should be affirmed.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 2.  The majority and the dissent in Petterson v. Pattberg do 

not  appear to disagree about the underlying rules on revocation of an offer, yet they 

have very different characterizations of what the  facts of the case actually mean for 

purposes of applying those rules. See Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 35, 42. 

Whose reading of the facts and their legal meaning do you find more persuasive, 

Judge Kelloggõs majority opinion or Judge Lehmanõs dissent? Why?  

 

______________________ 

 

CONFEDERATE MOTORS, INC. v. TERNY  

United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts  

831 F. Supp. 2d 414 (D. Mass. 2011)  

 

JUDITH GAIL DEIN , U.S.M.J.  

 This matter is before the court on Confederate Motors, Inc.õs òMotion to Enforce 

Settlement.ó By this motion, Confederate contends that it reached a settlement 

agreement with the defendant, Francois -Xavier Terny, through attorney emails. 

Terny denies that a set tlement had been reached.  

 [Confederate Motors was an American custom motorcycle manufacturer, 

whose chair was Herbert Chambers. Francois -Xavier Terny, a financier, invested in 

Confederate, was named to its board, and signed a consulting agreement to help it 
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with distribution. The parties ultimately fell out in an acrimonious dispute. Although 

the agreement with Terny contained a forum selection clause requiring all litigation 

among the parties to be brought in Massachusetts, Confederate ultimately sued 

Terny for claimed breach of contract in Alabama. Terny moved to transfer the 

litigation to Massachusetts.]  

 On December 13, 2010, Terny, through his counsel Laurence McDuff, filed a 

Motion to Enforce Forum Section Clause seeking to have the Alabama case dismi ssed, 

with leave to have Confederate refile it in Massachusetts. On December 15, 2010 the 

motion was scheduled for oral argument on January 21, 2011. Meanwhile, counsel 

for both parties had begun to explore a possible settlement. In a December 9, 2010 

emai l, Chance Turner (attorney for Confederate) proposed the following:  

We feel a reasonable solution for all parties is the mutual release of all 

existing claims, the return of the consulting shares (505,000) to the 

corporation, and one hundred and fifty thou sand dollars for fees, 

expenses and compensatory damages. I believe my client would be 

interested in accepting all corporate shares now in your clientõs 

possession in lieu of a cash payment. Please respond to this offer within 

two weeks.  

 Laurence McDuff ( attorney for Terny) replied six days later, on December 15, 

with a òcounterofferó in which Terny òwill agree to return the 505,000 shares, and 

execute mutual releases, but he is not willing to pay the monetary component of your 

offer.ó He concluded with ò[h]opefully we can work something out along these lines.ó 

Attorney Turner responded one week later, on December 22, 2010. In his email he 

wrote:  

I spoke with my client regarding your counteroffer. In the interest of 

settlement, we can reduce the monetary co mponent to one hundred 

thousand. Let me know what your client thinks.  

Attorney McDuff replied six days later, on December 28. In his email he wrote:  

Francois still is willing to return the 505,000 shares and execute mutual 

releases, but he declines to pay you any monetary component.  

Attorney Turner did not reply.  

 The litigation proceeded. Oral argument was heard on January 21, 2011 in the 

Alabama District Court. Confederate opposed the motion to enforce the forum 

selection clause. At the hearing, the court  denied the request that the action be 

dismissed, but granted the alternative relief that the case be transferred to 

Massachusetts. This was confirmed by a written order on January 24, 2011.  

 On January 24, 2011, nearly four weeks after Attorney McDuffõs last email 

regarding a possible settlement, Attorney Turner sent Attorney McDuff the following 

email:  
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 After lengthy discussions with my client, we are prepared to accept your 

last offer of settlement under the terms set forth in your last email. Please giv e 

me a call or e -mail tomorrow to discuss this issue. Thanks.  

 This was apparently in response to Attorney McDuffõs December 28th 

communication quoted above. Attorney McDuff responded on January 25, 2011, 

writing that he had òforwarded this to Francois [Terny] and will get back with you 

when I have his response.ó On January 26, 2011, Attorney McDuff followed up with 

an email to Attorney Turner stating:  

Chance, now that the case is being transferred, my client has asked me 

to let Eric Galler handle any fu rther settlement discussions. Eric is 

aware of your last offer.  

Attorney McDuff then provided Attorney Gallerõs contact information. Attorney 

Turner did not object to the characterization of his January 24th communication as 

an òoffer,ó nor did he indicate that there was no need for further òsettlement 

discussionsó since a deal had been struck. Rather, on February 3, 2011, he sent the 

following email to Attorney Galler:  

I apologize for not contacting you sooner. Iõve been in trial this week. I 

just wanted t o touch base before the case was transferred to Boston. At 

this time, we accept the last offer on 12/28/10 from Mr. Terny. There has 

been no retraction of that written offer, so I am under the impression 

that offer is still valid. Please let me know your p osition as soon as 

possible. We are experiencing a winter storm here, so I may be unable 

to get to the office tomorrow.  

No further settlement discussions took place and no draft documents were exchanged. 

Rather, on February 22, 2011, Terny filed claims aga inst Confederate and Chambers 

in this court, including claims for breach of fiduciary duty, violation of the Blue Sky 

laws, fraud, and negligent misrepresentation. In addition to seeking monetary 

damages, Terny is seeking a declaration that he is the owner  of 805,000 shares of 

Confederate. On March 14, 2011, Confederate filed the instant motion to enforce the 

settlement agreement.  

 In the formation of a contract, an offer must be matched by an acceptance. A 

counteroffer proposing a term that is materially d ifferent from that contained in the 

original offer constitutes a rejection of the offer and negates any agreement. 

Moreover, it is hornbook law that an offereeõs power of acceptance vanishes òat the 

time specified in the offer, and if no deadline is prescr ibed, at the end of a reasonable 

time.ó Mathewson , 827 F.2d at 853. See also Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 

41(1) (1981) (òAn offereeõs power of acceptance is terminated at the time specified in 

the offer, or, if no time is specified, at the end of a reasonable timeó). Finally, in order 

for an enforceable contract to exist, the parties must have reached an agreement on 
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all essential terms. See, e.g., Situation Mgmt. Sys., Inc. v. Malouf, Inc ., 724 N.E.2d 

699, 703 (Mass. 2000) (òIt is axiomatic that to create an enforceable contract, there 

must be agreement between the parties on the material terms of that contract, and 

the parties must have a present intention to be bound by that agreement.ó); Sagamore 

Ins. Co. v. Sudduth,  45 So.3d 1286, 1290 (Ala. Ct. Civ. App. 2010) (òsettlement 

agreements, like other agreements, are not valid when there has been no meeting of 

the minds with regard to the final terms of the agreementó). Application of these 

principles to the instant case compels the conclusion that the re is no enforceable 

settlement agreement.  

 Assuming, arguendo, that Attorney McDuffõs email of December 28th was a 

firm offer, it had expired before Confederate responded a month later, on January 

24th. Under the circumstances of these partiesõ interactions, the response was not 

made within a reasonable time.  

 In its initial offer, Confederate made it clear that negotiations were to proceed 

at a fairly rapid pace: thus in his December 9th email, Attorney Turner requested a 

response òwithin two weeks.ó Thereafter, the parties responded to each other in no 

more than a week, with Attorney McDuff responding on December 15, 2010, Attorney 

Turner responding on December 22, 2010 and then Attorney McDuff replying on 

December 28, 2010. Thus, the parties clearly inte nded that any response would be 

made promptly. There is no basis in the record for Confederate to have assumed that 

an offer would remain open for a month. S ee Crellin Techs., Inc. v. Equipmentlease 

Corp., 18 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 1994) (òfour months is an unreasonably long time for a 

financing offer to remain openó given òrapidly fluctuating interest ratesó so òit would 

have been thoroughly unreasonable for appellant to believe that a sale/leaseback 

proposal made in November and not then accepted would linge r on the table until the 

following Marchó). 

 Moreover, there are òno objective facts to suggestó that Confederate believed 

that the òofferó of December 28th remained open as of the time of the hearing. For 

example, on January 18, 2011 Confederate affirmati vely filed a response to the 

pending motion to enforce the forum selection clause, without indicating that the 

parties were engaged in settlement negotiations. At the oral argument on January 

21, 2011, Confederate again did not represent to the court that it was engaged in 

settlement discussions but, rather, addressed the motion on the merits. In fact, at no 

time during the period between December 28th and January 21st did Attorney 

Turner indicate that his client was considering the òoffer.ó Even after the ruling 

adverse to Confederate on January 21, 2011, Attorney Turner contends that he asked 

if òthat offer [was] still openó because his client might òreconsider its positionó as a 

result of the transfer of the case to Massachusetts. Such conduct makes it cl ear that 

Confederateõs attorney knew that there was no outstanding offer for Confederate to 

accept at the time of the Alabama courtõs ruling. 
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 For the reasons detailed herein, the Plaintiffõs Motion to Enforce Settlement, 

Docket No. 88, is DENIED.  

______________________ 

 Review Question 3.  In the case of New Headley Tobacco Warehouse Co. v. 

Gentryõs Executor, 212 S.W. 325 (Ky. Ct. App. 1948), a landlordõs offer to extend a 

lease ò[i]n the event you build within the next five years . . . an addition to your 

warehouseó remained open for about three-and-a-half years, ending when the 

landlord died. In Confederate Motors , however, the offer from December 28, 2010 

didnõt even survive a full month, given that Attorney Turnerõs January 24, 2011 

acceptance correspondence did not create a contract. How can both of these opinions 

be right? What traits did the offer in Confederate Motors  have that caused it to have 

such a short lifespan? Why, in contrast, could the offer in New Headley Tobacco 

remain open for well over t hree years? 

______________________ 

POEL v. BRUNSWICK -BALKE -COLLENDER CO.  

Court of Appeals of New York  

216 N.Y. 310, 110 N.E. 619 (1915)  

 

SEABURY, J.  

 [Poel & Arnold was a rubber importer. Brunswick was (and is) a manufacturer 

of various items made from rubber, including pool tables, bowling balls, and tires. 

The parties exchanged a series of letters, and Poel claimed that a contract was made. 

When Brunswick refused to accept the rubber, Poel sued.]  

 There are in this case four writings and upon three of them this controversy 

must be determined. They set forth with accuracy and precision the transaction 

between the parties. The oral evidence that was presented is in no way inconsistent 

with the writings, and if it were the spoken words could not be permitt ed to prevail 

over the written. The writings referred to are as follows:  

[Mr. Kelly of Poel & Arnold to Brunswick, April 2, 1910]  

 As per telephonic conversation with your Mr. Rogers to -day, this 

is to confirm having your offer of $2.42 per pound for 12 t ons Upriver 

Fine Para Rubber, for shipment either from Brazil or Liverpool, in equal 

monthly parts January to June, 1911, about which we will let you know 

upon receipt of our cable reply on Monday morning.  

 [Mr. Kelly of Poel & Arnold to Brunswick, April 4 , 1910] 
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 Enclosed, we beg to hand you contract for 12 tons Upriver Fine 

Para Rubber, as sold you today, with our thanks for the order.  

[Attached to the latter is the following:]  

Sold to You:  

For equal monthly shipments January to June, 1911, from Brazil an d/or 

Liverpool, about twelve (12) tons Upriver Fine Para Rubber at Two 

Dollars and forty -two cents ($ 2.42) per pound; payable in U. S. Gold or 

its equivalent, cash twenty (20) days from date of delivery here.  

 

[Mr. Rogers of Brunswick to Poel & Arnold, Ap ril 6, 1910; handwritten portions of 

form are italicized):  

 Please deliver at once the following, and send invoice with goods:  

About 12 tons Upriver Fine Para Rubber at 2.42 per lb.  

Equal monthly shipments January to June, 1911.  

CONDITIONS ON WHICH ABOVE ORDER IS GIVEN  

 Goods on this order must be delivered when specified. In case you 

cannot comply, advise us by return mail stating earliest date of delivery 

you can make, and await our further orders. The acceptance of this order 

which in any event you must  promptly acknowledge will be considered 

by us as a guarantee on your part of prompt delivery within the specified 

time.  

Terms F. O. B.  

[Mr. Miller of Brunswick to Poel & Arnold, J anuary 7 , 1911. 

 We beg herewith to advise you that within the past few weeks 

there has come to our attention through a statement made to us for the 

first time by Mr. Rogers, information as to certain transactions had by 

him with you in the past, and especially as to a transaction in April last 

relating to 12 tons of crude rub ber. Mr. Rogers had no authority to effect 

any such transaction on our account, nor had we any notice or knowledge 

of his action until he made a voluntary statement disclosing the facts 

within the past few weeks.  

 In order that you may not be put to any un necessary 

inconvenience, we feel bound to give you notice at the earliest 

opportunity after investigating the facts, that we shall not recognize 

these transactions or any others that may have been entered into with 

Mr. Rogers which were without our knowled ge or authority.  

 The first letter is of no legal significance, and only the other three need be 

considered. The fundamental question in this case is whether these writings 
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constitute a contract between the parties. An analysis of their provisions will sho w 

that they do not constitute a contract. The plaintiffsõ letter of April 4th is a mere offer 

or proposal by the plaintiffs that the defendant should accept the proposed contract 

enclosed which is said to embody an oral order that the defendant had that da y given 

the plaintiffs. The letter of the defendant of April 6th did not accept this offer. If the 

intention of the defendant had been to accept the offer made in the plaintiffsõ letter 

of April 4th, it would have been a simple matter for the defendant to have indorsed 

its acceptance upon the proposed contract which the plaintiffsõ letter of April 4th had 

enclosed. Instead of adopting this simple and obvious method of indicating an intent 

to accept the contract proposed by the plaintiffs the defendant submi tted its own 

proposal and specified the terms and conditions upon which it should be accepted. 

The defendantõs letter of April 6th was not an acceptance of this offer made by the 

plaintiffs in their letter of April 4th. It was a counter -offer or propositio n for a 

contract. Its provisions make it perfectly clear that the defendant (1) asked the 

plaintiffs to deliver rubber of a certain quality and quantity at the price specified in 

designated shipments; (2) it specified that the order therein given was condi tional 

upon the receipt of its order being promptly acknowledged, and (3) upon the further 

condition that the plaintiffs would guarantee delivery within the time specified. The 

plaintiffs did not acknowledge the receipt of this order and the proposal remai ned 

unaccepted. 

 As the party making this offer deemed this provision material and as the offer 

was made subject to compliance with it by the plaintiffs it is not for the court to say 

that it is immaterial. When the plaintiffs submitted this offer in their  letter of April 

4th to the defendant only one of two courses of action was open to the defendant. It 

could accept the offer made and thus manifest that assent which was essential to the 

creation of a contract or it could reject the offer. There was no mid dle course. If it did 

not accept the offer proposed it necessarily rejected it. A proposal to accept the offer 

if modified or an acceptance subject to other terms and conditions was equivalent to 

an absolute rejection of the offer made by the plaintiffs. Mactierõs Administrators v. 

Frith , 6 Wend. 103 (N.Y. 1830); Vassar v. Camp , 11 N.Y. 441 (1854); Chicago & G. E. 

Ry. Co. v. Dane, 43 N.Y. 240 (1870); Mahar v. Compton , 45 N.Y.S. 1126 (Sup. Ct. App. 

Div. 1897); Barrow Steamship Co. v. Mexican Central Ry . Co., 31 N.E. 261 (N.Y. 

1892). 

 The respondent and the courts below, while recognizing this principle of the 

law of contracts, failed to give it effect upon the theory that the conditions expressed 

in the defendantõs order of April 6th were not a part of the defendantõs offer. In 

reference to these conditions printed upon the offer of the defendant of April 6th the 

learned trial justice held that òit was never the intention that the printed matter had 

any bearing whatsoever upon the transactions.ó The learned justice writing for the 

Appellate Division said that the clause embodying this condition òwas not intended 
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to call for an acceptance particularly in view of the former transaction between the 

parties.ó 

 The view of the trial justice that the printed matter w as not intended to be a 

part of the contract rests upon his inference as to the intention of the parties. In the 

present case the printed clauses must be deemed to be a part of the order and cannot 

be eliminated therefrom by the court upon an inference as to the intention of the 

parties which is not reflected in the order or in any evidence that was received upon 

the trial. The clause requiring a prompt acknowledgment by the plaintiffs of the 

defendantõs offer as a condition to its acceptance was not in conflict with any of the 

provisions expressed in that offer either written or printed and must, therefore, be 

given effect. When the defendantõs letter of April 6th is so considered it becomes 

evident that it did not constitute an acceptance of the offer of t he plaintiffs, but was 

a new proposition for a contract upon the terms therein proposed.  

 The judgment appealed from should be reversed and a new trial granted, with 

costs to abide the event.  

WILLARD BARTLETT, C.J., and HISCOCK, COLLIN, HOGAN, and CARDOZO , JJ., 

concur; POUND, J., dissents.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 4.  Which of the pieces of correspondence described in this 

case qualified as offers? Why those and not any of the others? Defendant -buyer 

Brunswickõs letter of April 6 seems, in many respects, like an acceptance of the deal 

proposed by plaintiff -seller Poel & Arnold on April 4. What specific language in the 

April 6 letter turns it into a counteroffer rather than an acceptance?  

 Review Question 5.  Over the years, the Poel case has been criticized by many 

legal scholars. Why might they be concerned about the outcome of the case and the 

rules announced by the court? Can you see any possibility of abuse?  

 Review Question 6.  As it happens, the outcome in Poel would likely be very 

differe nt today because of changes made by the Uniform Commercial Code. You will 

run into the relevant provision, UCC § 2 -207 later in these materials, but you might 

want to look at it now. What would change in the outcome?  

 

______________________ 
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Problems  

Problem 5.1 

 Aunt Mary is a 90 -year-old woman who lives in New Hampshire. Although she 

is still active, most of her friends are dead and she has very little family left. She is 

often lonely. She is visited by her great -nephew Earle, a college freshman who lives 

in Los Angeles. She likes Earle a great deal and they get along very well. During the 

course of his stay, just before he is to return home, she says, òEarle, I donõt have many 

people left, and there wonõt be hardly anyone at my funeral. Iõd like it if youõd be 

there. Youõre my only family.ó 

 òOh, youõre not going to die for a long time, Aunt Mary,ó says Earle. 

 òNot for a while, child,ó she says, òbut the Lord takes all of us. I want you to be 

there.ó 

 òAunt Mary, I refuse to talk about such morbid stuff. Youõre going to outlive 

me.ó 

 She laughs and shakes her head. òHereõs what I want to tell you. If you come 

to my funeral, Iõll pay for your ticket to get here, and all your expenses, and Iõll give 

you $1,000.ó 

 òNow Auntñó 

  òDonõt interrupt me. You donõt have to answer now. Just be there. If you come, 

wherever I am, Iõll know it. ò 

 Three years later, Earle is notified of Aunt Maryõs death. Although it is the 

middle of the semester and very inconvenient, he remembers how much it meant to 

her, flies to New Hampshire for the funeral. The cost of the ticket and the hotel are 

substantial, and strain his credit to the maximum. After the funeral, he asks the 

executor of her will for the payment, claiming there is a contract. The executor 

refuses. There is no mention of this in Aunt Maryõs will, which leaves all of her meager 

wealth to a local animal shelter.  

 If Earle sues Aunt Maryõs estate, what result? Why? 

Problem 5.2 

 Antique Dealer has a mint condition, in -the-box, never opened Stinky Pete the 

Prospector doll from the popular 1950s television show, Woodyõs Roundup. Collector, 

who is a big fan of the show, contacts Dealer to inquire about buying the doll. The two 

negotiate by telephone, but do not come to an agreement. The next day ñTuesdayñ 

Dealer sends the following signed message to Collector: òI offer to sell you the Stinky 

Pete doll for $3,750 cash. I will leave this offer open until Friday.ó Collector gets the 

message. On Wednesday, Collector calls Dealer to accept, but before he can do more 
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than id entify himself, Dealer says, òSorry, I sold the Stinky Pete doll yesterday. I 

donõt have it any more, so I canõt sell it to you.ó Collector is unhappy and hangs up. 

 The next morning, however, Collector learns that Dealer had not in fact sold 

the doll, and  still has it. Dealer had simply decided not to sell because he heard that 

the wealthy Konishi Toy Museum in Tokyo might be interested. When he learns this 

fact Collector calls Dealer. When Dealer answers, Collector says, òIõm calling to accept 

your offer.  I know you still have it, and you promised the offer would be open until 

tomorrow. Iõm buying it.ó Dealer refuses to sell, however, and ultimately sells the doll 

to Konishi for $10,000. Collector sues to enforce what he claims is an enforceable 

contract t o buy Stinky Pete. What will both sides argue? What result and why?  

Problem 5.3 

 Truong is a supplier of fresh fish and other seafood to supermarkets in the Gulf 

of Mexico region. On a Tuesday in late July, he sends a truckload shipment of fresh 

jumbo Gul f shrimp from his facility in Corpus Christi, Texas, to United Stores in El 

Paso. When the truck reaches El Paso ñwhere the temperature is 110 degrees 

Fahrenheit ñUnited refuses to accept the shipment, saying that it had not placed the 

order. As the truck si ts at the United loading dock, its refrigeration units stop 

working. The driver calls Truong, who realizes that he has a truckload of fresh shrimp 

that will soon become boiled shrimp in the El Paso heat. He tries to call Vera, a 

competitor of United, on he r cell phone, but gets her voicemail. He leaves her a quick 

message, saying òIõve got 5,000 pounds of fresh jumbo shrimpñthe kind you usually 

buy from me ñon a truck there in El Paso. I donõt want to have to bring it back, so I 

can let you have the whole lo ad for $5,000. Thatõs half price, just because Iõve already 

got it there, and this deal is for you because youõre a great customer. Iõve got to know 

soon, though.ó He then sends Vera a text message repeating essentially what he said 

on the phone. Unknown t o Truong, however, Vera is on a plane inbound to El Paso 

and her phone is set to airplane mode.  

 Truong does not hear back from Vera for 45 minutes. Worried that the shrimp 

will spoil, he calls Bernie, another buyer. Bernie answers, Truong makes the same 

offer, which Bernie accepts immediately. Truong calls his driver, who immediately 

sets off for Bernieõs warehouse. Five minutes later, Veraõs plane lands and she turns 

on her phone. Getting Truongõs message, she immediately texts an acceptance. She 

subsequently learns that Truong sold the shrimp to her competitor, Bernie.  

 Vera claims that her text in response to Truongõs offer created a contract. If 

she sues, what result and why? Consider both sidesõ arguments on this question. 
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Unit 6 
__________________________________________________________________ 

CONTRACT FORMATION 
Part Four 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Acceptance  

 

FOCUS OF THIS UNIT  
 

 You should now know what qualifies as an offer and when an offer terminates. 

The next question in contract formation is whether an open offer as been accepted. 

So what exactly do we mean when we talk about contractual òacceptanceó? 

 Offer Controls Acceptance. When we say that the offeror is òmaster of the 

offer,ó we mean that the offeror gets to define how the offer must be accepted. For 

example, suppose the authors approached you and said, òWe will pay you $20 if you 

will stand up on one leg in the middle of your Property class, flap your arms like a 

bird, and recite the first paragraph of the Preamble to the Communist Manifesto . We 

donõt want your promise; weõll pay you only if you actually do it .ó1 Based on that offer, 

then the only  way you can accept it is by doing exactly what we said. If you say, òI 

accept,ó you havenõt, in fact, acceptance, because we clearly told you that we didnõt 

want your accep tance. There is no contract. You are not obliged to do anything at that 

point, and we are free to revoke our offer. If, in fact, you stand on both legs, or you 

recite the Preamble to the United States Constitution, you have not accepted the 

offer. Being òmaster of the offeró simply means that the offeror has the power to 

specify exactly how an offer can be accepted.  

 Notice that while our definition of an òofferó does take into account whether 

the offeree reasonably believes there is an offer , we do not concern ourselves with 

whether he believes he has accepted. Instead, to accomplish the latter, the offeree 

must do what the offeror says. Intent is not usually the key. This point may seem 

obvious, but problems arise from the fact that in the real world ñthe w orld in which 

contract law must actually operate ñpeople are not necessarily precise about what 

they want or what they are doing. Ordinary people rarely recite, òI hereby accept your 

                                            
 1 [We have been advised by our counsel to clearly say òJust kidding!ó at this point to prevent 

you from suing us for twenty dollars after you embarrass yourself and annoy your Property professor. 

But see Leonard v. PepsiCo (holding that an over -the-top joke did not constitute an offer) ð Eds.]  
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offer.ó More often, they nod, shake hands, exchange emails, or simply start doing 

what the offeror asked. They also donõt necessarily say the word òacceptó while 

functionally accepting an offer. The fact that regular human beings donõt necessarily 

do what lawyers (or law students) would do leads to the question of when a particu lar 

communication counts as an òacceptance.ó 

 Keep in mind that the existence or non -existence of an òacceptanceó can have 

important legal consequences for an analysis of whether a contract exists under the 

common law. If an offereeõs response actually qualifies as an òacceptance,ó then we 

may have an enforceable contract (subject, of course, to a host of other issues we are 

covering in this course). If the offereeõs response to an offer is anything other than  an 

òacceptance,ó then no contract has been formed. 

 Under the common law of contracts, acceptance must match the offer. The 

match must be so complete that the concept is sometimes referred to as the òmirror 

image rule.ó Acceptance does not, however, require the offeree to recite a magic 

formula, like òI hereby accept the offer as stated,ó as that would throw a wrench into 

business transactions and make contracting so hyper -technical as to be nearly useless 

for real life. A mirror -image acceptance can happen in any number of ways. This unit 

deals with a few situations that have caused particular difficulties in analyzing 

whether an offer -and-acceptance has occurred. 

 Three Problems to Watch.  The first arises from the fact that some situations 

are entirely clear as to who is offeror and who is offeree. You  have seen that an 

advertisement is (usually) not an offer, and that it is the buyer who technically is the 

offeror even where the sellerõs advertisement is the initial solicitation to enter a 

contract. Thus, doing something that the average non -lawyer mig ht consider as 

acceptance of an offer, such as ordering merchandise from a catalog, is actually the 

offer itself. Exactly who is who in certain transactions can actually be complicated.  

 A second problem occurs when what the offeror is seeking is not entir ely clear. 

Is the offeror asking a party to do something (such as performing a task), or to say 

something in the form of a promise? The distinction becomes important in what 

traditionally are called unilateral  and bilateral  contracts. You have seen those t erms 

before by now, but make sure in the readings below that you can understand both the 

difference and the consequence of that difference for purposes of contract formation. 

You should also be aware that the Restatement (Second) of Contracts dropped the 

unilateral -bilateral distinction and terminology ñsee, e.g., section 30ñthough it lives 

on in many cases, treatises, and bar exam questions.  

 A third area of confusion is the issue of acceptance by silence. Could, for 

example, an offeror say, òI offer to sell you my car for $5,500, and unless I receive a 

written rejection from you within 24 hours, you will have accepted my offer.ó? 

(Actually, we know the offeror could say such a thing, so our real concern is whether 

that offer could form a contract by the of fereeõs inaction.) In other words, are there 
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situations in which mere silence on the part of the offeree is enough to create a 

contract?  

 Of Mailboxes and Inboxes. Another twist that we should highlight here 

briefly ñif only because it has been the bane of law students for generations ñis the 

so-called mailbox rule . You will come across the mailbox rule in the case of United 

States Life Insurance Co. v. Wilson , later in this unit. For the moment, just know that 

it is an important variant of when an acceptance  is effective to create a contract. You 

will learn more when you read the Wilson  case.  

 One additional note: In the following materials we are considering the common 

law of contracts as generally observed in the United States. Later, you will see that 

these rules may or may not be the same when specific kinds of contracts governed by 

statutes and treaties.   

______________________ 

 

Cases and Materials  

DAVIS v. JACOBY  

Supreme Court of California  

1 Cal. 2d 370, 34 P.2d 1026 (1934)  

 

THE COURT IN BANK.  

 [Rupert and Blanche Whitehead were a wealthy California couple without 

children. Caro Davis was Blancheõs niece, and was very close to the Whiteheads, often 

being treated as their òdaughter.ó Caro had lived with them until her marriage to 

Frank Davis ñwhich  was held in the Whitehead home ñin 1913. The Davises moved 

to Canada, but stayed very close. In 1930 Blanche became very ill, and Rupertõs 

financial affairs were made precarious by the onset of the depression. By 1931 Rupert 

needed help with his hospitaliz ed wife and with his deteriorating finances. In late 

March and April, 1931, he wrote letters to Caro and Frank, pleading for them to come 

and stay with him and help him. Then, on April 12, he wrote again, noting that 

Blanche òcannot last much longer,ó and that his affairs were ònot as bad as I supposed 

at first.ó He listed various properties and estimated that $150,000 could be òsaved 

from the wreck.ó He continued: 

[M]y trouble was caused by my friends taking advantage of my illness 

and my position to skin me. Now if Frank could come out here and be 

with me, and look after my affairs, we could easily save the balance I 

mentioned, provided I donõt get into another panic and do some more 

foolish things.  
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The next attack will be my end, I am 65 and my health has  been bad for 

years, so, the Drs. donõt give me much longer to live. So if you can come, 

Caro will inherit everything and you will make our lives happier and see 

Blanche is provided for to the end.  

My eyesight has gone back on me . I canõt read only for a few lines at a 

time. I am at the house alone with Stanley [the chauffeur] who does 

everything for me and is a fine fellow. Now, what I want is someone who 

will take charge of my affairs and see I donõt lose any more. Frank can 

do it, if he will and cut out the booze. 

Will you let me hear from you as soon as possible, I know it will be a 

sacrifice but times are still bad and likely to be, so by settling down you 

can help me and Blanche and gain in the end. If I had you here my mind 

would get better and my cou rage return, and we could work things out.  

Frank immediately wrote back saying that he accepted Rupertõs proposition and that 

he and Caro would come to California and be there on April 25. Rupert acknowledged 

the letter. Before they left Canada, however, R upert killed himself on April 22. The 

Davises nevertheless came to California and cared for Blanche until her own death 

on May 30. It turned out that Rupert had left his wife only a life estate in the property, 

had not provided for the Davises, and had ins tead left the entire estate to his own 

nephews. The Davises sued, claiming that the promise that òCaro Davis would inherit 

everythingó was a contractual offer which they had accepted by mail, and that Caro 

was therefore entitled to the estate. The trial co urt ruled against them.]  

 The theory of the trial court and of respondents on this appeal is that the letter 

of April 12th was an offer to contract, but that such offer could only be accepted by 

performance and could not be accepted by a promise to perform , and that said offer 

was revoked by the death of Mr. Whitehead before performance. In other words, it is 

contended that the offer was an offer to enter into a unilateral contract, and that the 

purported acceptance of April 14th was of no legal effect.  

  (1) The distinction between unilateral and bilateral contracts is well settled in 

the law. It is well stated in section 12 of the American [Law] Instituteõs Restatement 

of the Law of Contracts 2 as follows:  

A unilateral contract is one in which no promisor r eceives a promise as 

consideration for his promise. A bilateral contract is one in which there 

are mutual promises between two parties to the contract; each party 

being both a promisor and a promisee.  

                                            
2 [This is a reference the first Restatement , published in 1932, which maintained use of the 

bilateral -unilateral terminology . ð Eds.]  
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This definition is in accord with the law of California . Christman v. Southern Cal. 

Edison Co ., 256 P. 618 (Cal. Ct. App. 1927).  

 In the case of unilateral contracts no notice of acceptance by performance is 

required. Section 1584 of the Civil Code provides, òPerformance of the conditions of a 

proposal, . . . is an acceptance of the proposal.ó See Cuthill v. Peabody,  125 P. 926 

(Cal. Ct. App. 1912); Los Angeles Traction Co. v. Wilshire , 67 P. 1086 (Cal. 1902).  

 (2) Although the legal distinction between unilateral and bilateral contracts is 

thus well settled, t he difficulty in any particular case is to determine whether the 

particular offer is one to enter into a bilateral or unilateral contract. Some cases are 

quite clear cut. Thus an offer to sell which is accepted is clearly a bilateral contract, 

while an off er of a reward is a clear -cut offer of a unilateral contract which cannot be 

accepted by a promise to perform, but only by performance. Berthiaume v. Doe , 133 

P. 515 (Cal. Ct. App. 1913). Between these two extremes is a vague field where the 

particular con tract may be unilateral or bilateral depending upon the intent of the 

offeror and the facts and circumstances of each case. The offer to contract involved in 

this case falls within this category. By the provisions of the Restatement of the Law 

of Contracts  it is expressly provided that there is a presumption that the offer is to 

enter into a bilateral contract. Section 31 provides:  

In a case of doubt it is presumed that an offer invites the formation of a 

bilateral contract by an acceptance amounting in eff ect to a promise by 

the offeree to perform what the offer requests, rather than the formation 

of one or more unilateral contracts by actual performance on the part of 

the offeree.  

 Professor Williston in his T reatise on Contracts , volume 1, section 60, als o 

takes the position that a presumption in favor of bilateral contracts exists.  

 In the comment following section 31 of the Restatement the reason for such 

presumption is stated as follows:  

It is not always easy to determine whether an offeror requests an act or 

a promise to do the act. As a bilateral contract immediately and fully 

protects both parties, the interpretation is favored that a bilateral 

contract is proposed.  

While the California cases have never expressly held that a presumption in favor of 

bi lateral contracts exists, the cases clearly indicate a tendency to treat offers as offers 

of bilateral rather than of unilateral contracts.  

 (3) Keeping these principles in mind we are of the opinion that the offer of April 

12th was an offer to enter into a bilateral as distinguished from a unilateral contract. 

Respondents argue that Mr. Whitehead had the right as offeror to designate his offer 

as either unilateral or bilateral. That is undoubtedly the law. It is then argued that 
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from all the facts and circ umstances it must be implied that what Whitehead wanted 

was performance and not a mere promise to perform. We think this is a non sequitur , 

in fact the surrounding circumstances lead to just the opposite conclusion. These 

parties were not dealing at armõs length. Not only were they related, but a very close 

and intimate friendship existed between them. The record indisputably demonstrates 

that Mr. Whitehead had confidence in Mr. and Mrs. Davis, in fact that he had lost all 

confidence in everyone else. The r ecord amply shows that by an accumulation of 

occurrences Mr. Whitehead had become desperate, and that what he wanted was the 

promise of appellants that he could look to them for assistance. He knew from his 

past relationship with appellants that if they ga ve their promise to perform he could 

rely upon them. The correspondence between them indicates how desperately he 

desired this assurance. Under these circumstances he wrote his offer of April 12th, 

above quoted, in which he stated, after disclosing his des perate mental and physical 

condition, and after setting forth the terms of his offer: òWill you let me hear from 

you as soon as possibleñI know it will be a sacrifice but times are still bad and likely 

to be, so by settling down you can help me and Blanche  and gain in the end.ó By thus 

specifically requesting an immediate reply Whitehead expressly indicated the nature 

of the acceptance desired by him ñnamely, appellantsõ promise that they would come 

to California and do the things requested by him. This prom ise was immediately sent 

by appellants upon receipt of the offer, and was received by Whitehead. It is 

elementary that when an offer has indicated the mode and means of acceptance, an 

acceptance in accordance with that mode or means is binding on the offer or. 

 Another factor which indicates that Whitehead must have contemplated a 

bilateral rather than a unilateral contract, is that the contract required Mr. and Mrs. 

Davis to perform services until the death of both Mr. and Mrs. Whitehead. It is 

obvious that  if Mr. Whitehead died first some of these services were to be performed 

after his death, so that he would have to rely on the promise of appellants to perform 

these services. It is also of some evidentiary force that Whitehead received the letter 

of acceptance and acquiesced in that means of acceptance.  

 (4) For the foregoing reasons we are of the opinion that the offer of April 12, 

1931, was an offer to enter into a bilateral contract which was accepted by the letter 

of April 14, 1931. Subsequently appell ants fully performed their part of the contract. 

Under such circumstances it is well settled that damages are insufficient and specific 

performance will be granted.  

 For the foregoing reasons the judgment appealed from is reversed.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 1.  The court draws a distinction between acceptance by 

promise and acceptance by performance. Review sections 50 -56 of the Restatement 

(Second) of Contracts, which deal with issues addressed in Davis but do not use the 

same terminology. M ake an outline explaining how those various provisions work 
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together, and see if you notice the concepts of unilateral and bilateral contracts, 

despite the fact that those terms are not used.  

 

 Review Question 2.  Pretend that you are the judge for a case w ith the exact 

same facts as Davis v. Jacoby , except that your jurisdiction has adopted the rules 

contained in sections 30 and 32 of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts. How would 

you decide that case? Would reaching a decision be harder or easier than it  was for 

the Davis court following the first Restatement?  

 

______________________ 

 

HENDRICKS v. BEHEE  

Court of Appeals of Missouri, Southern District  

786 S.W.2d 610 (Mo. Ct. App. 1990)  

 

FLANIGAN, J.  

 After Behee, as prospective buyer [of a home owned by th e Smiths], and the 

Smiths, as prospective sellers, had engaged in unproductive negotiations, Behee, on 

March 2, 1987, made a written offer of $42,500 for the real estate and $250 for a 

dinner bell and flower pots. On March 3 that offer was mailed to the Sm iths, who 

lived in Mississippi, by their real estate agent.  

 On March 4 the Smiths signed the proposed agreement in Mississippi. Before 

Behee was notified that the Smiths had accepted the offer, Behee withdrew the offer 

by notifying the real estate agent o f the withdrawal. That paramount fact is conceded 

by this statement in the Smithsõ brief: òOn either March 5, 6 or 7, 1987, Behee 

contacted [the Smithsõ real estate agent] and advised her that he desired to withdraw 

his offer to purchase the real estate. P rior to this communication, Behee had received 

no notice that his offer had been accepted by the Smiths.ó 

 There is no contract until acceptance of an offer is communicated to the offeror. 

ACF Industries, Inc. v. Industrial Commission , 320 S.W.2d 484, 492 (Mo. en banc 

1959); 17 AM . JUR. 2d Contracts  § 43, p. 380; 17 C.J.S. Contracts  § 45, p. 690. 

 An uncommunicated intention to accept an offer is not an acceptance. When 

an offer calls for a promise, as distinguished from an act, on the part of the offeree, 

notice of acceptance is always essential. A mere private act of the offeree does not 

constitute an acceptance. Communication of acceptance of a contract to an agent of 

the offeree is not sufficient and does not bind the offeror.  

 Unless the offer is suppor ted by consideration, an offeror may withdraw his 

offer at any time òbefore acceptance and communication of that fact to him.ó To be 

effective, revocation of an offer must be communicated to the offeree before he has 

accepted. 
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 Notice to the agent, within the scope of the agentõs authority, is notice to the 

principal, and the agentõs knowledge is binding on the principal. 

 Before Behee was notified that the Smiths had accepted his offer, Behee 

notified the agent of the Smiths that Behee was withdrawing the offer. The notice to 

the agent, being within the scope of her authority, was binding upon the Smiths. 

Beheeõs offer was not supported by consideration and his withdrawal of it was proper. 

 The judgment is affirmed.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question  3. We told you previously that the offeror is master of the 

offer. Imagine you represent a client who just received an offer to sell her a piece of 

real estate, and she is interested but not yet sure. Based on Hendricks , what sort of 

things would you look  for in the text of the offer so that you can advise your client on 

what she must do to ensure the formation of a contract?  

 

 Review Question 4.  Was the offeror in Hendricks seeking a return promise, a 

performance, or either? If the offeror sought a promis e, consider this language from 

section 50(3) of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts: òAcceptance by a promise 

requires that the offeree complete every act essential to the making of the promise.ó 

Does that definition support the courtõs conclusion? Why or why not?  

______________________ 

 

UNITED STATES LIFE INSURANCE CO. v. WILSON  

Court of Special Appeals of Maryland  

198 Md. App. 452, 18 A.3d 110 (2011)  

 

DEBORAH S. EYLER, J.  

 The principal issue in this case is whether a policy of ins urance on the life of 

John G. Griffith, M.D., was in force the day he died. We hold that it was. In the Circuit 

Court for Baltimore City, Elizabeth Wilson, Dr. Griffithõs widow and the appellee, 

filed a breach of contract action against the United States L ife Insurance Company, 

and AMA Insurance Agency, Inc. (òAMAIAó), the appellants, claiming they had failed 

to pay the death benefit and accidental death benefit on a policy insuring Dr. 

Griffithõs life (òthe Policyó). The appellants maintained that the Policy no longer was 

in force when Dr. Griffith died. Ms. Wilson acknowledged that the Policy had lapsed 

but maintained that it had been reinstated before Dr. Griffith died. The court agreed 

with Ms. Wilson and granted summary judgment in her favor.  

 Effective  November 15, 1998, Dr. Griffith purchased an òAmerican Medical 

Association -Sponsored Group Level Term Life Insurance Policy,ó Certificate Number 

9500108167, which was underwritten by US Life. The Policy was for a 10 -year term. 



 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
UNIT 6: ACCEPTANCE   103 

Dr. Griffith was the owner o f the Policy and was the named insured. Ms. Wilson was 

the primary beneficiary. Under the Policy, if Dr. Griffith died òwhile this [life] 

insurance is in force,ó then, upon presentation of proof of his death to US Life, US 

Life would pay the beneficiary th e scheduled benefit. The scheduled benefit for death 

was $400,000, with an additional accidental death benefit of $250,000.  

 Dr. Griffith purchased the Policy through AMAIA, a subsidiary of the 

American Medical Association. AMAIA acted as the third -party a dministrator for US 

Life, meaning that, with respect to US Life policies, including this Policy, it was 

responsible for, among other things, billing and collecting premiums. AMAIA was 

authorized to receive premium payments on the Policy.  

 The Policy contai ned the following PREMIUM PAYMENTS provision:  

 Premiums will be due annually, or at another agreed upon 

frequency, as long as you remain eligible for insurance. Payment can be 

made to United States Life at United States Lifeõs Home Office or to our 

authori zed agent. Payment of any premium will not maintain insurance 

in force past the next premium due date, except as provided in the Grace 

Period provision.  

The Policy GRACE PERIOD provision, as referenced in the PREMIUM PAYMENTS 

clause, read as follows:  

 Each premium, after the first, may be paid up to 31 days after its 

due date. This period is the grace period. The insurance provided by the 

group policy will stay in effect during this period. If the premium is not 

paid by the end of this period, such insuranc e will end at that time.  

 United States Life may extend the grace period by written notice. 

Such notice will state the date insurance will end if the premium 

remains unpaid.  

Premiums must be paid for a grace period and any extension of such 

period.  

The Policy further contained a REINSTATEMENT clause detailing how coverage 

could be reinstated after a lapse:  

 If the coverage ceases as provided in the Grace Period provision, 

you may reinstate it. Reinstatement must be made within 90 days after 

the due date of the first unpaid premium.  

 Such reinstatement is subject to:  

 1. Payment of all overdue premiums; and  
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 2. Written approval by United States Life of the required evidence 

of insurability. However, such evidence will not be required within 31 

days after t he end of the Grace Period.  

 Dr. Griffith made his semi -annual premium payments from 1998 through 

2006. Before his May 15, 2007 premium came due, AMAIA sent him an undated BILL 

NOTICE reminding him of the upcoming payment due date. During that period of 

ti me, Dr. Griffith was obtaining quotes from other life insurance companies for 

similar coverage, with the apparent purpose of changing insurers. Dr. Griffith failed 

to pay the May 15, 2007 Policy premium. After he missed the payment, AMAIA sent 

him an undat ed REMINDER NOTICE, stating: òTo assure active coverage, full 

payment of the premium must be received no later than 60 days from the due date.ó 

The due date was again listed as May 15, 2007.  

 Until Monday, July 23, 2007, Dr. Griffith still had not taken an y steps to pay 

the overdue May 15, 2007 premium. That day, he accessed by computer his on -line 

bank account with Bank of America and electronically directed that a premium 

payment of $369.46 be made to AMAIA. Bank of America documents in the summary 

judgment record show that a check for that amount òwas sent to AMA Insurance 

Agency on [Wednesday] 07/25/07 and delivered on [Monday] 07/30/07.ó 

 On Saturday, July 28, 2007, Dr. Griffith, Ms. Wilson, and their children were 

on vacation in Bethany Beach, Delaware . Dr. Griffith went on an early morning bike 

ride. He was kneeling beside his bicycle on the shoulder of State Route 1 at 7:40 a.m. 

when he was struck and killed by a car that drifted off the road when its driver fell 

asleep at the wheel. Dr. Griffith was 44 years old when he died.  

 AMAIA received Dr. Griffithõs premium check on July 30, 2007. On August 2, 

2007, AMAIA rejected the payment and returned the check enclosed in a letter 

advising that, because Dr. Griffithõs òpayment was received after the closing of the 

30-day grace period,ó he no longer could renew his insurance coverage simply by 

making the premium payment. Instead, he could apply for reinstatement of coverage 

by completing and returning an APPLICATION FOR REINSTATEMENT OF 

COVERAGE, although ap proval was not guaranteed. When the August 2, 2007 letter 

was sent, AMAIA had no information that Dr. Griffith had died.  

 On September 28, 2007, Ms. Wilson, through counsel, submitted a claim to 

AMAIA for the death benefit and accidental death benefit unde r the Policy. AMAIA 

denied her claim by letter of April 14, 2008, stating that the Policy had lapsed on May 

15, 2007, and therefore was not in force when Dr. Griffith died.  

 [The court examines the various documents and communications involved. It 

concludes that US Life had extended the grace period to 60 days, which meant it had 

expired on July 14. The court held that Dr. Griffith had 30 days from that date (not 

later than August 13) to, in effect, accept US Lifeõs offer to reinstate the policy, and 

he had to be alive at the time of acceptance. Ms. Walker argued that the offer was 
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accepted as of the date the check was sent (July 25), while US Life argued that it was 

not accepted, if at all, until at least July 30, when the check arrived. Dr. Griffith died 

on July 28.]  

 The language of the Policy itself, not the language in the notices, controlled the 

means to effect reinstatement. The relevant language of the REINSTATEMENT 

clause is, òreinstatement is subject to: 1. Payment of all overdue premiums.ó 

 Insuran ce contracts initially are formed when an insurer unconditionally 

accepts an insuredõs application, which constitutes an offer, for coverage. Martin v. 

Government Employees Ins. Co., 206 Ill. App. 3d 1031, 1039 -40, 565 N.E.2d 197 (Ill. 

App. Ct. 1990). From  then on, the life insurance policy operates as a unilateral 

contract, 29 APPLEMAN ON I NSURANCE 2D § 179.03, AT 230 (JEFFREY E. THOMAS ED . 

2006), i.e., one that is formed by performance. See 1 WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS § 4:8, 

AT 462 (4TH ED ., RICHARD A. LORD, 2007) (observing that a unilateral contract is one 

in which one party makes a promise and the other party renders an act or 

forbearance). òThe periodic payment of premiums is the mechanism by which the 

insured opts to keep the insurance policy in force.ó APPLEMAN , supra , § 179.0-3, at 

230. Failure to pay the premiums will result in coverage lapsing.  

 Under the policy, when the relevant time frame for reinstatement is òwithin 

31 days after the end of the Grace Periodó (as it is here), the REINSTATEMENT 

clause is a promise by the insurer to reinstate coverage upon performance by the 

insured of a single act ñpayment of the overdue premium. In that situation, the 

insurer is not being asked to consider and either accept or reject an offer by the 

insured to enter into a life insurance contract. Thus, the plain language of the 

REINSTATEMENT clause of the Policy establishes that, upon payment by the 

insured of the overdue premium within 31 days after the end of the grace period, the 

Policy is revived. In other words,  in that situation, the REINSTATEMENT clause is 

an offer of a unilateral contract to revive the Policy, with the insurer promising that 

revival will take place upon the insuredõs performing by paying the overdue premium. 

 It is within the context of Dr. Gr iffithõs acceptance by performance (that is, by 

payment of the overdue premium) of US Lifeõs offer to revive the Policy that we must 

determine when payment took place. At common law, what is often called the 

òmailbox rule,ó the òdispatch rule,ó or sometimes the òpostal acceptance ruleó is the 

widely -adopted convention for pinpointing the time that an offer is accepted and a 

contract is formed. Illinois, like Maryland, recognizes the rule, by which òthe mailed 

acceptance of an offer is effective when mailed,  not when received or acknowledged.ó 

Martin , 565 N.E.2d at 203. See also Wagner v. McClay, 138 N.E. 164 (Ill. 1923) 

(recognizing that a letter of acceptance of a contract that is properly deposited in the 

mail makes the acceptance binding);  Cochran v. Nork unas, 919 A.2d 700 (Md. 2007) 

(òThe well established rule is that in the absence of any limitation or provision to the 
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contrary in the offer, the acceptance of the offer is complete and the contract becomes 

binding on both parties when the offeree deposits  the acceptance in the post box.ó). 

 Section 63(a) of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts (1979), while not using 

any of the familiar mailbox rule nomenclature, recognizes with respect to the time 

that acceptance of an offer takes effect hat, unless an o ffer states otherwise, òan 

acceptance made in a manner and by a medium invited by the offer is operative and 

completes the manifestation of mutual assent as soon as put out of the offereeõs 

possession, without regard to whether it ever reaches the offeror. ó The rationale for 

the rule, as explained in comment (a) to that subsection, is, essentially, certainty and 

predictability. The comment observes that, even though it may be possible under 

United States postal regulations for a sender to stop delivery and reclaim a letter, it 

remains the case that one to whom an offer has been made òneeds a dependable basis 

for his decision whether to accept,ó and has such a basis when he knows that, once 

properly dispatched, his acceptance is binding and the offer cannot b e revoked. 

 In 2 WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS §6:32 (4TH ED . RICHARD A. LORD, 2007), the 

author explains that the òdispatch ruleó applies equally to bilateral and unilateral 

contracts. If an offer for a unilateral contract calls for the performance of an act by 

the offeree that can be accomplished by sending money through the mail, including 

in the form of a check, òas soon as the money is sent it would become the property of 

the offeror, and the offeror would become bound to perform its promise for which the 

money was the consideration.ó Id . at 441-42. See, e.g., Hagerl v. Auto Club Group Ins. 

Co., 403 N.W.2d 197 (Mich. Ct. App. 1987) (holding that an offer to renew an 

automobile liability insurance policy was accepted by the insured by mailing his 

check, even though the check subsequently was dishonored).  

 We conclude that the long -recognized mailbox rule governing the time of 

formation of a contract by written acceptance applies in the case at bar to control the 

time the Policy was reinstated, that is, when cove rage under the Policy was revived. 

The transaction at issue here is not wholly traditional, that is, one in which a paper 

document, whether a check or otherwise, is mailed by the offeree to the offeror, in 

that it began electronically, as an on -line bankin g directive by Dr. Griffith on July 23, 

2007. The Bank of America documents in the summary judgment record show, 

however, that the directive was acted upon by preparation of a paper check drawn on 

a JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. account under Dr. Griffithõs name, and bearing his 

òAuthorized Signatureó; and that the paper check then was òsentó to AMAIA on July 

25, 2007, coming into AMAIAõs physical possession on July 30, 2007. 

 The transaction thus resembles a traditional acceptance by writing mailed to 

the offeror, in that a writing (the check) was òsentó to AMAIA, even though its 

creation was directed electronically and it was created not by the offeree but by his 

bank. A writing thus was generated by actions taken by Dr. Griffith; the writing 

complied with th at which was necessary to accept the reinstatement offer; and the 
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writing was òsent,ó which was a permissible mode of acceptance, and subsequently 

was delivered to AMAIA, the proper recipient.  

  Application of the mailbox rule to the undisputed material f acts in this case 

produces the legal conclusion that the date of payment of the overdue premium was 

July 25, 2007. On July 23, 2007, Dr. Griffith electronically instructed Bank of 

America, as his agent, to make payment to AMAIA. The evidence viewed most 

favorably to the appellants supports a reasonable inference that Dr. Griffith could 

have reinstructed Bank of America not to make the payment; therefore, as of July 23, 

2007, he had set in motion the means to accept the offer of reinstatement but still had 

the power to reverse course. On July 25, 2007, however, Bank of America remitted 

payment to AMAIA by sending it a check, drawn on the J. P. Morgan Chase Bank, 

N.A. account, for $369.46. At that point, the permissible means for acceptance was in 

motion and, so far as is established by the common law mailbox rule, was beyond Dr. 

Griffithõs power to stop. This would be true whether Bank of America sent the check 

through the United States Postal Service, a courier service, or otherwise.  

 For all these reasons, w e hold that the Policy was reinstated effective July 25, 

2007, three days before Dr. Griffith died, and therefore was in force when he died. It 

was undisputed that Dr. Griffithõs death was an accident under the terms of the 

Policy. The circuit court theref ore properly entered judgment in favor of Ms. Wilson 

against US Life for $650,000, plus pre -judgment interest.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 5.  The U.S. Life Insurance court says that, by the time of the 

dispute in this case, the insurance contract was a òunilateral contract.ó What are the 

implications for formation (or re -formation) of the contract in this case of it being 

unilateral? Was Dr. Griffithõs insurance policy originally  a unilateral contract? Why 

or why not?  

 

 Review Question 6.  In Hendricks v. Behee, which you read earlier in this unit, 

the court held that acceptance had to be communicated to the offeror. Can you 

reconcile that with the òmailbox ruleó in this case? 

 

 Review Question 7.  In the modern world, the post office is used less and less 

as a medium of communication in making contracts. Would the rationale of the 

mailbox rule apply to an email, voicemail, or text response? Is it effective when it is 

sent or when it is received? As you answer this question, consider section 15 of the 

Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, which is entitled òTime and Place of Sending 

and Receipt.ó Howñif at all ñdo the mailbox rule and UETA section 15 work 

together? 

______________________ 
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HOBBS v. MASSASOIT WHIP CO.  

Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts  

158 Mass. 194, 33 N.E. 495 (1893)  

 

 Contract, upon an account annexed for $108.50, for 2,350 eelskins sold by the 

plaintiff to the defendant.  

 The plaintiff testified that he delivered the skins in question to one Harding of 

Lynn, on February 18, 1890, who upon the same or the following day forwarded them 

to the defendant; that the skins were in good condition when received by Harding, 

2,050 of them being over twenty -seven inches in length each, and the balance over 

twenty -two inches in length each; that he had forwarded eelskins to the defendant 

through said Harding several different times in 1888 and 1889, and received payment 

therefor from the defendant; that he knew the d efendant used such skins in its 

business in the manufacture of whips; that the skins sent on February 18, 1890, were 

for such use; that he understood that all skins sent by him were to be in good condition 

and over twenty -two inches in length, and that the  defendant had never ordered of 

him skins less than twenty -two inches in length; and that Harding took charge of the 

skins for him and that he received orders through Harding.  

 Four letters were offered in evidence, three of which, dated in 1889, showed 

tr ansactions between the plaintiff and the defendant, and the fourth of which, dated 

Lynn, February 18, 1890, signed by Harding and addressed to the defendant, was as 

follows: òWe send you to-day, for Mr. Hobbs, 2,050 eelskins at .05 and 300 at .02.ó 

 One Pirnie, president of the defendant corporation, called by the defendant, 

testified that before February 18, 1890, the plaintiff had sent eelskins four or five 

times by Harding to the defendant, which were received and paid for by the 

defendant; that the defe ndant agreed to pay five cents each for eelskins over twenty -

seven inches in length, and two cents each for eelskins over twenty -two inches in 

length and less than twenty -seven inches, suitable for use in the defendantõs 

business; that the defendant never ordered the skins in question, and did not 

purchase them in any manner, and that no officer or employee of the corporation 

except himself had authority to order or purchase skins, and that he never ordered 

or purchased those in question.  

 The judge, among other instructions, also gave the following:  

Whether there was any prior contract or not, if skins are sent to them 

(the defendants) and they see fit, whether they have agreed to take them 

or not, to lie back and say nothing, having reason to suppose that the 

man who has sent them believes that they are taking them, since they 

say nothing about it, then, if they fail to notify, you would be warranted 

in finding for the plaintiff, on that state of things.  
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The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff; and th e defendant alleged exceptions.  

 O.W. HOLMES, Jr., J.: This is an action for the price of eelskins sent by the 

plaintiff to the defendant, and kept by the defendant some months, until they were 

destroyed. It must be taken that the plaintiff received no no tice that the defendants 

declined to accept the skins. The case comes before us on exceptions to an instruction 

to the jury, that, whether there was any prior contract or not, if skins are sent to the 

defendant, and it sees fit, whether it has agreed to ta ke them or not, to lie back, and 

to say nothing, having reason to suppose that the man who has sent them believes 

that it is taking them, since it says nothing about it, then, if it fails to notify, the jury 

would be warranted in finding for the plaintiff.  

 Standing alone, and unexplained, this proposition might seem to imply that 

one stranger may impose a duty upon another, and make him a purchaser, in spite of 

himself, by sending goods to him, unless he will take the trouble, and be at the 

expense of noti fying the sender that he will not buy. The case was argued for the 

defendant on that interpretation. But, in view of the evidence, we do not understand 

that to have been the meaning of the judge, and we do not think that the jury can 

have understood that t o have been his meaning. The plaintiff was not a stranger to 

the defendant, even if there was no contract between them. He had sent eelskins in 

the same way four or five times before, and they had been accepted and paid for. On 

the defendantõs testimony, it is fair to assume that, if it had admitted the eelskins to 

be over twenty -two inches in length, and fit for its business, as the plaintiff testified, 

and the jury found that they were, it would have accepted them; that this was 

understood by the plaintif f; and, indeed, that there was a standing offer to him for 

such skins. In such a condition of things, the plaintiff was warranted in sending the 

defendant skins conforming to the requirements, and even if the offer was not such 

that the contract was made a s soon as skins corresponding to its terms were sent, 

sending them did impose on the defendant a duty to act about them; and silence on 

its part, coupled with a retention of the skins for an unreasonable time, might be 

found by the jury to warrant the plai ntiff in assuming that they were accepted, and 

thus to amount to an acceptance. See Bushel v. Wheeler, 15 Q. B. 442; JUDAH P. 

BENJAMIN , TREATISE ON THE LAW OF SALE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY  §§ 162-164 (3d ed. 

1888); Taylor v. Dexter Engine Co . 146 Mass. 613, 615 (1888). The proposition stands 

on the general principle that conduct which imports acceptance or assent is 

acceptance or assent in the view of the law, whatever may have been the actual state 

of mind of the party ña principle sometimes lost sight of in th e cases.  

 Exceptions overruled.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 8.  òStanding alone, and unexplained,ó says Justice Holmes, 

allowing for acceptance of a contract by silence òmight seem to imply that one 
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stranger may impose a duty upon another, and make him a purchaser, in spite of 

himself, by sending goods to himó unsolicited. Isnõt that exactly what happened to the 

Massasoit Whip Company, as it was unwillingly forced into a contract? Why doesnõt 

Holmes seem to be worried about silence -as-acceptance encouraging a hoard of 

overzealous sellers to force unwilling customers into contracts by sending unsolicited 

products?  

______________________ 

 

 

MUNICIPAL CONSULTANTS & PUBLISHERS, INC. v. TOWN OF RAMAPO  

Court  of Appeals of New York  

47 N.Y.2d 144, 390 N.E.2d 1143, 417 N.Y.S.2d 218 (1979)  

 

GABRIELLI, J.  

 The issue in this case is whether the Town of Ramapo is contractually obligated 

to receive and pay for the services offered by the petitioner Municipal Consulta nts & 

Publishers, Inc. (Municipal). For the reasons which follow we conclude that there 

existed an enforceable contract between the parties, and we therefore affirm the order 

of the Appellate Division.  

 On June 10, 1976, Municipal, at the request of the to wn, submitted a written 

proposal in the form of a contract to the Town of Ramapo offering to codify its 

ordinances and local laws for a sum specified in the proposal. On July 21 Municipal 

agreed to certain changes suggested by the town attorney, but no for mal action was 

taken at that time on behalf of the town on the proposal. Finally, on February 9, 1977 

the town board formally acted on it, and agreed to engage petitionerõs services. 

 By resolution No. 77 -54 the town (1) authorized the town attorney to acc ept 

the proposal; (2) authorized the supervisor to sign the agreement, and (3) provided 

payment for the work. The resolution adopted by the town board on February 9, 1977, 

in pertinent part, provided that:  

RESOLVED by the Town Board of the Town of Ramapo t hat 

authorization be hereby granted for the Town Attorney to accept the 

proposal submitted by Municipal Consultants & Publishers, Inc., of 64 

Seneca Street, Geneva, New York, to codify Ordinances and Local Laws 

of the Town of Ramapo, and  

BE IT FURTHER RESO LVED that the Supervisor be hereby authorized 

to execute the Agreement between the Town of Ramapo and Municipal 

Consultants & Publishers, Inc., and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the sum of $ 10,000.00 for the first 

450 pages or less and $ 20.00 per page for each additional page in excess 
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of 450 pages, be hereby paid to Municipal Consultants & Publishers, Inc. 

for services rendered.  

On February 15, 1977, the town attorney notified Municipal that the agreement had 

been approved, forwarded copies of the agreemen t for Municipal to execute, and 

stated he looked forward to a long and pleasant relationship.  

 Ramapoõs supervisor, however, never signed the contract. It appears that one 

of Municipalõs competitors, long after the passage of the resolution authorizing the 

agreement, offered to do the work for a lesser sum. The parties met in an attempt to 

work out their differences but to no avail. This [lawsuit] ensued requesting that the 

court declare the contract valid and enforceable, and also to direct the supervisor and 

town attorney to deliver an executed copy of the agreement.  

 The primary issue presented is whether the contract is enforceable against the 

town without the signature of the supervisor.  

 Generally, where the parties contemplate that a signed writing is  required, 

there is no contract until one is delivered. Scheck v. Francis , 260 N.E.2d 493 (N.Y. 

1970). This rule yields, however, when the parties have agreed on all contractual 

terms and have only to commit them to writing. When this occurs, the contract is 

effective at the time the oral agreement is made, although the contract is never 

reduced to writing and signed. Where all the substantial terms of a contract have 

been agreed on, and there is nothing left for future settlement, the fact, alone, that it 

was the understanding that the contract should be formally drawn up and put in 

writing, did not leave the transaction incomplete and without binding force, in the 

absence of a positive agreement that it should not be binding until so reduced to 

writing and  formally executed. Disken v Herter , 77 N.Y.S. 300 (Sup. Ct. App. Div. 

1902), affd,  67 N.E. 1081 (N.Y. 1903); 1 WILLISTON , CONTRACTS , § 28.  

 Here, of course, there was no understanding that the agreement would not be 

binding, short of formal execution by the supervisor; and the facts of the case before 

us fall within the legal framework of the last above -cited cases. All the terms of the 

contract had been negotiated and agreed upon. They were, in fact, expressed in 

Municipalõs written standard contract which had been modified in several slight 

respects through negotiations. There was no understanding or agreement that the 

contract would not be binding until both parties had signed it, and therefore it is 

enforceable although it was never memorialized with a  mutually signed writing.  

 Accordingly, the order of the Appellate Division should be affirmed, with costs.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 9.  Did the Municipal Consultants court really just say that 

a contract was accepted and binding before one of the parties signed it on the dotted 

line? If so, then what is the point of the signature? At what moment exactly did the 
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contract in this case come into existence? Doesnõt that seem like the sort of thing 

clients would want to know and on which law yers should be able to offer advice?  

 Review Question 10.  In Hendricks v. Behee, the court held that there was no 

contract even though the offeree had signed. In Municipal Consultants , the court held 

that there was a contract even though the offeree had no t signed. Can you explain 

this apparent discrepancy in outcome?  

______________________ 

 

 

Problems  
Problem 6.1 

 Thelma says to Louise, òIõm getting a new television, and Iõll sell you my old 

one for $300. Do you want it?ó Examine each of the following responses and decide 

whether a contract is formed . 

 a. Louise says, òThat sounds pretty good.ó 

 b. Louise says, òYes, Iõll take it.ó 

 c. Louise says, òYes, Iõll take it. Is it possible for you to deliver it to my 

apartment?ó 

 d. Louise says, òYes, Iõll take it, if you can deliver it to my apartment for 

me.ó 

 e. Louise says, òYes, Iõll take it, if I can get my Mom to loan me the money.ó 

 f. Louise says, òCan you do any better on the price?ó Thelma says òNo.ó 

Louise says, òIõll take it.ó 

 
Problem 6.2 

 On Apri l 10, Olivia Owner offers Peter Painter $5,000 to paint the exterior of 

Ownerõs lakefront cabin. The job will, however, require scraping off some of the older 

paint around the porch that has been peeling. Painter says he is not sure he can do it 

for that p rice. Owner, who is about to leave on a fourteen -day cruise in the 

Mediterranean, says, òWell, think about it. You can decide while Iõm off on the 

holiday. If you agree, just go ahead and do it.ó Owner then departs. 

 Two days later, on April 12, Painter go es to the cabin and spends six hours 

scraping paint. This takes much more time than Painter estimated, and he realizes 

that this job would be much more work than he expected and that he would need to 

get more than $5,000 for the work. He quits and leaves t he premises. The next day, 

April 13, Painter is offered a job that pays a good deal more and will take a couple of 

weeks to complete. He immediately emails Owner that heõs decided not to do the 
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lakefront cabin job. Owner is unable to check emails for a few  days, and ultimately 

sees Painterõs message on April 15. When Owner returns, she discovers that she 

cannot hire anyone else to paint the cabin for less than $8,500. She demands that 

Painter finish the work. He refuses. She hires another company and sues f or the 

$3,500. Painter moves for summary judgment on the ground that no contract was 

ever formed. What will the two sides argue in this case ? You might find sections 45 

and 62 of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts helpful in answering this question.  

 
Problem 6.3 

 Owner has a piece of property called Blackacre. Buyer is interested in 

purchasing it. The following exchange takes place:  

 May 1  Buyer sends a letter to Owner, offering to buy Blackacre 

for $50,000.  

 May 2  Buyer sends a second letter to Owner withdrawing the 

offer.  

 May 3  Owner receives Buyerõs 5/1 letter which includes the 

offer.  

 May 4  (10 a.m.) Owner mails an acceptance of the 5/1 offer.  

 May 4  (4 p.m.) Owner receives Buyerõs 5/2 letter withdrawing 

the offer.  

 May 5  Owner mails a revocation of its 5/4 letter of acceptance.  

 May 6  Buyer receives Ownerõs 5/4 letter of acceptance. 

 May 7  Buyer receives Ownerõs 5/4 letter revoking the 

acceptance. 

It is now May 10, and Buyer decides she wants to purchase the property. Is there a 

contract? Why or w hy not? 

 

____________________
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An Introduction to  

CONSIDERATION 
 

 The definition of òcontract,ó according to section 1 of the Restatement (Second) 

of Contracts, is òa promise or a set of promises for the breach of which the law gives 

a remedy, or the performance of  which the law in some way recognizes as a duty.ó To 

a certain extent this is a circular definition ñthe law enforces a promise if it a 

òcontract,ó and it is a òcontractó if the law enforces it. But the important thing to note 

is that enforceable contracts are a subset of all promises, and thus it becomes critical 

to be able to distinguish those that are legally enforceable from those that are not.  

 Drawing Lines for Enforcement. At early common law ñand for millennia 

before that ñenforceable promises were usu ally distinguished by their use of specific 

rituals or forms. There are countless ritual forms used in various places and times, 

ranging from the relatively simple (holding hands over a sacred stone) to the 

extremely elaborate (preparing a scroll, killing a sacrificial animal, smearing its blood 

on the parties and the document, and then burying the scroll). Obviously, as 

commerce grew, contracting became common, and people from one culture began to 

trade with others, these sorts of elaborate rituals became cumbersome. Thus, 

commercial cultures tended to develop relatively simple forms that were used to 

distinguish enforceable from unenforceable promises.  

 The English Approach to Formality. In England, the sign of an enforceable 

agreement ultimately took the  form of a wax seal impressed with a signet. Sealed 

contracts were enforceable simply because they were correctly sealed. Even seals are 

cumbersomeñnot everybody has a signet ring and a candle handy ñand so over time 

the use of special formalities came to b e displaced by a different approach. The 

common law courts, who by definition were making things up as they went along out 

of existing custom and practice, began to focus less on the form  that the agreement 

took, but rather on the kind  of agreement it was. By the 19th century, courts had 

clearly swung around to the position that a promise was enforceable if it was 

supported by consideration.  Exactly how and why this change came out ñand 

whether it was a good idea ñis the subject of some d iscussion among contract law 

scholars, but by the turn of the 20th century it was clear that in American law a 

promise generally had to be supported by consideration to be enforceable as a 

contract. Whether that is still the case is something you will disc over from the 

materials that follow.  

 A note of caution. If you think òa promise that involves considerationó means 

òa promise that you thought seriously about,ó you are wrong. òConsiderationó is one 

of those legal terms of art that means something very di fferent from what it means 

in ordinary usage. Stay tuned.  
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Unit 7 
__________________________________________________________________ 

CONSIDERATION 
Part One  

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

The Basic Consideration Requirement  

FOCUS OF THIS UNIT  

 One earlyñand for our purposes, analytically useful ñtheory of the origin of 

consideration came from the idea that an exchange enforceable at law should 

ultimately consist of quid pro quo  (literally, òthis for tható). If A gives B $5,000 in 

exchange for Bõs old car, each gets a benefit and each suffers a detriment. A, in this 

example, òbenefitsó from getting the car, but suffers a òdetrimentó in having to give 

up $5,000. Over the years the requirement of consideration has evolved far beyond a 

simple quid pro  quo, as we will see in this section. Without consideration, classical 

contract considered such promises to be nudum pactum ex quo non oritur actio .ó1  

 Unenforceable Gift Promises.  Promises to make gifts are outside the quid pro 

quo paradigm and, in most cases, not legally enforceable based on lack of 

consideration. If Snyder plans to give you a bottle of Scotch for Christmas and you 

plan to give Snyder a necktie, then the two of you are exchanging gifts. Snyder would 

get to keep the necktie even if he for got to get you anything, just as you would be free 

to keep the Scotch even if you were ungrateful enough not to get Snyder a gift. No 

contract arises between the parties to a gift. Gifts are, in legal parlance, ògratuitous 

transfers.ó If a person promises to give you a gift, the promise is not usually 

enforceable. Once a gift has been given to you (or òdeliveredó) the gift is complete. The 

giver has no legal right to take the gift back.  

 The existence of a gift (rather than a quid pro quo exchange) has important 

implications in contract law. Suppose, again, that you promised  to give Snyder a tie, 

you bought the tie, and you wrapped up the tie. At this point, you are not legally 

obliged to give Snyder the tie. Your promise was gratuitous and is not enforceabl e, 

                                            
1 [Translated, the Latin phrase  means, òa naked promise from which no action can arise.ó The 

quotation is from the House of Lords opinion in Rann v. Hughes , 101 Eng. Rep. 1014 (1778). The 

principle dates back to Roman law, in which a pactum  was an agreement that was enforceable if it fe ll 

into a specified class. If not, it was nudum  or òbare.ó In such situations, if the promisor had performed 

he could not get the performance back, but he could not be compelled to perform. ð Eds.]  
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and you are free to change your mind up until the moment of delivery. Snyder is 

equally free to keep the bottle of Scotch.  

 Bargained -for Exchange. But what if we change the facts slightly? Suppose 

this time that you and Snyder agree that he will trade you a bottle of Scotch for a 

necktie. At that point, rather than a gift, the two of you have a òbargained-for 

exchange.ó2 The Scotch and the necktie, both being things of value exchanged for each 

other, are each òconsiderationó for each other. You and Snyder now have a contract, 

and legal liability occurs at the time the promise is made . No actual delivery is 

required.  

 Distinguishing gifts from contracts is usually not difficult. An employee 

typically does not offer her services free to her employer; the g rocery store is not 

usually giving away its food; and your internet service provider usually is not 

providing you broadband access out of the goodness of its heart. In the ordinary 

commercial world most transactions occur through trade, not by gift. In som e 

situations, however, telling whether one party is giving someone a gift or is 

bargaining for something in return can be challenging. The key question is whether 

the thing or the promise is offered to get something in return . Since one always expects 

to get gratitude for a gift, that òsomethingó must be more than just a warm feeling. 

It must be something that has òvalue in the eyes of the law.ó Exactly what that means 

is a matter of some complexity.  

 A Three -Part Analysis. As you read the cases and materia ls below, keep in 

mind three distinct questions. First, is there a promise? The definition of a promise 

is a pledge to do (or not do) some particular thing. Thus, a statement like, òI will take 

out the trash this afternoon if I decide to,ó is not a promiseñmerely the illusion  of a 

promiseñbecause there is no actual statement that the promisor is going to do 

anything. Second, is it a promise to do something that the promisor is not already 

obligated to do? You canõt òbargainó for something that the other party is already 

obligated to do, such as not committing murder, refraining from snorting cocaine, or 

obeying traffic laws. Third, is the promise part of a bargain that involves an 

exchange? A simple promise to take out the trash is gratuitous. But if it is g iven in 

exchange for the promiseeõs promise to unload the dishwasher, it is a bargain. 

 You might find it useful to review sections 71 -77 of the Restatement (Second) 

of Contracts as you work your way through this unit.  

______________________ 

                                            
 2 [Be careful with this word òbargain.ó In common usage , it has at least three meanings : (1) an 

agreement between parties under which each will do something for the other; (2) the process of 

negotiating a deal (òbargainingó over the terms); and (3) a particularly good deal (òitõs a real bargainó). 

The first meaning is the one we use in contract law.  We tend to use the words ònegotiateó or (in older 

materials) òdickeró to mean the second sense. And whether the deal is good or bad is irrelevant to the 

question whether it is a òbargainó in our sense. ð Eds.]  
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Cases and Materials  

 

RIDGE RUNNER FORESTRY v. VENEMAN  

United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit  

287 F.3d 1058 (Fed. Cir. 2002)  

 

MAYER, C.J.  

 Ridge Runner Forestry appeals from the decision of the Department of 

Agriculture Board of Contract Appeals dismi ssing its cause of action for lack of 

jurisdiction. Because no contract had been formed, we affirm the boardõs decision. 

 Ridge Runner Forestry is a fire protection company located in the Pacific 

Northwest. In response to a request for quotations (òRFQó) issued by the Forestry 

Service, Ridge Runner submitted a proposal and ultimately signed a document 

entitled Pacific Northwest Interagency Engine Tender Agreement (òTender 

Agreementó). The Tender Agreement incorporated the RFQ in its entirety, including 

the following two provisions in bold faced lettering: (1) òAward of an Interagency 

Equipment Rental Agreement based on response to this Request for Quotations 

(RFQ) does not preclude the Government from using any agency or cooperator or local 

EERA resourcesó; and (2) òAward of an Interagency Equipment Rental Agreement 

does not guarantee there will be a need for the equipment offered nor does it 

guarantee orders will be placed against the awarded agreements.ó Additionally, 

because the government could not forese e its actual equipment needs, the RFQ 

contained language that allowed the contractor to decline the governmentõs request 

for equipment for any reason: òBecause the equipment needs of the government and 

availability of contractorõs equipment during an emergency cannot be determined in 

advance, it is mutually agreed that, upon request of the government, the contractor 

shall furnish the equipment offered herein to the extent the contractor is willing and 

able at the time of order ó (emphasis added). The RFQ also included a clause informing 

bidders that they would not be reimbursed for any costs incurred in submitting a 

quotation. Ridge Runner signed Tender Agreements in 1996, 1997, 1998, and 1999. 

In 1999, it presented a claim for $180,000 to the contracting off icer alleging that the 

Forestry Service had violated an òimplied duty of good faith and fair dealingó because 

Ridge Runner had been òsystematically excluded for the past several years from 

providing services to the Government.ó In response, the contracting officer .3 told 

                                            
3 [The process for contracting with the United States government is somewhat different than 

contracting with a private entity. Contracts are signed by an officially designated agency official called 

a òcontracting officer, ó who has the power to sign agreeme nts for the United States.  The contracting 

officer is also ultimately responsible for administering the contract on behalf of the government.  If a 

contractual dispute arises, the private party generally cannot sue. The contractor õs claim must first be 
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Ridge Runner that she lacked the proper authority to decide the claim [because the 

Agreement was not a contract] .  Ridge Runner timely appealed the decision to the 

Department of Agriculture Board of Contract Appeals. The board granted the 

governmentõs motion to dismiss concluding that because no contract had been entered 

into, it lacked jurisdiction under the Contract Disputes Act.  

 We have jurisdiction over an appeal from a decision of an agency board of 

contract appeals. The boardõs jurisdiction under the CDA requires, at a minimum, a 

contract between an agency and another party. Therefore, the threshold matter is 

whether the Tender Agreements constituted contracts between the parties, which is 

a question of law that we review de novo. 

 òTo be valid and enforceable, a contract must have both consideration to ensure 

mutuality of obligation and sufficient definiteness so as to ôprovide a basis for 

determining the existence of a breach and for giving an appropriate remedy.õó Ace-

Federal Reporters, Inc. v. Barram , 226 F.3d 1329, 1332 (Fed. Cir. 2000). òTo constitute 

consideration, a performance or a return promise must be bargained for.ó 

Restatement (Second) of Contracts Ä 71(1) (1979). And the òpromise or apparent 

promise is not consideration if  by its terms the promisor or purported promisor 

reserves a choice of alternative performances.ó Id . § 77. 

 Ridge Runner argues that the Tender Agreement was a binding contract that 

placed specific obligations upon the government; namely, the government wa s 

obligated to call upon Ridge Runner, and the other winning vendors, for its fire 

fighting needs, and in return, the vendors were to remain ready with acceptable 

equipment and trained staff to answer the governmentõs call. This, Ridge Runner 

argues, places the alleged contract squarely within our [earlier] holding in Ace-

Federal . 

 Ace-Federal  involved a requirements contract whereby the government was 

obligated to use, with limited exceptions, enumerated suppliers. We held that òeach 

time an agency [acquired goods from] a non -contract source, the government breached 

the contract.ó 

 The contrac t in Ace-Federal  is quite distinct from the Tender Agreements at 

issue in this case. That contract obligated the government to fulfill all of its 

requirements for transcription services from enumerated vendors or obtain a waiver. 

The Tender Agreements here  are nothing but illusory promises. By the phrase 

illusory promise is meant words in promissory form that promise nothing; they do not 

purport to put any limitation on the freedom of the alleged promisor, but leave his 

                                            
presented to the contracting officer for her determination.  If she denies the contractor õs claim, the 

contractor can appeal to another part of the agency, called usually called the Board of Contract 

Appeals. If the Board denies the claim, the contractor can appeal to a federal court.  That  is what 

happened in this case.  ð Eds.]  
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future action subject to his own futu re will, just as it would have been had he said no 

words at all. Torncello v. United States , 681 F.2d 756, 769 (Ct. Cl. 1982) ( quoting 1 

ARTHUR L.  CORBIN , CORBIN ON CONTRACTS  § 145 (1963)). The government had the 

option of attempting to obtain firefighting  services from Ridge Runner or any other 

source, regardless of whether that source had signed a tender agreement. The 

Agreements contained no clause limiting the governmentõs options for firefighting 

services; the government merely òpromisedó to consider using Ridge Runner for 

firefighting services. Also, the Tender Agreement placed no obligation upon Ridge 

Runner. If the government came calling, Ridge Runner òpromisedó to provide the 

requested equipment only if it was òwilling and able.ó It is axiomatic that a valid 

contract cannot be based upon the illusory promise of one party, much less illusory 

promises of both parties. See Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 71(1).  

 Accordingly, the decision of the Department of Agriculture Board of Contract 

Appeals is  affirmed.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 1.  òThe Tender Agreements here are nothing but illusory 

promises,ó says the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals, and therefore lacked 

consideration to support the existence of an enforceable contract. Think about the 

distinction the court draws with the Ace Federal  case it discusses.  What  makes a 

promise òillusoryó such that it lacks consideration?  

______________________ 

 

JANKOWSKI v. MONCLOVA -MAUMEE -TOLEDO  

JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE  

Court of Appeals of Ohio 

185 Ohio App. 3d 568, 924 N.E.2d 932 (2010)  

 

 [Three local government entities created a special Joint Economic 

Development Zone in Monclova Township. After the JEDZ was created, it entered 

into a contract with the township to receive certain gover nment services.]  

 The ògovernmental servicesó contract between the Joint Economic 

Development Zone and Monclova township provides that the township òshall furnish 

or cause to be furnished to the properties included in the JEDZ territory, all usual 

and cust omary governmental services furnished by Monclova to other comparable 

properties in Monclova, including: fire protection, medical rescue, and road 

maintenance services.ó In return Monclova Township is to receive one-third of the net 

tax revenues from the z one. 
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 We conclude that the territory encompassed in the Monclova -Maumee-Toledo 

JEDZ remains a part of Monclova Township. As such, the occupiers of property within 

the zone are entitled to the same governmental services provided elsewhere in 

Monclova Townsh ip. Moreover, the Monclova Township Trustees have the same duty 

to provide usual and customary governmental services in the JEDZ as they do 

elsewhere in the township.  

 As a result, the Trustees of Monclova Township have a pre -existing legal duty 

to perform  governmental services within the JEDZ, which are the same services that 

they have contracted to provide to the JEDZ in return for compensation. 

òPerformance of a legal duty owed to a promisor which is neither doubtful nor the 

subject of honest dispute is not consideration.ó Restatement (Second) of Contracts Ä 

73 (1979). Consideration is an essential element of any contract, without which there 

is no contract.  

 As a matter of law, Monclova Township has a duty to provide usual and 

customary governmental serv ices in the JEDZ. Since the contract between the 

township and the JEDZ is premised on the consideration of the township performing 

services that it is already legally obligated to provide, the contract fails for want of 

consideration.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 2.  The case described what contract law calls the 

òpreexisting duty rule,ó which you can find in section 73 of the Second Restatement. 

Promising to do something that you already have a duty to do ñor, on the flip side, 

promising not to d o something you have no right to do ñis not consideration. Does 

that rule make sense to you or is it preventing useful contracts from being formed? If 

someone wants to promise you more to make sure you obey the speed limit or donõt 

do dangerous drugs, why s houldnõt the law enforce a promise to do so? 

______________________ 

 

SCHNELL v. NELL  

Supreme Court of Indiana  

17 Ind. 29 (1861)  

PERKINS, J.  

 Action by J. B. Nell against Zacharias Schnell, upon the following instrument:  

 This agreement, entered into this 13th  day of February, 1856 , 

between Zach. Schnell , of Indianapolis, Marion county, State of 

Indiana,  as party of the first part, and J. B. Nell , of the same place, 

Wendelin Lorenz , of Stilesville, Hendricks county, State of Indiana , and 

Donata Lorenz , of Frickinger, Grand Duchy of Baden, Germany , as 
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parties of the second part, witnesseth: The said Zacharias Schnell 

agrees as follows: whereas his wife, Theresa Schnell , now deceased, has 

made a last will and testament, in which, among other provisions, it was  

ordained that every one of the above named second parties, should 

receive the sum of $200; and whereas the said provisions of the will must 

remain a nullity, for the reason that no property, real or personal, was 

in the possession of the said Theresa Schnell , deceased, in her own name, 

at the time of her death, and all property held by Zacharia s and Theresa 

Schnell jointly, therefore reverts to her husband; and whereas the said 

Theresa Schnell has also been a dutiful and loving wife to the said Zach. 

Schnell , and has materially aided him in the acquisition of all property, 

real and personal, now possessed by him; for, and in consideration of all 

this, and the love and respect he bears to his wife; and, furthermore, in 

consideration of one cent, received  by him of the second parties, he, the 

said Zach. Schnell , agrees to pay the above named sums of money to the 

parties of the second part, to wit: $200 to the said J. B. Nell ; $200 to the 

said Wendelin Lorenz ; and $200 to the said Donata Lorenz , in the 

foll owing installments, viz., $200 in one year from the date of these 

presents; $200 in two years, and $200 in three years; to be divided 

between the parties in equal portions of $66 2/3 each year, or as they 

may agree, till each one has received his full sum of $200. And the said 

parties of the second part, for, and in consideration of this, agree to pay 

the above named sum of money [one cent], and to deliver up to said 

Schnell , and abstain from collecting any real or supposed claims upon 

him or his estate, ar ising from the said last will and testament of the 

said Theresa Schnell , deceased. 

 In witness whereof, the said parties have, on this 13th day of 

February , 1856, set hereunto their hands and seals.  

  Zacharias Schnell [seal.]  

  J. B. Nell [seal.]  

  Wen. L orenz [seal]  

 The complaint contained no averment of a consideration for the instruments 

outside of those expressed in it; and did not aver that the one cent agreed to be paid, 

had been paid or tendered.  

 A demurrer to the complaint was overruled.  

 The defendant answered, that the instrument sued on was given for no 

consideration whatever.  
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 He further answered, that it was given for no consideration, because his said 

wife, Theresa, at the time she made the will mentioned, and at the time of her death, 

owned, neither separately, nor jointly with her husband, or any one else (except so 

far as the law gave her an interest in her husbandõs property), any property, real or 

personal, &c.  

 The will is copied into the record, but need not be into this opinion.  

 The Court sustained a demurrer to these answers, evidently on the ground that 

they were regarded as contradicting the instrument sued on, which particularly set 

out the considerations upon which it was executed. But the instrument is latently 

ambiguous on this  point.  

 The case turned below, and must turn here, upon the question whether the 

instrument sued on does express a consideration sufficient to give it legal obligation, 

as against Zacharias Schnell. It specifies three distinct considerations for his promi se 

to pay $600:  

 1. A promise, on the part of the plaintiffs, to pay him one cent.  

 2. The love and affection he bore his deceased wife, and the fact that she had 

done her part, as his wife, in the acquisition of property.  

 3. The fact that she had expressed her desire, in the form of an inoperative will, 

that the persons named therein should have the sums of money specified.  

 The consideration of one cent will not support the promise of Schnell. It is true, 

that as a general proposition, inadequacy of consideration will not vitiate an 

agreement. Baker v. Roberts , 14 Ind. 457 (1860). But this doctrine does not apply to 

a mere exchange of sums of money, of coin, whose value is exactly fixed, but to the 

exchange of something of, in itself, indeterminate  value, for money, or, perhaps, for 

some other thing of indeterminate value. In this case, had the one cent mentioned, 

been some particular one cent, a family piece, or ancient, remarkable coin, possessing 

an indeterminate value, extrinsic from its simple money value, a different view might 

be taken. As it is, the mere promise to pay six hundred dollars for one cent, even had 

the portion of that cent due from the plaintiff been tendered, is an unconscionable 

contract, void, at first blush, upon its face, if  it be regarded as an earnest one. 

Hardesty v. Smith , 3 Ind. 39 (1851). The consideration of one cent is, plainly, in this 

case, merely nominal, and intended to be so. As the will and testament of Schnellõs 

wife imposed no legal obligation upon him to disc harge her bequests out of his 

property, and as she had none of her own, his promise to discharge them was not 

legally binding upon him, on that ground. A moral consideration, only, will not 

support a promise.  

 And for the same reason, a valid consideration  for his promise can not be found 

in the fact of a compromise of a disputed claim; for where such claim is legally 

groundless, a promise upon a compromise of it, or of a suit upon it, is not legally 



 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
UNIT 7: THE BASIC REQUIREMENT OF CONSIDER ATION  125 

binding. Spahr v. Hollingshead , 8 Blackf. 415 (Ind. 1847) . There was no mistake of 

law or fact in this case, as the agreement admits the will inoperative and void. The 

promise was simply one to make a gift. The past services of his wife, and the love and 

affection he had borne her, are objectionable as legal con siderations for Schnellõs 

promise, on two grounds: (1) They are past considerations. (2) The fact that Schnell 

loved his wife, and that she had been industrious, constituted no consideration for his 

promise to pay J. B. Nell, and the Lorenzes, a sum of mon ey. Whether, if his wife, in 

her lifetime, had made a bargain with Schnell, that, in consideration of his promising 

to pay, after her death, to the persons named, a sum of money, she would be 

industrious, and worthy of his affection, such a promise would h ave been valid and 

consistent with public policy, we need not decide.  

 Nor is the fact that Schnell now venerates the memory of his deceased wife, a 

legal consideration for a promise to pay any third person money.  

 The instrument sued on, interpreted in t he light of the facts alleged in the 

second paragraph of the answer, will not support an action. The demurrer to the 

answer should have been overruled. See Stevenson v. Druley, 4 Ind. 519 (1853).  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 3.  Schnell appears to haveñacting of his own free will ñ

intended to legally bind himself to pay money to Nell and the Lorenzes. Why should 

the law not compel him to perform? Should a general policy preference for freedom of 

contract apply in this situation? If we are going to  enforce some promises as contracts, 

then why not enforce this one?  

 

 Review Question 4.  The agreement signed by Schnell recites several different 

things that might  amount to consideration. Make a list of the various items and try 

to see why they do not am ount to òconsideration.ó 

______________________ 

 

HAMER v. SIDWAY  

Court of Appeals of New York  

79 Sickels 538, 124 N.Y. 538, 27 N.E. 256 (1891)  

 

 APPEAL from order of the General Term of the Supreme Court in the fourth 

judicial department, made July 1, 1890, which reversed a judgment in favor of 

plaintiff entered upon a decision of the court on trial at Special Term and granted a 

new trial.  
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 This action was brought upon an alleged contract.  

 The plaintiff presented a claim to the executor of William E. S tory, Sr., for 

$5,000 and interest from the 6th day of February, 1875. She acquired it through 

several mesne assignments from William E. Story, 2d. The claim being rejected by 

the executor, this action was brought.  

 It appears that William E. Story, Sr., was the uncle of William E. Story, 2d; 

that at the celebration of the golden wedding of Samuel Story and wife, father and 

mother of William E. Story, Sr., on the 20th day of March, 1869, in the presence of 

the family and invited guests he promised his neph ew that if he would refrain from 

drinking, using tobacco, swearing and playing cards or billiards for money until he 

became twenty -one years of age he would pay him a sum of $5,000. The nephew 

assented thereto and fully performed the conditions inducing th e promise. When the 

nephew arrived at the age of twenty -one years and on the 31st day of January, 1875, 

he wrote to his uncle informing him that he had performed his part of the agreement 

and had thereby become entitled to the sum of $5,000.  

 The uncle rec eived the letter and a few days later and on the sixth of February, 

he wrote and mailed to his nephew the following letter:  

BUFFALO, Feb. 6, 1875.  

W. E. STORY, Jr.:  

DEAR NEPHEW ñYour letter of the 31st ult. came to hand all right, 

saying that you had lived up to the promise made to me several years 

ago. I have no doubt but you have, for which you shall have five thousand 

dollars as I promised you. I had the money in the bank the day you was 

21 years old that I intend for you, and you shall have the money cer tain. 

Now, Willie I do not intend to interfere with this money in any way till 

I think you are capable of taking care of it and the sooner that time 

comes the better it will please me. I would hate very much to have you 

start out in some adventure that you  thought all right and lose this 

money in one year. The first five thousand dollars that I got together 

cost me a heap of hard work. You would hardly believe me when I tell 

you that to obtain this I shoved a jackplane many a day, butchered three 

or four years, then came to this city, and after three monthsõ 

perseverance I obtained a situation in a grocery store. I opened this store 

early, closed late, slept in the fourth story of the building in a room 30 

by 40 feet and not a human being in the building but  myself. All this I 

done to live as cheap as I could to save something. I donõt want you to 

take up with this kind of fare. I was here in the cholera season ô49 and 

ô52 and the deaths averaged 80 to 125 daily and plenty of small-pox. I 

wanted to go home, b ut Mr. Fisk, the gentleman I was working for, told 

me if I left then, after it got healthy he probably would not want me. I 
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stayed. All the money I have saved I know just how I got it. It did not 

come to me in any mysterious way, and the reason I speak of this is that 

money got in this way stops longer with a fellow that gets it with hard 

knocks than it does when he finds it. Willie, you are 21 and you have 

many a thing to learn yet. This money you have earned much easier 

than I did besides acquiring good h abits at the same time and you are 

quite welcome to the money; hope you will make good use of it. I was ten 

long years getting this together after I was your age.  

Truly Yours,  

W. E. STORY.  

P. S. You can consider this money on interest.  

The nephew received  the letter and thereafter consented that the money should 

remain with his uncle in accordance with the terms and conditions of the letters. The 

uncle died on the 29th day of January, 1887, without having paid over to his nephew 

any portion of the said $5, 000 and interest.  

 PARKER, J.: The question which provoked the most discussion by counsel on 

this appeal, and which lies at the foundation of plaintiffõs asserted right of recovery, 

is whether by virtue of a contract defendantõs testator William E. Story became 

indebted to his nephew William E. Story, 2d, on his twenty -first birthday in the sum 

of five thousand dollars. The trial court found as a fact that òon the 20th day of March, 

1869, William E. Story agreed to and with William E. Story, 2d, that if he would 

refrain from drinking liquor, using tobacco, swearing, and playing cards or billiards 

for money until he should become 21 years of age then he, the said William E. Story, 

would at that time pay him, the said William E. Story, 2d, the sum of $5,000 fo r such 

refraining, to which the said William E. Story, 2d, agreed,ó and that he òin all things 

fully performed his part of said agreement.ó 

 The defendant contends that the contract was without consideration to support 

it, and, therefore, invalid. He asser ts that the promisee by refraining from the use of 

liquor and tobacco was not harmed but benefitted; that which he did was best for him 

to do independently of his uncleõs promise, and insists that it follows that unless the 

promisor was benefitted, the con tract was without consideration. A contention, which 

if well founded, would seem to leave open for controversy in many cases whether that 

which the promisee did or omitted to do was, in fact, of such benefit to him as to leave 

no consideration to support t he enforcement of the promisorõs agreement. Such a rule 

could not be tolerated, and is without foundation in the law. The Exchequer Chamber, 

in 1875, defined consideration as follows: òA valuable consideration in the sense of 

the law may consist either in some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to the one 

party, or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or 

undertaken by the other.ó Courts òwill not ask whether the thing which forms the 
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consideration does in fact benefit  the promisee or a third party, or is of any 

substantial value to anyone. It is enough that something is promised, done, forborne 

or suffered by the party to whom the promise is made as consideration for the promise 

made to him.ó WILLIAM R. ANSON , PRINCIPL ES OF THE ENGLISH LAW OF CONTRACT 63 

(1884). 

 òIn general a waiver of any legal right at the request of another party is a 

sufficient consideration for a promise.ó THEOPHILUS PARSONS, THE LAW OF CONTRACTS  

444 (7th ed. 1883).  

 òAny damage, or suspension, or forbearance of a right will be sufficient to 

sustain a promise.ó 2 JAMES KENT , COMMENTARIES ON AMERICAN LAW 465 (12th ed. 

1873). 

 Pollock, in his work on contracts, page 166, after citing the definition given by 

the Exchequer Chamber already quoted, òThe second branch of this judicial 

description is really the most important one. Consideration means not so much that 

one party is profiting as that the other abandons some legal right in the present or 

limits his legal freedom of action in the future as an in ducement for the promise of 

the first.ó FREDERICK POLLOCK , THE PRINCIPLES OF  CONTRACT  166 (1876). 

 Now, applying this rule to the facts before us, the promisee used tobacco, 

occasionally drank liquor, and he had a legal right to do so. That right he abando ned 

for a period of years upon the strength of the promise of the testator that for such 

forbearance he would give him $5,000. We need not speculate on the effort which may 

have been required to give up the use of those stimulants. It is sufficient that he  

restricted his lawful freedom of action within certain prescribed limits upon the faith 

of his uncleõs agreement, and now having fully performed the conditions imposed, it 

is of no moment whether such performance actually proved a benefit to the promisor,  

and the court will not inquire into it, but were it a proper subject of inquiry, we see 

nothing in this record that would permit a determination that the uncle was not 

benefitted in a legal sense. Few cases have been found which may be said to be 

precisely in point, but such as have been support the position we have taken.  

 In Shadwell v. Shadwell , 143 Eng. Rep. 62 (C.P. 1860), an uncle wrote to his 

nephew as follows:  

MY DEAR LANCEY ñI am so glad to hear of your intended marriage 

with Ellen Nicholl, and as I promised to assist you at starting, I am 

happy to tell you that I will pay to you 150 pounds yearly during my life 

and until your annual income derived from your profession of a chancery 

barrister shall amount to 600 guineas, of which your own admission will 

be the only evidence that I shall require.  
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Your affectionate uncle,  

CHARLES SHADWELL.  

It was held that the promise was binding and made upon good consideration.  

 In Lakota v. Newton , an unreported case in the Superior Court of Worcester, 

Mass., the complaint averred defendantõs promise that òif you (meaning plaintiff) will 

leave off drinking for a year I will give you $100,ó plaintiffõs assent thereto, 

performance of the condition by him, and demanded judgment therefor. Defendant 

demurred on the grou nd, among others, that the plaintiffõs declaration did not allege 

a valid  and sufficient consideration for the agreement of the defendant. The demurrer 

was overruled.  

 In Talbott v. Stemmonsõ Executor, 12 S.W. 297 (Ky. Ct. App. 1889), the step -

grandmother of the plaintiff made with him the following agreement: òI do promise 

and bind myself to give my grandson, Albert R. Talbott, $500 at my death, if he will 

never take another chew of tobacco or smoke another cigar during my life from this 

date up to my deat h, and if he breaks this pledge he is to refund double the amount 

to his mother.ó The executor of Mrs. Stemmons demurred to the complaint on the 

ground that the agreement was not based on a sufficient consideration. The demurrer 

was sustained and an appeal  taken therefrom to the Court of Appeals, where the 

decision of the court below was reversed. In the opinion of the court it is said that òthe 

right to use and enjoy the use of tobacco was a right that belonged to the plaintiff and 

not forbidden by law. Th e abandonment of its use may have saved him money or 

contributed to his health, nevertheless, the surrender of that right caused the 

promise, and having the right to contract with reference to the subject -matter, the 

abandonment of the use was a sufficient  consideration to uphold the promise.ó 

 Abstinence from the use of intoxicating liquors was held to furnish a good 

consideration for a promissory note in Lindell v. Rokes , 60 Mo. 249 (1870). 

 The order appealed from should be reversed and the judgment of t he Special 

Term affirmed, with costs payable out of the estate.  

 

 

______________________ 
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 Review Question 5.  The promisors in Schnell v. Nell  and in Hamer v. Sidway  

both appear to have made sincere promises that were motivated by affection and 

family tie s. Which facts in Hamer were legally relevant in enabling the promisee 4 to 

win while the promisees in Schnell lost? 

 

______________________ 

 

WEAVERTOWN TRANSPORT LEASING, INC. v. MORAN  

Superior Court of Pennsylvania  

834 A.2d 1169 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2003)  

 

JOHNSON, J.  

 In July of 2000, Appellant -Defendant Daniel Moran, a certified public 

accountant, accepted employment as controller for Appellee -Plaintiff Weavertown 

Transport Leasing, Inc. That summer, the Pittsburgh Steelers National Football 

League franchi se prepared to relocate from Three Rivers Stadium to its new home, 

Heinz Field. Moran, a long -time season ticket -holder to Steelersõ home games at 

Three Rivers Stadium, was offered four season tickets to Heinz Field comparable to 

his seats at Three Rivers Stadium as well as the opportunity to secure additional 

seats. Moran paid $11,000 for thirty -year licenses to the four seats that corresponded 

to his former seats. He also agreed to purchase seven -year licenses to four Club -Level 

seats, which cost $3,840. The purchase agreements precluded Moran from selling or 

transferring his licenses to another party for at least one year after purchase, but 

allowed for transfer thereafter.  

 While these transactions took place, Moran began employment as 

Weavertownõs controller. Soon after his arrival, he learned through Weavertownõs 

President, Dawn Fuchs -Heiser, that the Company sought full ownership of season 

tickets to Heinz Field to entertain its clients. These tickets would augment the 

Companyõs season tickets to see the Pittsburgh Penguins at Mellon Arena and the 

Pittsburgh Pirates at PNC Park. In prior years, the Company had purchased tickets 

to many Steelers home games on a per -game basis from another holder of season 

tickets. For the 2001/2002 season, Fuchs -Heiser a greed to buy them from Moran.  

 The parties dispute the nature of the agreement Moran and Fuchs -Heiser 

reached on behalf of Weavertown. The trial court, however, found unequivocally that 

Moran òoffered to sell both the seat license fee to [Weavertown] and the accompanying 

                                            
 4 [Actually, plaintiff Louisa Hamer was not the original promise, but rather was the eventual 

assignee of the rights of William E. Story II. As such, Hamer òstood in the shoesó of the younger Story 

and had the ability to assert his rights against Franklin Sidway, who was the executor of the estate of 

the elder William E. Story.  Toward the end of this book, we will cover the concept of assignment  in 

more detail.  ð Eds.]  
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season tickets for the Steelers to [Weavertown] and to transfer the seat license from 

his name to that of [Weavertown] when the Steelers would permit [Moran] to do so.ó 

To that end, Weavertown wrote checks totaling $3,840 to the Stadium Bu ilding Fund 

(SBF) for the license fees corresponding to four Club Level seats, and then wrote a 

check for $5,804 to the Steelers for the face value of the 2001/2002 season tickets. 

These checks were delivered to Moran, who in turn sent them to the appropri ate 

bodies. When he received the tickets he gave them to the Company. When the Steelers 

earned a playoff berth at the end of the 2001/2002 season, Weavertown purchased 

seats for those games for $1,283ñagain by giving a check to Moran who delivered it 

to th e appropriate Steelers office.  

 On May 11, 2001, before the Steelers began their first season at Heinz Field, 

Moran resigned his position with Weavertown. He nonetheless in no way interfered 

with Weavertownõs usage of the seats in dispute throughout that season and during 

the playoffs. After the 2001/2002 NFL playoffs, in the spring of 2002, Fuchs -Heiser 

asked Moran when he would be able to transfer the licenses to Weavertown. Moran 

denied that he had ever intended to transfer the licenses. He did, however , tender a 

check to Weavertown equal to six -sevenths of the seat license fee Weavertown had 

furnished to the SBF ñostensibly to offset, on a pro rata basis, the license fees for the 

six years remaining on the licenses. Weavertown rejected the offer and init iated this 

action.  

 The trial court rejected Moranõs argument that the asserted oral contract failed 

for want of consideration. It counted Weavertownõs payments to SBF and the Steelers 

as payments to third parties constituting consideration. Thus, the cou rt found that 

an oral contract existed between Weavertown and Moran. The court ordered specific 

performance, directing Moran to transfer the seat licenses and any outstanding 

Steelers tickets purchased under those licenses. From this order, Moran appeals.  

 Our standard of review requires us to determine, based on all the evidence, 

whether the trial court properly applied contract principles. We will not usurp the 

trial courtõs fact-finding function, and will intercede only where the trial court 

committed an  error of law or an abuse of discretion.  

 A contract is formed when the parties to it (1) reach a mutual understanding, 

(2) exchange consideration, and (3) delineate the terms of their bargain with sufficient 

clarity. Consideration consists of a benefit to  the promisor or a detriment to the 

promisee.  

 It is not enough, however, that the promisee has suffered a legal 

detriment at the request of the promisor. The detriment incurred must 

be the ôquid pro quoõ or the ôpriceõ of the promise, and the inducement for 

which it was made. If the promisor merely intends to make a gift to the 

promisee upon the performance of a condition, the promise is gratuitous 

and the satisfaction of the condition is not consideration for a contract. 
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The distinction between such a co nditional gift and a contract is well 

illustrated in 1 SAMUEL WILLISTON , LAW OF CONTRACTS  § 112 (rev. ed. 

1936), where it is said: òIf a benevolent man says to a tramp,5 ôif you go 

around the corner to the clothing shop there, you may purchase an 

overcoat on my credit,õ no reasonable person would understand that the 

short walk was requested as the consideration for the promise, but that 

in the event of the tramp going to the shop the promisor would make 

him a gift.ó 

Stelmack v. Glen Alden Coal Co ., 14 A.2d 127, 128-29 (Pa. 1940). 

 Moran contends that he received no consideration for the season tickets and 

seat licenses due to Weavertownõs lack of obligation to the Steelers. Instead, he 

argues that his arrangement with Weavertown was gratuitous, conditioned o n 

Weavertownõs standing in his place by paying the amounts due the Steelers and SBF 

for the seats in question. He effectively illustrates his point by observing that, òif the 

season tickets, for some reason, were no longer valuable, and Weavertown didnõt want 

them anymore, it is Moran who is obligated to the Pittsburgh Steelers, not 

Weavertown.ó  

 Weavertown has more in common with Willistonõs òtrampó than it does with a 

promisee obliged to a third -party: Weavertownõs payments directly to SBF and the 

Steelers set up Moranõs conditional gift granting Weavertown access to four Club 

Level seats at Heinz Field; SBF and the Steelers were incidental beneficiaries, the 

benefit to whom cannot be consideration. That Moran arranged it so that Weavertown 

bore the initi al burden of paying the seat licenses does not change the general 

character of the transaction, as demonstrated by Moranõs unsolicited pre-litigation 

offer to repay sixth -sevenths of the license fees to Weavertown. Thus, we find no 

consideration in the arr angement between Moran and Weavertown.  

 The trial court erred in finding adequate consideration to support an oral 

contract in the gratuitous arrangement between Moran and Weavertown. Thus, we 

must reverse the trial courtõs order. We recognize, however, that Moran should not 

receive the benefit of the remaining years on the seat licenses in question without 

reimbursing Weavertown as the trial court deems appropriate. Thus, we remand for 

further proceedings consistent with this Opinion.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 6.  Willistonõs òtrampó hypothetical is often seen as a simple 

case of charity: of promising a gift but then reneging on the promise. The interactions 

between Moran and Weavertown seem much more complex than that. Was Moran 

                                            
 5 [By a òtramp,ó Professor Williston is referring ñin arguably unkind 1930s language ñto a 

homeless man or transient otherwise living on the city streets. ð Eds.]  
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acting char itably? Was he intending  some sort of gift to his employer? The trial court 

found a òcontract,ó which presumes that it found consideration. What arguable  

consideration could there have been in the agreement to support the trial courtõs 

position? Re-consider section 71 of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts while 

answering this question.  

______________________ 

Problems  

Problem 7.1 

 Antillicoõs husband died and left her with several children, little money, and a 

failing farm. Her brother -in -law, Isaac, hear d of her troubles and sent the following 

letter:  

Dear sister Antillico ð Much to my mortification, I heard, that brother 

Henry was dead, and one of his children. I know that your situation is 

one of grief, and difficulty. You had a bad chance before, but a  great deal 

worse now. I should like to come and see you, but cannot with 

convenience at present. I do not know whether you have a purchase 

option on the place you live on, or not. If you had, I would advise you to 

exercise it and sell the land and quit th e country, as I understand it is 

very unhealthy, and I know society is very bad. If you will come down 

and see me, I will let you have a place to raise your family, and I have 

more open land than I can tend; and on the account of your situation, 

and that o f your family, I feel like I want you and the children to do well.  

Antillico promptly packed up and move down to Isaacõs place. She stayed there for 

two years, cultivating the land. Isaac thereupon kicked her off the property. She sued, 

claiming breach of contract. Isaac argued that there was no consideration for his 

promise. What result?  

Problem 7.2 

 Fritz is a well -to-do man who owns a cat. The cat, Fluffy, is his constant 

companion and his pride and joy. Vincent is an itinerant artist who paints pictures of 

pets. Vincent and Fritz agree that Vincent will paint a picture of Fluffy for $1,000, 

provided  that Fritz thinks itõs a good likeness. If Fritz does not think the painting a 

good likeness, he will owe Vincent nothing. Vincent has Fritz sign a brief form 

recording the transaction. Vincent never gets around to painting Fluffy.  

 Shortly after his tal k with Fritz, Vincent is discovered by a prominent SoHo 

gallery, which wants to do a solo exhibition of his cat paintings. Suddenly Vincentõs 

paintings skyrocket in price. After the gallery show, the price of Vincentõs cat 

paintings has risen to $250,000. Fritz demands that Vincent paint Fluffy, as agreed. 
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Vincent refuses. Fritz eventually sues Vincent, claiming that Vincent breached their 

contract by never painting Fluffy. Assume that if Vincent had painted Fluffy, the 

painting would be worth about $250,00 0. Vincent defends on the ground that there 

never was a contract because Fritzõs promise was illusory.  

 Who should prevail, Vincent or Fritz? Why?  

 

Problem 7.3 

 Michael and Hildegard were married and lived in California. A few years after 

the marriage, Mi chael began having heart problems and he was admitted to the 

hospital several times. He became terrified that he would have to be put in a nursing 

home. He orally promised Hildegard that if she would òcare for [him] in his home, for 

the duration of his ill ness,ó he would leave to her a substantial amount of property 

that she would not ordinarily be entitled to inherit on his death. She cared for him, 

but he never changed his will, and the property went to his daughter by his first 

marriage. Upon his death, she sued the estate to get the property. The estate argued 

that there was no consideration for her promise, because under California law 

spouses owe each other duties of support and care that cannot be disclaimed. Was 

there consideration for Michaelõs promise? Why or why not?  

 

Problem 7.4 

 (a) Jules owns a menõs clothing store in New York. One bitterly cold day, while 

coming out of his bank, he sees a homeless man walking without a coat. He tells the 

man, òLook, if you come by my shop this afternoon, I have a coat that  I will give you.ó 

That afternoon, the man walks the three blocks to Julesõs shop. Is Jules bound to give 

him the coat, or can he change his mind  without legal consequences ? 

 (b) Same facts, except that the homeless man is sitting on a heating grate 

outside of Julesõs expensive haberdashery, causing customers to walk past without 

going inside. Jules tells the man, òIf you will go somewhere else for the day, I will 

give you a coat when you come back at seven when the store closes.ó The man leaves 

and goes to another grate three blocks away. Is Jules bound to give him the coat if he 

returns to the shop at seven?  
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Unit 8 
__________________________________________________________________ 

CONSIDERATION 
Part Two 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Special Issues  with Consideration  

 

FOCUS OF THIS UNIT  

 

 Some promises are relatively trivial, such as promising to pay back a dollar 

you borrowed to get a can of soda. Some promises are extraordinarily solemn and 

important, like a promise to deliver the last letter home for a dying soldier. But 

enforceability, as we  have seen, does not depend on the importance of the promise, 

but on whether it is supported by consideration ñwhether there is, in the language of 

the Restatement (Second) of Contracts, a òbargained-for exchange.ó 

 Modifications? Recall the preexisting dut y rule from the last unit. We talked 

about duties arising under law, but duties can also arise under contracts. Suppose 

you have a contract to paint your neighborõs house $5,000, but you now refuse to do 

so unless the neighbor promises to pay an extra $500 . As you have a contractual 

obligation to paint the house $5,000, there is no consideration for the extra $500. As 

you will see from the following materials, however, it may not be quite that simple.  

 Benefits Already Received? The preexisting duty rule, a s we saw, was based 

on the idea that you canõt bargain for something youõre already entitled to. But what 

about bargaining for something youõve already received? You might think that after 

the cases in the previous unit, the answer would be easy ñif youõve already received 

something, you are almost by definition not bargaining to get it. An important and 

oft -cited English case, Hu nt v. Bate , 73 Eng. Rep. 605 (C.P. 1568), made it clear that 

a subsequent promise to pay for something already received was not en forceable as a 

contract. A gift followed by a return gift does not make a òbargained-for exchange.ó 

Yet the doctrine was never quite that clear. In a series of cases, nearly all involving 

debtors who had promised to repay loans after the loans had been dis charged in 

bankruptcy or barred by the statute of limitations, 1 courts held that if the prior 

                                            
 1 [You are probably familiar with this concept, but statutes of limitations are rules that require 

lawsuits to  be brought withi n a particular period of time. Thus, in a particular state a contract claim 
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benefit was money received, the subsequent promise was enforceable without new 

consideration. The reasoning generally was that a debtor was always morally  

obligat ed to pay back the money, even if the debt was unenforceable, and so that debt 

acted as consideration.  

 Moral Obligation?  But there obviously are òmoraló obligations beyond just 

repaying debts. In Style v. Smith ,2 another sixteenth century case decided onl y a few 

years after Hunt v. Bate , the court raised a hypothetical:  

If a physician, who is my friend, hearing that my son is sick, goeth to 

him in my absence and helps and recovers him, and I being informed 

thereof promise him in consideration . . . to give  him £20 an action will 

lie for the money.  

In other words, said the court, the father must pay even though the promise came 

after  service was performed. But many cases went the other way, including the 

influential Eastwood v. Kenyon , 11 Ad & E 438; 113 ER 482 (Q.B. 1840). Professor 

Brian Simpson concluded the English rules relating to moral consideration were 

òeasier to state than to explain.ó As you can see from the following cases, these 

English rules ñin all their confusion ñwere imported largely intact in to American 

law.  

 As you work through the problems and the readings, try to articulate whether 

liability is based on the idea of the promise or the idea of some kind of exchange. 

Consider section s 86 and 89 of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts in conn ection 

with the materials that follow.  

 

______________________ 

  

                                            
might have to be brought within four years of the breach; if you wait longer than that to file suit, the 

claim is barred. ñEds.]  
2 [There is no citation and no form al report of Style v. Smith  still in existence , although the 

language was referred to and relied upon in later decisions. The quote here is taken from A. W. BRIAN 

SIMPSON , A H ISTORY OF THE LAW OF CONTRACT : THE RISE OF ASSUMPSIT 456 (1975). ð Eds.]  
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Cases and Materials  

ALASKA PACKERSõ ASSOCIATION v. DOMENICO 

Circuit Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit  

117 F. 99 (1902) 

 

ROSS, Circuit Judge.  

 The libel 3 in this case was based upon a contract alleged to have been entered 

into between the libellants and the appellant corporation on the 22d day of May, 1900, 

at Pyramid Harbor, Alaska.  

 The evidence shows without conflict that on March 26, 1900, at the city and 

county of San Francisco, the libellants entered into a written contract with the 

appellant, whereby they agreed to go from San Francisco to Pyramid Harbor, Alaska, 

and return, on board such vessel as might be designated by the appellant, and to work 

for the appellant during the fishing season of 1900, at Pyramid Harbor, as sailors and 

fishermen, agreeing to do òregular shipõs duty, both up and down, discharging and 

loading; and to do any other work whatsoever when requested to do so by the captain 

or agent of the Alaska Packersõ Association.ó By the terms of this agreement, the 

appellant was to pay each of the libellants $50 for the season, and two cents for each 

red salmon in the catching of which he took part.  

 On the 15th day of April, 1900, 21 of the  libellants signed shipping articles by 

which they shipped as seamen on the Two Brothers , a vessel chartered by the 

appellant for the voyage between San Francisco and Pyramid Harbor, and also bound 

themselves to perform the same work for the appellant prov ided for by the previous 

contract of March 26th; the appellant agreeing to pay them therefor the sum of $60 

for the season, and two cents each for each red salmon in the catching of which they 

should respectively take part. Under these contracts, the libel lants sailed on board 

the Two Brothers for Pyramid Harbor, where the appellant had about $150,000 

invested in a salmon cannery.  

 The libellants arrived there early in April of the year mentioned, and began to 

unload the vessel and fit up the cannery. A few  days thereafter, to wit, May 19th, 

                                            
 3 [This case involves contracts for seamen, and it therefore is brought under admiralty 

jurisdiction in the federal courts. Federal district courts have exclusive jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1333 over ò[a]ny civil case of admiralty or maritime jurisdictio n.ó Traditionally , an admiralty 

proceeding was begun by filing a òlibel, ó which the equivalent of a òcomplaint ó or òpetition ó in standard 

civil litigation.  The person filing the action ñthe plaintiff ñwas called the òlibel lant.ó This case has 

nothing to do w ith the tort of libel, and you will confuse about ninety -out-of-a-hundred lawyers if you 

unwisely say that you are reading a òlibel case.ó Just call Alaska Packers  an òadmiralty case,ó and 

everyone will be happy. ð Eds.]  
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they stopped work in a body, and demanded of the companyõs superintendent there 

in charge $100 [each] for services in operating the vessel to and from Pyramid Harbor, 

instead of the sums stipulated for in and by the cont racts; stating that unless they 

were paid this additional wage they would stop work entirely, and return to San 

Francisco. The evidence showed, and the court below found, that it was impossible 

for the appellant to get other men to take the places of the l ibellants, the place being 

remote, the season short and just opening; so that, after endeavoring for several days 

without success to induce the libellants to proceed with their work in accordance with 

their contracts, the companyõs superintendent, on the 22d day of May, so far yielded 

to their demands as to instruct his clerk to copy the contracts executed in San 

Francisco, including the words òAlaska Packersõ Associationó at the end, substituting, 

for the $50 and $60 payments, respectively, of those contra cts, the sum of $100, which 

document, so prepared, was signed by the libellants before a shipping commissioner 

whom they had requested to be brought from Northeast Point.  

 Upon the return of the libellants to San Francisco at the close of the fishing 

season, they demanded pay in accordance with the terms of the alleged contract of 

May 22d, when the company denied its validity, and refused to pay other than as 

provided for by the contracts of March 26th and April 5th, respectively.  

 On the trial in the court  below, the libellants undertook to show that the fishing 

nets provided by the respondent were defective, and that it was on that account that 

they demanded increased wages. On that point, the evidence was substantially 

conflicting, and the finding of the court was against the libelants, the court saying:  

 The contention of libellants that the nets provided them were 

rotten and unserviceable is not sustained by the evidence. The 

defendantõs interest required that libellants should be provided with 

every facility necessary to their success as fishermen, for on such success 

depended the profits defendant would be able to realize that season from 

its packing plant, and the large capital invested therein. In view of this 

self-evident fact, it is highly improbab le that the defendant gave 

libellants rotten and unserviceable nets with which to fish. It follows 

from this finding that libellants were not justified in refusing 

performance of their original contract.  

 The evidence being sharply conflicting in respect t o these facts, the conclusions 

of the court, who heard and saw the witnesses, will not be disturbed.  

 The real questions in the case as brought here are questions of law, and, in the 

view that we take of the case, it will be necessary to consider but one o f those. 

Assuming that the appellantõs superintendent at Pyramid Harbor was authorized to 

make the alleged contract of May 22d, and that he executed it on behalf of the 

appellant, was it supported by a sufficient consideration?  
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 From the foregoing statemen t of the case, it will have been seen that the 

libellants agreed in writing, for certain stated compensation, to render their services 

to the appellant in remote waters where the season for conducting fishing operations 

is extremely short, and in which ent erprise the appellant had a large amount of 

money invested; and, after having entered upon the discharge of their contract, and 

at a time when it was impossible for the appellant to secure other men in their places, 

the libellants, without any valid cause,  absolutely refused to continue the services 

they were under contract to perform unless the appellant would consent to pay them 

more money. Consent to such a demand, under such circumstances, if given, was, in 

our opinion, without consideration, for the re ason that it was based solely upon the 

libellantsõ agreement to render the exact services, and none other, that they were 

already under contract to render. The case shows that they willfully and arbitrarily 

broke that obligation. As a matter of course, the y were liable to the appellant in 

damages, and it is quite probable, as suggested by the court below in its opinion, that 

they may have been unable to respond in damages. But we are unable to agree with 

the [district court judgeõs] conclusions there drawn, from these facts, in these words:  

 Under such circumstances, it would be strange, indeed, if the law 

would not permit the defendant to waive the damages caused by the 

libellantsõ breach, and enter into the contract sued uponña contract 

mutually beneficia l to all the parties thereto, in that it gave to the 

libellants reasonable compensation for their labor, and enabled the 

defendant to employ to advantage the large capital it had invested in its 

canning and fishing plant.  

 The circumstances of the present case bring it, we think, directly within the 

sound and just observations of the supreme court of Minnesota in the case of King v. 

Duluth, M. & N. Ry Co. , 63 N.W. 1105 (Minn. 1895):  

 No astute reasoning can change the plain  fact that the party who 

refuses to perform, and thereby coerces a promise from the other party 

to the contract to pay him an increased compensation for doing that 

which he is legally bound to do, takes an unjustifiable advantage of the 

necessities of the other party. There can be no consideration for the 

promise of the other party, and there is no warrant for inferring that the 

parties have voluntarily rescinded or modified their contract. The 

promise cannot be legally enforced, although the other party ha s 

completed his contract in reliance upon it.  

 In Lingenfelder v. Wainwright Brewing Co. , 15 S.W. 844 (Mo. 1890), the court, 

in holding void a contract by which the owner of a building agreed to pay its architect 

an additional sum because of his refusal to  otherwise proceed with the contract, said:  

 It is urged upon us by respondents that this was a new contract. 

New in what?   Jungenfeld was bound by his contract to design and 
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supervise this building. Under the new promise, he was not to do 

anything more o r anything different. What benefit was to accrue to 

Wainwright? He was to receive the same service from Jungenfeld under 

the new, that Jungenfeld was bound to tender under the original, 

contract. What loss, trouble, or inconvenience could result to Jungenf eld 

that he had not already assumed? No amount of metaphysical reasoning 

can change the plain fact that Jungenfeld took advantage of 

Wainwrightõs necessities, and extorted the promise of five per cent. on 

the refrigerator plant as the condition of his comp lying with his contract 

already entered into. To permit plaintiff to recover under such 

circumstances would be to offer a premium upon bad faith, and invite 

men to violate their most sacred contracts that they may profit by their 

own wrong.  

 It is true tha t as eminent a jurist as Judge Cooley, in Goebel v. 

Linn , 11 N.W. 284 (Mich. 1884), held that an ice company which had 

agreed to furnish a brewery with all the ice they might need for their 

business at $1.75 per ton, and afterwards declined to deliver any more 

ice unless the brewery would give it $3 per ton, could recover on a 

promissory note given for the increased price. Profound as is our respect 

for the distinguished judge who delivered the opinion, we are still of the 

opinion that his decision is not i n accord with the almost universally 

accepted doctrine, and is not convincing; and certainly so much of the 

opinion as holds that the payment, by a debtor, of a part of his debt then 

due, would constitute a defense to a suit for the remainder, is not the 

law of this state, nor, do we think, of any other where the common law 

prevails.  

 What we hold is that, when a party merely does what he has 

already obligated himself to do, he cannot demand an additional 

compensation therefor; and although, by taking advan tage of the 

necessities of his adversary, he obtains a promise for more, the law will 

regard it as nudum pactum , and will not lend its process to aid in the 

wrong.  

 It results from the views above expressed that the judgment must be reversed, 

and the cause remanded, with directions to the court below to enter judgment for the 

respondent, with costs. It is so ordered.  

 

______________________ 

 Review Question 1.  If the fishermen had known in advance how this case 

would come out, what could they have done differently at the time of the dispute to 

get higher pay and  have it enforceable against the packing company? Assume that 
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there was not enough cash on hand at Py ramid Harbor to pay them in advance. Do 

they have any other viable legal options?  

 Review Question 2.  In her article, A Fish Story , 2000 Utah L. Rev. 185, 

Professor Deborah Threedy researched the history of the Alaska Packers case. She 

concludes that the c ompany did  deliberately provide faulty nets, because while they 

needed the fishermen to work the ship to Pyramid Harbor and back, they could buy 

the salmon from local Alaska natives for less than they had agreed to pay the 

fishermen. Thus, the more fish ca ught by the fishermen, the less money the cannery 

made. If Professor Threedyõs conclusion is trueñand, more importantly, was found 

by the court  to be trueñwould those facts make a difference in the courtõs 

consideration analysis and the outcome of the case ? Why or why not?  

______________________ 

 

QUIGLEY v. WILSON  

Court of Appeals of Iowa  

474 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa Ct. App. 1991)  

 

OXBERGER, C.J.  

 In 1980 Lester Quigley, Sr. sold his farm on contract to Donald and Janis 

Wilson. The Wilsons made the installment payments until 1985. In 1985, the Wilsons 

assigned the contract to Forrest Hatfield. Sometime prior to February 1986, Hatfield 

informed the Wilsons he could no longer make the payments and returned the farm 

to them. Donald Wilson then met with Quigley, Sr.  to inform him they were also 

unable to make the upcoming March 1, 1986 payment. After negotiations, Quigley, 

Sr. and the Wilsons agreed to reduce the contract price along with some other changes 

from the original contract terms. Both parties signed an agr eement dated March 7, 

1986, created by Quigley, Sr.õs attorney which reduced their negotiations to writing. 

Quigley, Sr.õs attorney later recorded the agreement. The Wilsons made all payments 

due under the 1986 agreement.  

 Quigley, Sr. is quite elderly and  has resided in a nursing home since 1985. In 

1988 Quigley, Sr. established a voluntary conservatorship appointing his two 

children, Lester L. Quigley, Jr. and Veronna Kay Lovell, co -conservators for himself.  

 The co-conservators filed this lawsuit Septemb er 12, 1988, against the Wilsons 

seeking a declaratory judgment that the Wilsons were in default of the 1980 contract. 

The Wilsons filed an answer generally denying the claims and asserting the 1986 

agreement modified the 1980 contract.  
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 The day before tri al the plaintiffs filed a trial brief and motion for partial 

judgment on the pleadings. They alleged the 1986 agreement was unenforceable due 

to lack of consideration. The district court overruled the motion finding lack of 

consideration was not a triable issue. 

 The case proceeded to trial. The jury found Lester Quigley, Sr. was mentally 

competent when he entered into the 1986 agreement. The court then held a bench 

trial on the equitable issues of fraud and undue influence. The court entered a verdict 

in f avor of the Wilsons, finding the 1986 agreement enforceable.  

 The co-conservators appeal. They contend the issue of lack of consideration 

should have been submitted to the jury.  

 We find the case at bar establishes a modification which normally does requir e 

consideration. See Recker v. Gustafson, 279 N.W.2d 744, 759 (Iowa 1979). In Recker 

which dealt with an oral òmodificationó to an oral land contract, the court discussed 

the Iowa law on sufficiency of consideration to support a modification or replacement  

of a contract. In Recker the court quoted the Restatement (Second) of the Law of 

Contracts § 89, which provides:  

A promise modifying a duty under a contract not fully performed on 

either side is binding  

(a) if the modification is fair and equitable in view of circumstances not 

anticipated by the parties when the contract was made . . ..  

The Recker court also quoted from comment b, Illustration 4 of the Restatement § 89:  

The reason for modification must rest in circumstances not òanticipatedó 

as part of the context in which the contract was made, but a frustrating 

event may be unanticipated for this purpose if it was not adequately 

covered, even though it was foreseen as a remote possibility. When such 

a reason is present, the relative financial strength of the parties, the 

formality with which the modification is made, the extent to which it is 

performed or relied on and other circumstances may be relevant to show 

or negate imposition or unfair surprise.  

The Recker court declined to adopt the Restatement position because no 

unanticipated circumstances existed in the case other than a desire for more money. 

However, the court did not discount its application in appropriate circumstances in 

the future.  

 We find the case at bar an appropriate circumstance for  the adoption of the 

Restatementõs position. The unanticipated circumstances were the drastic decrease 

in the value of the land coupled with the sellerõs concern about tax repercussions from 

reacquiring the land and the fact the Wilsons had not received an y income from the 

farm for the previous year. Additionally, the new agreement followed negotiations 

lasting over a period of time, the document was written by the sellerõs attorney, the 
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trial court found the reduced price was roughly the fair market value of the property 

at the time the re -negotiations occurred, and the buyers had already paid $58,000 

toward principal on the original contract and the balance of the new contract price 

was $62,500. Additionally, we find it significant the jury found Quigley, Sr. was 

competent when he entered the 1986 agreement and the trial court found no undue 

influence or fraudulent misrepresentation involved in the agreement. These factors 

lead us to find this is a situation where it is appropriate to find the modification fair 

and equitable and does not require proof of additional consideration.  

 We affirm the trial courtõs refusal to allow the issue of consideration to be 

litigated.  

______________________ 

 

 Review Question 3.  Quigly illustrates the Restatementõs attitude t oward 

modifications. What òcircumstances not anticipated by the partiesó would be covered, 

do you think? And assuming that the parties now disagree about whether it is òfair 

and equitable,ó how would a court decide the issue? 

______________________ 

 

MILLS v. WYMAN  

Supreme Court of Massachusetts  

20 Mass. (3 Pick.) 207 (1825)  

 

 This was an action of assumpsit brought to recover a compensation for the 

board, nursing, & c., of Levi Wyman, son of the defendant, from the 5th to the 20th of 

February, 1821. The plaintiff then lived at Hartford, in Connecticut; the defendant, 

at Shrewsbury, in this county. Levi Wyman, at the time when the services were 

rendered, was about 25 y ears of age, and had long ceased to be a member of his 

fatherõs family. He was on his return from a voyage at sea, and being suddenly taken 

sick at Hartford, and being poor and in distress, was relieved by the plaintiff in the 

manner and to the extent abov e stated. On the 24th of February, after all the 

expenses had been incurred, the defendant wrote a letter to the plaintiff, promising 

to pay him such expenses. There was no consideration for this promise, except what 

grew out of the relation which subsiste d between Levi Wyman and the defendant, 

and Howe J., before whom the cause was tried in the Court of Common Pleas, 

thinking this not sufficient to support the action, directed a nonsuit. To this direction 

the plaintiff filed exceptions.  

PARKER, C. J.  




